
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Matthew Evans, Democratic Services Officer 
on 01432 383690 or e-mail matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Planning and regulatory 
committee 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 17 November 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Three Counties Hotel, Belmont Road, Belmont, 
Hereford, HR2 7BP 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. Please 
access the following link for the live webcast of the meeting: 
https://youtu.be/XmB5BwABSKU,   

For any further information please contact: 

Matthew Evans, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 383690 

Email: matthew.evans@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

https://youtu.be/XmB5BwABSKU


 

 

Agenda for the meeting of the Planning and 
regulatory committee 

Membership 

 

  
Chairperson Councillor Terry James 
Vice-chairperson Councillor Alan Seldon 
   
 Councillor Paul Andrews 

Councillor Polly Andrews 
Councillor Sebastian Bowen 
Councillor Toni Fagan 
Councillor Elizabeth Foxton 
Councillor John Hardwick 
Councillor Tony Johnson 
Councillor Graham Jones 
Councillor Mark Millmore 
Councillor Jeremy Milln 
Councillor Paul Rone 
Councillor John Stone 
Councillor William Wilding 

 

 
   

 
 



 
Herefordshire Council  17 NOVEMBER 2021 
 

 

Agenda 

 Pages 
PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

 

GUIDE TO THE COMMITTEE 
 

 

NOLAN PRINCIPLES 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY) 
 

 

 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place of 
a Member of the Committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of Schedule 1, Schedule 2 or 
Other Interests from members of the committee in respect of items on the 
agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

13 - 40 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2021. 
 

 

5.   CHAIRPERSON'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

 To receive any announcements from the Chairperson. 
 

 

6.   210796 - BASTION MEWS, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 2BT 
 

41 - 84 

 The proposed redevelopment of land and buildings at Bastion Mews to 
create a mixed-use independent quarter comprising new commercial 
floorspace and visitor accommodation, associated demolition, use of external 
areas as events space and associated works of alteration to No.18 Union 
Street to enable a second means of access/egress. 
 

 

7.   202566 - MUCH FAWLEY FARM, FAWLEY CHAPEL ROAD, FAWLEY, 
HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 4SP 
 

85 - 110 

 Installation of combined heat and power unit and green storage container. 
Retrospective. 
 

 

8.   201962 - HOPEFIELD COTTAGE, HAYNALL, LITTLE HEREFORD, 
LUDLOW, HEREFORD, SY8 4BG 
 

111 - 128 

 Proposed erection of three sustainable holiday lodges. 
 

 

9.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 Date of next site inspection – 14 December 2021 
 
Date of next meeting – 15 December 2021 
 

 





The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
In view of the continued prevalence of covid-19, we have introduced changes to 
our usual procedures for accessing public meetings. These will help to keep our 
councillors, staff and members of the public safe. 
 
Please take time to read the latest guidance on the council website by following 
the link at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings and support us in promoting a 
safe environment for everyone. If you have any queries please contact the 
Governance Support Team on 01432 261699 or at 
governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk  
 

We will review and update this guidance in line with Government advice and 
restrictions. Thank you very much for your help in keeping Herefordshire 
Council meetings a safe space. 
 

  

5

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
mailto:governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk


YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 

 Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 
to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

 Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is given 
at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied 
in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated decision 
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

 Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 

Recording of meetings 

 
Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that 
it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 
 
Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance services team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 
The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 
 
The council may make an official recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the 
council’s website.  Such recordings form part of the public record of the meeting and are 
made available for members of the public via the council’s web-site. 
 

Public transport links 

The three counties hotel is accessible by bus; bus stops in each direction are positioned on 
the Belmont Road at the front of the hotel. 

6



 
 

 

 
Guide to planning and regulatory committee 
Updated: 20 July 2021 

Guide to Planning and Regulatory Committee 

The Planning and Regulatory Committee consists of 15 Councillors.  The membership 

reflects the balance of political groups on the council. 

Councillor Terry James (Chairperson) Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Alan Seldon (Vice-Chairperson) Independents for Herefordshire 

Councillor Paul Andrews Independents for Herefordshire 

Councillor Polly Andrews Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Sebastian Bowen True Independents 

Councillor Toni Fagan The Green Party 

Councillor Elizabeth Foxton Independents for Herefordshire 

Councillor John Hardwick Independents for Herefordshire 

Councillor Tony Johnson Conservative 

Councillor Graham Jones True Independents 

Councillor Mark Millmore Conservative 

Councillor Jeremy Milln  The Green Party 

Councillor Paul Rone Conservative 

Councillor John Stone Conservative 

Councillor William Wilding Independents for Herefordshire 

 

The Committee determines applications for planning permission and listed building consent 
in those cases where: 
 

(a) the application has been called in for committee determination by the relevant ward 
member in accordance with the redirection procedure 

(b) the application is submitted by the council, by others on council land or by or on behalf 
of an organisation or other partnership of which the council is a member or has a 
material interest, and where objections on material planning considerations have been 
received, or where the proposal is contrary to adopted planning policy 

(c) the application is submitted by a council member or a close family member such that a 
council member has a material interest in the application  

(d) the application is submitted by a council officer who is employed in the planning 
service or works closely with it, or is a senior manager as defined in the council’s pay 
policy statement, or by a close family member such that the council officer has a 
material interest in the application 

(e) the application, in the view of the assistant director environment and place, raises 
issues around the consistency of the proposal, if approved, with the adopted 
development plan  

(f) the application, in the reasonable opinion of the assistant director environment and 
place, raises issues of a significant and/or strategic nature that a planning committee 
determination of the matter would represent the most appropriate course of action, or 

(g) in any other circumstances where the assistant director environment and place 
believes the application is such that it requires a decision by the planning and 
regulatory committee.  

7



 
 

 

 
Guide to planning and regulatory committee 
Updated: 20 July 2021 

The regulatory functions of the authority as a licensing authority are undertaken by the 
Committee’s licensing sub-committee. 

Who attends planning and regulatory committee meetings? 

The following attend the committee: 

 Members of the committee, including the chairperson and vice chairperson.    

 Officers of the council – to present reports and give technical advice to the committee 

 Ward members – The Constitution provides that the ward member will have the right to 

start and close the member debate on an application. 

(Other councillors - may attend as observers but are only entitled to speak at the discretion 

of the chairman.) 

How an application is considered by the Committee 

The Chairperson will announce the agenda item/application to be considered. The case 

officer will then give a presentation on the report. 

The registered public speakers will then be invited to speak in turn (Parish Council, objector, 

supporter).  (see further information on public speaking below.) 

The local ward member will be invited to start the debate (see further information on the role 

of the local ward member below.) 

The Committee will then debate the matter. 

Officers are invited to comment if they wish and respond to any outstanding questions. 

The local ward member is then invited to close the debate. 

The Committee then votes on whatever recommendations are proposed. 

Public Speaking 

The Council’s Constitution provides that the public will be permitted to speak at meetings of 
the Committee when the following criteria are met: 
 
a) the application on which they wish to speak is for decision at the planning and regulatory 

committee 
b) the person wishing to speak has already submitted written representations within the 

time allowed for comment 
c) once an item is on an agenda for planning and regulatory committee all those who have 

submitted representations will be notified and any person wishing to speak must then 
register that intention with the monitoring officer at least 48 hours before the meeting of 
the planning and regulatory committee 

d) if consideration of the application is deferred at the meeting, only those who registered to 
speak at the meeting will be permitted to do so when the deferred item is considered at a 
subsequent or later meeting 

e) at the meeting a maximum of three minutes (at the chairman’s discretion) will be 
allocated to each speaker from a parish council, objectors and supporters and only nine 
minutes will be allowed for public speaking 

f) speakers may not distribute any written or other material of any kind at the meeting (see 
note below) 

8



 
 

 

 
Guide to planning and regulatory committee 
Updated: 20 July 2021 

g) speakers’ comments must be restricted to the application under consideration and must 
relate to planning issues 

h) on completion of public speaking, councillors will proceed to determine the application 
i) the chairman will in exceptional circumstances allow additional speakers and/or time for 

public speaking for major applications and may hold special meetings at local venues if 
appropriate. 

(Note: Those registered to speak in accordance with the public speaking procedure are able 

to attend the meeting in person to speak or participate in the following ways:  

• by making a written submission (to be read aloud at the meeting)  

• by submitting an audio recording (to be played at the meeting) 

• by submitting a video recording (to be played at the meeting) 

• by speaking as a virtual attendee.) 

Role of the local ward member 

The ward member will have an automatic right to start and close the member debate on the 

application concerned, subject to the provisions on the declaration of interests as reflected in 

the Planning Code of Conduct in the Council’s Constitution (Part 5 section 6).  

In the case of the ward member being a member of the Committee they will be invited to 

address the Committee for that item and act as the ward member as set out above. They will 

not have a vote on that item. 

To this extent all members have the opportunity of expressing their own views, and those of 

their constituents as they see fit, outside the regulatory controls of the Committee 

concerned.  

9





 

Marshall, Caroline (Democratic Services Officer) Page 1 09/11/21 
Version number 3 

The Seven Principles of Public Life  

(Nolan Principles) 

 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

11





 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning and regulatory committee 
held at Three Counties Hotel, Belmont Road, Belmont, Hereford, 
HR2 7BP on Wednesday 20 October 2021 at 10.00 am 
  

Present: Councillor Terry James (chairperson) 
Councillor Alan Seldon (vice-chairperson) 

   
 Councillors: Paul Andrews, Polly Andrews, Sebastian Bowen, Toni Fagan, 

Elizabeth Foxton, John Hardwick, Tony Johnson, Graham Jones, 
Jeremy Milln, Paul Rone, John Stone and William Wilding 

 

  
   

35. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
None. 
 

36. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

37. MINUTES   
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 September be approved. 
 

38. 204133 - WHITE HOUSE FARM, WATERY LANE, HAY-ON-WYE, HEREFORD, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR3 5TB  (Update sheets - Pages 11 - 22) 
 
The Development Manager, Majors Team gave a presentation on the application and the 
updates/representations received following the publication of the agenda as provided in the 
update sheets and appended to these minutes.  
 
In accordance with the criteria for public speaking Ms H Hamilton, Objectors’ Planning Agent, 
spoke in objection to the application and Mr I Pick, Applicant’s Agent, spoke in support.  
 
In accordance with the council's constitution the local ward member spoke on the application. 
In summary she commented that the original decision had been recommended for refusal but 
had been narrowly agreed with significant conditions. The current application had been 
considered under section 73 and section 73a as the development had not been built in 
accordance with the previous permission. The development had an unacceptable impact on 
the Landscape due to the reflective quality of the roof. The visual impacts of the roof required 
mitigation with a condition for a matt finish. The development was located in the 
environmentally sensitive landscape of the Wye Valley. There was a need to understand the 
ammonia emissions from the development particularly in light of the increase in the number 
of fans on the building. There was also concern regarding the impacts on Hardwick Brook 
from runoff of muck from the site. There was concern regarding the attenuation ponds; its 
lining and capacity. The concrete apron of the building was excessive and the tree planting 
scheme was very small at present and provided no mitigation.  
 
The committee discussed the application.  
 

13

AGENDA ITEM 4



 

The Development Manager, Majors Team explained that the update to the condition 
requiring a matt finish to the roof could be enforced if a breach had been found to have 
occurred. Manure management had been considered in the 2017 application; manure 
and ammonia issues were covered by legislation and consultees had explained that the 
application met current regulations. Significant consultation had been undertaken 
concerning the impact on the River Wye and watercourses. The Legal Representative 
explained that the application sought to make a minor amendment to the existing 
permission under section 73a. It was a subjective judgement to determine what 
constituted a minor amendment.  
 
The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. She explained 
there was some confusion as to whether the application was to be considered under 
section 73 or section 73a. Local residents did not consider that the amendments sought 
to the application were minor. It was unsatisfactory that there was a lack of scientific 
certainty concerning the impact of the development on the Wye Valley special area of 
conservation, in particular the impact of ammonia emissions. Hardwick Brook also 
experienced problems with pollution which exacerbated nutrient problems on the River 
Wye. The development was larger than had been previously agreed therefore it should 
not be agreed as a minor amendment due to its impact on the landscape. 
 
A motion that the application be approved was moved and was carried.  
 
RESOLVED – That planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions and any other further conditions considered necessary by officers 
named in the scheme of delegation to officers: 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict 

accordance with the following approved plans: 
  

 Location Plan - HM/01B 

 Site Plan  - HM/02B 

 Elevations and Floor Plan  - HM/03A 

 Amended Landscape 
Proposals 

- 1486.01C 

 Foul and Surface Water 
Drainage Strategy 

- Hydro-Logic Services 
Report K0723a/Rev4 – 
March 2021 

 16.5 m Articulated Lorry 
Tracking 

- Drawing number 18072-02 
(Scale 1:250 @ A3) 

 Site Access & Visibility 
Splays 

- Drawing number 18072-01  
(Scale 1:500 @ A3); 
 
 

except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this 
permission. 
  
Reason: To ensure that the development is satisfactorily 
integrated into the landscape in accordance with policies SS6, 
LD1, RA6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 
2011-2031. 

 
2 Planning permission P170836/F granted on 19th April 2017 by 

Herefordshire Council shall be fully implemented prior to 
commencement of the development hereby permitted. 
  

14



 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with 
policies SS4 and MT1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2011-2031.  

 
3 Prior to the first use of the building hereby permitted the widened 

vehicle access and vehicle turning / manoeuvring area shown 
upon the approved plans shall be provided and thereafter 
maintained free of obstruction for use by motor vehicles. In 
addition prior to the first use of the building hereby permitted 
visibility splays of 2.4 metres x 37 metres in the south-easterly 
direction and 2.4 metres x 38 metres in a north-westerly direction 
with no obstruction above 600mm above carriageway level shall 
be provided at the point where the vehicle access emerges onto 
the C1208 and thereafter maintained as such. 
  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with 
policies SS4 and MT1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2011-2031.  

 
4 The building hereby permitted shall only be used for fertile egg 

production and not for any other form of poultry related 
production (e.g. broilers). 
  
Reason: The processes / activities associated with different 
forms of poultry related production have materially different 
environmental impacts that would require assessment.  

 
5 Notwithstanding the approved plans and documentation, the 

external elevations of the main building shall be finished as 
follows:  
 

Walls – Profile sheeting in Olive Green (BS 12B27 / RAL 100 
30 20) matt colour  
Roof – Profile Sheeting in Merlin Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 
40 05) matt colour. 
Fan Chimneys – Black Plastic  
Feed Bins - Merlin Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 40 05) matt 
colour 
Doors –Steel Sheeting - Olive Green (BS 12B27 / RAL 100 
30 20) matt colour  
Windows – Brown uPVC 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development 
in the landscape, in accordance with policies SS6, LD1, RA6 and 
SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011-2031. 
 
 

6 All planting detailed upon Amended Landscape Proposals-
1486.01C shall be carried out in the first planting season 
following completion of the development or first use of the 
building for agricultural purposes (whichever is the sooner). Any 
trees or plants that within a period of ten years of their planting 
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall 
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written 
consent to any variation. 
  

15



 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development 
in the landscape, in accordance with policies SS6, LD1, RA6 and 
SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011-2031.  

 
7 There shall be no delivery of feed or removal of eggs outside the 

following hours: 
  

 07:00 hours to 20:00 hours Monday to Saturdays 
  

and there shall be no delivery of feed or removal of eggs on 
Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays; 
  

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area (including the 
amenity of the occupiers of ‘Archenfield Cottage’), in accordance 
with policies SS6 and RA5 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2011-2031 
 

8 Drainage of the site shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details approved under application 183803 and in full accordance 
with details contained within the Foul and Water Drainage Strategy 
(March 2021) and shall be thereafter maintained as such.  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage arrangements in 
accordance with policies SS6, SD3 and SD4 of the Herefordshire 
Local Plan Core Strategy 2011-2031.  

 
 
INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. IP2 - Positive and Proactive 2 

 
2. Any discharge of surface water or foul water to an ordinary watercourse 

will require Ordinary Watercourse Consent from Herefordshire Council 
prior to construction  
 

3. This planning permission is subject to a Section 106 Unilateral 
Undertaking dated 24th October 2017  

 
 
There was an adjournment at 11:15; the meeting reconvened 11:30. 
 

39. 210068 - LAND SOUTH OF COBHALL COMMON LANE, COBHALL COMMON, 
HEREFORD  (Update sheets – Pages 23 - 28) 
 
The senior planning officer gave a presentation on the application and the 
updates/representations received following the publication of the agenda as provided in 
the update sheet and appended to these minutes.  
 
In accordance with the criteria for public speaking, a statement was read out on behalf of 
the Chairman of Allensmore Parish Council and Mr J Parker, the applicant, spoke in 
support of the application.  
 
In accordance with the council's constitution the local ward member spoke on the 
application. In summary she commented that the site had been the subject of a previous 
application and enforcement action. The developer had responded to some local 
concerns with the new drainage scheme which had satisfied some local residents. 
However several resident continue to voice concerns regarding the drainage scheme 

16



 

which they believe will cause flooding to their homes. The local ward member referred to 
a number of issues raised in representations on the application.  
 
The committee discussed the application. Disappointment was expressed at the removal 
of the 2-bedroom homes in the original application.  
 
Following a request from the committee the Lead Development manager explained that 
a condition could be added to ensure that rainwater harvesting facilities were included in 
the houses on the development.  
 
The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. She explained 
that during the review of the core strategy consideration should be given to houses built 
on water-logged areas. 
 
A motion that the application be approved subject to the inclusion of a condition to 
ensure that rainwater harvesting facilities were included in the houses on the other 
developments moved and carried.  
 
RESOLVED – That planning permission be granted subject to the addition a of a 
condition concerning rainwater harvesting (as outlined above) and the following 
conditions: 
 
1 
 

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved plans and documents listed below and the schedule of 
materials indicated thereon, except where otherwise stipulated by 
conditions attached to this permission.  
 

 E001 - Site Location Plan - showing proposed passing bay 

 P002 B – Block plan as proposed 

 P003 F – Site plan as proposed 

 P004 E - Street Scene as proposed 

 P100  B - Plot 1 as proposed 

 P101 C – Plot 2 as proposed 

 P102 B – Plot 3 as proposed 

 P103 C –Plot 4 as proposed 

 P104 B – Plot 5 as proposed 

 P105 C - Plot 6 as proposed 

 P106 B – Plot 7 as proposed 

 LB001 C - Landscaping and biodiversity enhancement scheme 
as proposed 

 PC001 A – Access parking and turning details as proposed 

 PC002 B – Site operative parking details as proposed 

 C001 F – Engineering layout sheet 1 

 C002 G – Engineering layout sheet 2 

 C010 – Construction details 

 Operation and Maintenance Schedule – SuDS/Drainage – 
Revision C (CTP-21-0251) 

 Ecological Assessment Ref OHA/1833/16.1 
 
Reason: To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests 
of a satisfactory form of development and to comply with Policy 
SD1, LD1, H3, SD3 and SD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy, Policies A1, A3, A4, A5 and A7 of the Allensmore 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 

17



 

2 
 

The soft landscaping scheme as shown on the approved plan no. 
LB001 C shall be carried out concurrently with the development 
hereby permitted and shall be completed no later than the first 
planting season following the completion of the development. The 
landscaping shall be maintained for a period of 5 years.  During this 
time, any trees, shrubs or other plants which are removed, die or are 
seriously retarded shall be replaced during the next planting season 
with others of similar sizes and species unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation.  If any plants fail 
more than once they shall continue to be replaced on an annual 
basis until the end of the 5-year maintenance period. The hard 
landscaping shall be completed prior to the first use/occupation of 
the development hereby permitted  
 
Reason: In order to maintain the visual amenities of the area and to 
conform with Policy LD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy, Policy A1 of the Allensmore Neighbourhood Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
3 
 

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use 
until the access, turning area and parking facilities shown on the 
approved plan have been properly consolidated, surfaced, drained 
and otherwise constructed in accordance with details set out on 
drawing PC001 and these areas shall thereafter be retained and kept 
available for those uses at all times.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free 
flow of traffic using the adjoining highway and to conform with the 
requirements of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
4 
 

The parking for site operatives and visitors as set out on drawing 
PC002 B shall be retained and kept available during construction of 
the development.  
 
Reason: To prevent indiscriminate parking, with immediate effect, in 
the interests of highway safety and to conform with the requirements 
of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
5 
 

During the construction phase no machinery shall be operated, no 
process shall be carried out and no deliveries taken at or 
despatched from the site outside the following times: Monday - 
Friday 7.00am - 6.00pm, Saturday 8.00am -1.00pm nor at any time on 
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents and to comply with 
Policy SD1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
6 
 

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved 
the driveway and/or vehicular turning area shall be consolidated and 
surfaced at a gradient not steeper than 1 in 8. Private drainage 
arrangements must be made to prevent run-off from the driveway 
discharging onto the highway. As set out on the approved drawings 
PC001 A and C001 F. 
 

18



 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform with the 
requirements of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
7 
 

Before any other works hereby approved are commenced, visibility 
splays shall be provided from a point 0.6 metres above ground level 
at the centre of the access to the application site and 2.4 metres 
back from the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway (measured 
perpendicularly) for a distance of 31 metres to the east and 34 
metres to the west along the nearside edge of the adjoining 
carriageway.  Nothing shall be planted, erected and/or allowed to 
grow on the triangular area of land so formed which would obstruct 
the visibility described above.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform to the 
requirements of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
8 
 

Within 6 months of this permission, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority, the proposed passing 
place shall be constructed and made available for use, in 
accordance with technical specification and details (including 
evidence of an agreement under the Section 278 of the Highways Act 
1980 S278 agreement) to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic on the highway 
and to conform to the requirements if Policies MT1 and SD3 of 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
9 
 

None of the existing trees or hedgerows on the site (other than those 
specifically shown to be removed on the approved drawings) shall 
be removed, destroyed or felled without the prior approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the area and to ensure that the 
development conforms with Policies SD1 and LD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy, Policy A1 of the 
Allensmore Neighbourhood Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
10 
 

The ecological protection, mitigation and working methods scheme 
as recommended in the Ecological Report by Star Ecology dated 
July 2017 and biodiversity enhancements on plan LB001 C shall be 
implemented in full as stated unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats 
enhanced having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended), the Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c) Regulations 1994 
(as amended) and Policy LD2 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy, Policy A2 of the Allensmore Neighbourhood Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, NERC 2006.  

 
11 
 

All foul water from the dwellings approved under this Decision 
Notice shall discharge into a single shared package treatment plant 

19



 

as outlined in the drainage strategy on drawings C001 F, C002 G and 
C010 unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The drainage infrastructure shall be maintained in 
accordance with the details set out the Operation and Maintenance 
Schedule – SuDS/Drainage – Revision C (CTP-21-0251) for the 
lifetime of the development.  
 

Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory drainage arrangements 
are provided and maintained in accordance with Policies SD3 and 
SD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy, Policy A7 of the 
Allensmore Neighbourhood Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Surface water will be managed through an appropriate Sustainable 
Drainage System (SuDS) and soakaway system within the 
development site on land under the applicant’s control. The surface 
water management system shall include the collection of rain water 
from roofs and shall be implemented and hereafter maintained as 
approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the 
provision of a satisfactory means of surface water disposal and to 
comply with Policy SD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy, Policy A7 of the Allensmore Neighbourhood Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13 Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling of the residential 

development hereby permitted a scheme to enable the charging of 
plug in and other ultra-low emission vehicles (e.g provision of 
cabling and outside sockets) to serve the occupants of the dwellings 
hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To address the requirements policies in relation to climate 
change SS7 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 
and the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

14 Prior to works commencing on the dwellings on Plots 1 and 7, 
hereby permitted, details of flood prevention methods, to address 
the risks posed by vehicles moving through floodwater on the 
highway, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority 
 
Reason: To protect Plots 1 and 7 from flooding and to comply with 
Policy SD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
Informatives: 
 
1 The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in 

determining this application by assessing the proposal against 
planning policy and any other material considerations. Negotiations 
in respect of matters of concern with the application (as originally 
submitted) have resulted in amendments to the proposal.  As a result, 

20



 

the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning 
permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

2 
 

In the light of the localised drainage characteristics of the site and its 
locality, future occupiers are advised of their maintenance 
responsibilities in relation to the drainage infrastructure associated 
with the development hereby approved. 
 

3 The attention of the applicant is drawn to Section 175A(3) of the 
Highways Act 1980 within which the Highway Authority shall have 
regard to the needs of disabled persons when considering the 
desirability of providing ramps at appropriate places between 
carriageways and footways and to any requirement of the Disability 
Discrimination Act.  
 

4 It is an offence under Section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to allow 
mud or other debris to be transmitted onto the public highway.  The 
attention of the applicant is drawn to the need to keep the highway 
free from any mud or other material emanating from the application 
site or any works pertaining thereto.  
 

5 This permission does not authorise the laying of private apparatus 
within the confines of the public highway.  The applicant should 
apply to Balfour Beatty (Managing Agent for Herefordshire Council) 
Highways Services, Unit 3 Thorn Business Park, Rotherwas, Hereford 
HR2 6JT, (Tel: 01432 261800), for consent under the New Roads and 
Streetworks Act 1991 to install private apparatus within the confines 
of the public highway.  Precise details of all works within the public 
highway must be agreed on site with the Highway Authority.  A 
minimum of 4 weeks notification will be required (or 3 months if a 
road closure is involved).  
 
Under the Traffic Management Act 2004, Herefordshire Council 
operate a notice scheme to coordinate Streetworks. Early 
discussions with the Highways Services Team are advised as a 
minimum of 4 weeks to 3 months notification is required (dictated by 
type of works and the impact that it may have on the travelling 
public).Please note that the timescale between notification and you 
being able to commence your works may be longer depending on 
other planned works in the area and the traffic sensitivity of the site. 
The Highway Service can be contacted on Tel: 01432 261800.  
 

6 This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to carry 
out works within the publicly maintained highway and Balfour Beatty 
(Managing Agent for Herefordshire Council) Highways Services, Unit 
3 Thorn Business Park, Rotherwas, Hereford, HR2 6JT (Tel: 01432 
261800), shall be given at least 28 days' notice of the applicant's 
intention to commence any works affecting the public highway so 
that the applicant can be provided with an approved specification, 
and supervision arranged for the works.  
 
Under the Traffic Management Act 2004, Herefordshire Council 
operate a notice scheme to co-ordinate Streetworks. Early 
discussions with the Highways Services Team are advised as a 
minimum of 4 weeks to 3 months notification is required (dictated by 

21



 

type of works and the impact that it may have on the travelling 
public). Please note that the timescale between notification and you 
being able to commence your works may be longer depending on 
other planned works in the area and the traffic sensitivity of the site. 
The Highway Service can be contacted on Tel: 01432 261800.  
 

 
The meeting ended at 12.10 pm Chairperson 

22



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE UPDATES 
 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Three additional representations have been received from Helen Hamilton (Marches 
Planning) as below:  
 
 
14th October 2021 

 
On behalf of local residents 
 
I have read your officer report on planning application ref. 204133 for next week’s planning 
committee and I am concerned that it misleads the committee on a number of points, as 
follows: 
 
1) Statutory Provisions 
 
You state at paragraph 6.1 that this is an application under s.73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (TCPA) and at paragraph 6.2 you cite the provisions of s.73.  
 
This is not a s.73 Application. As you acknowledge at the end of paragraph 6.4, the power to 
to authorise this development derives from s.73A of the TCPA. The application must, 
therefore, be determined under the provisions of s.73A. 
 
For clarity, this is a retrospective application to regularise development already carried out. 
S.73 applies only to prospective development.  
 
The provisions of s.73A are as follows: 
 
Planning permission for development already carried out. 
(1)On an application made to a local planning authority, the planning permission which may 
be granted includes planning permission for development carried out before the date of the 
application. 
 
(2)Subsection (1) applies to development carried out— 
(a)without planning permission; 
 
(b)in accordance with planning permission granted for a limited period; or 
(c)without complying with some condition subject to which planning permission was granted. 
 
(3)Planning permission for such development may be granted so as to have effect from— 

 204133 - PROPOSED VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 OF 
PLANNING PERMISSION 163327 (ERECTION OF A BARN EGG 
UNIT FOR FERTILE EGG PRODUCTION) TO REGULARISE AS 
BUILT DEVELOPMENT.   AT WHITE HOUSE FARM, WATERY 
LANE, HAY-ON-WYE, HEREFORD, HR3 5TB 
 
For: Mr Morgan per Mr Ian Pick, Station Farm Offices, 
Wansford Road, Nafferton, Driffield, East Yorkshire YO25 8NJ 

 

11

MINUTE ITEM 38

23



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 
(a)the date on which the development was carried out; or 
 
(b)if it was carried out in accordance with planning permission granted for a limited period, 
the end of that period.] 
 
An application under s.73 controls "Determination of applications to develop land without 
compliance with conditions previously attached.” It thus relates to prospective development. 
If s.73 applied to retrospective applications, s.73A (c) would serve no purpose. 
 
It is important to distinguish between the two sections of the Act, because, while under s.73 
(2) (as you observe in your report) - "the local planning authority shall consider only the 
question of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be granted”, there is 
no such limitation on a s.73A application. 
 
The Courts have held that when determining an application under s.73A, the LPA is "is 
bound to consider the planning merits of permitting the development to continue.” (Sullivan 
J. in Wilkinson v. Rossendale Borough Council [2002] EWHC 1204 (Admin)) 
 
Sullivan J explained: 
 
“Perhaps the best starting point is that an application for planning permission under section 
73A is in all respects, save that the development will have been commenced, a conventional 
planning application. In dealing with such an application, the local planning authority must 
have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material, and to any other 
material considerations.” 
 
Consequently, it should be made clear to the committee members that they are required to 
decide whether the unauthorised development as a whole is acceptable, contrary to your 
advice at paragraph 6.3 that “the local planning authority can only consider the matter of the 
conditions and not the principle of the development granted.”  
 
2) Scope of the Application 
 
At paragraph 1.4 you say: "This application seeks the variation of condition 2 of this planning 
permission.” In fact the description of the application (which would appear on 
the decision notice if permission is granted) is "Proposed variation of condition 2 of planning 
permission 163327 (Erection of a barn egg unit for fertile egg production) to regularise as 
built development.” 
 
Consequently, if this permission is granted, the LPA would have accepted the current built 
form of the development. Condition 2 required conformity with the plans submitted with the 
2016 application. Approval of this development would authorise the revised plans, which 
show the development as built, including the materials used. 
 
At paragraph 1.5 you quote the application form as saying: “there is minor changes between 
the approved plan and as built development in that the building has 13 roof fans instead of 7 
as shown on the approved plan and the attenuation pond is large than shown on the 
approved plans. The application seeks to amend the location plan, site plan and elevation 
drawings to reflect the changes”. This statement is not the planning application description 
and so has no force. The drawings that would be approved illustrate much more significant 
changes than described here: the buildings are significantly larger than the approved 
drawings and have windows, the hardstanding is more extensive and the roof is of a highly 
reflective material, making the building unacceptably prominent in the landscape. 
 
At paragraph 6.15 you assert that the glossy roof of the building “is controlled, as per the 
committee resolution, by a condition." And despite photographic evidence and several 

1224



Schedule of Committee Updates 

objections, including from the Parish Council, objecting to the glossy finish of the roof, you 
state " a breach has not been identified by the Councils enforcement team to date, if this 
came to light, then the breach of the condition could be investigated and appropriate 
enforcement action taken at the time.” 
 
The Officer Report says the applicant’s builder has confirmed to the planning enforcement 
team that the roof is matt, contrary to the evidence. You also say that the application does 
not seek to vary or alter condition 6. It does not need to if the Council approves the built form 
of the development as the materials are shown on the application drawings. Having 
approved the “as built” development, the LPA could not then take enforcement action 
against it. This could be addressed by a new condition requiring the roof to be painted or 
replaced with a matt finish within a specified period. However, the increased size of the 
buildings and other alterations could not be addressed by condition, short of requiring 
demolition and the removal of hardstanding. 
 
As it is, you have proposed to reinstate Condition 6 as Condition 5. This says: 
 
"Notwithstanding the approved plans and documentation, prior to the first use of the 
buildings for agricultural purposes all external elevations of the main building (including the 
doors any louvres and steel supports) shall be finished with an Olive Green (BS 12B27 / 
RAL 100 30 20) matt colour and the roof of the building ridge vents & feed bins with a Merlin 
Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 40 05) matt colour.” 
 
Since the buildings have already been in use for a substantial period, this condition could not 
now be properly implemented. 
 
3) Minor Material Amendment 
 
At paragraph 6.40 you say "having made the assessment of the proposals and their impacts, 
officers are content that the proposals, relating to the request for variation of the approved 
scheme are minor material amendments and as such it is appropriate to consider them 
having regard Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.” 
 
As I explained above, s.73 of the TCPA does not apply to retrospective development so I 
cannot see how you can argue that the claimed limited scope of the departures from the 
planning permission enable the LPA to determine the application under legislation that does 
not apply to this development. You say “this is also the appropriate course of action to 
regularise retrospective development having regard to Section 73A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act,”. Neither the planning practice guidance nor s.73A itself make any such 
provision. 
 
In fact there is no statutory provision for a minor material amendment in any planning 
legislation. 
 
Richard Harwood QC explains in “Planning Permission” (Bloomsbury Press 2016): 
 
“There is sometimes reference to s.73 applications as ‘minor material amendment 
applications’ but that expression has no legal status or effect…The Planning Practice 
Guidance refers to ‘Amending the conditions attached including seeking minor material 
amendments”…recognising that it is simply a s.73 application. There is no need for the 
change proposed in a s.73 application to be minor: it just needs to be within the parameters 
discussed above. The expression ‘minor material amendments’ is best avoided.” 
 
4) Prospective/Retrospective 
 

1325



Schedule of Committee Updates 

You refer throughout the officer report to the “proposed development” - see paragraphs 1.9, 
1.11, 4.3.2, 4.7, 6.14, 6.17, 6.23, 6.41, the Habitats Regulations Assessment and plan 
extracts on pages 3 and 4. 
 
The report should make clear that the application relates to development that has already 
been carried out.  
 
5) Habitats Regulations Assessment 
 
S.63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires: 
 
(1) A competent authority, before deciding to undertake, or give any consent, permission or 
other authorisation for, a plan or project which— 
 
 
(a)is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine site 
(either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), and 
(b)is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of that site, 
must make an appropriate assessment of the implications of the plan or project for that site 
in view of that site's conservation objectives. 
… 
(5) In the light of the conclusions of the assessment, and subject to regulation 64, the 
competent authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that it will 
not adversely affect the integrity of the European site or the European offshore marine site 
(as the case may be). 
 
The Officer Report has not explained to members that approval of this application would 
result in the granting of an entirely new planning permission. In granting that permission, the 
LPA must assess what the impact of the development will be on the River Wye SAC (and 
biodiversity in general) and whether those impacts can be avoided or mitigated. 
 
Paragraph 6.28 refers to the manure management plan submitted with the 2016 planning 
applications and asserts that this satisfies s.63 of  Habitats Regulations. But the manure 
management plan was not a condition of the planning permission and so did not ensure that 
the development would not cause water pollution. The application site discharges directly 
into the Hardwick Brook, which drains to the River Wye SAC some 5 km downstream. 
Citizen science monitoring has shown high phosphate levels in the brook and since the HRA 
was carried out for the 2016 application, there has been a serious deterioration in the 
condition of the River Wye, with the loss of up to 90% of one if its key habitats, Ranunculus 
fluitans. 
 
In addition, local residents report the farmer has not been complying with the manure 
management plan and has been importing and spreading pig manure, contrary to the plan. 
 
The HRA screening that has been carried out relies on the applicant’s use of DEFRA’s 
SCAIL modelling to assert that the development is not having an adverse air quality impact. 
The Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) makes clear that the SCAIL data cannot be 
relied on as “beyond reasonable scientific doubt” evidence. IAQM says in its Air Quality 
Impacts on Nature Sites guidance: "Case law (see the Moorburg case) suggests that it may 
no longer be sufficient to rely solely on the background data provided by Defra and APIS in 
all assessments, as these provide ‘average’ data and are typically based on emissions data 
for a time period which does not encompass newly operating facilities.” 
 
There was no ammonia assessment of the 2016 application, so it was not demonstrated that 
the development would not have an adverse air quality impact on the River Wye (or any 
other habitat). 
 

1426



Schedule of Committee Updates 

APIS Data shows that the mean nitrogen deposition rate on the application site for the period 
2017-2019 (the most recent data available) was 31.22 Kg N/ha/year, two to three times the 
critical load of 10-15 kg per annum for quercus (oak) dominated woodland. Natural 
England’s Conservation Objectives for the River Wye SAC advise "There are currently no 
critical levels for freshwater species and aquatic habitats and in this case we defer to the 
surrounding vegetation type such as transition mire or oak woodland. In both cases the 
critical load for nitrogen is exceeded within the Wye catchment and, therefore it can be 
presumed that there is a requirement to restore to site target." 
 
6) Amenity Impacts 
 
I am surprised that the Environmental Health Officer has raised no objections on amenity 
grounds, given that there have been complaints about intense and unpleasant odour from 
this development, which I have experienced myself. The statement at paragraph 6.36  that 
"no conflict with policy SD1 or RA6 is detected in respect noise, air quality and odour having 
regard to amenity of local residents” is incorrect and misleading.  
 
As several objectors have pointed out, the fact that the development already exists provides 
an opportunity to monitor its actual impact and for the LPA to impose planning conditions, for 
example requiring the use of air scrubbers to mitigate adverse air quality impacts. 
 
7) Appearance 
 
The report’s conclusion that the development is compliant with the Core Strategy contradicts 
the expert view of the previous planning and landscape officers that "harm the prevailing 
character of the landscape hereabouts and cause visual harm contrary to policies SS6, LD1, 
RA6 and SD1.”  
 
Your report quotes the decision of the committee in 2017 as "the impact of the development 
on the landscape character and appearance was not considered adverse; and the mitigation 
proposed, including the landscaping scheme and colour of materials would adequately limit 
any adverse impacts”  
 
In fact the reason for approval was: - "The Planning Committee considered that the impact 
on landscape character and appearance would be not be “major adverse” in terms of degree 
of significance. Indeed Members considered that the landscape impact would be moderate 
or less, that any adverse impacts would be adequately mitigated by the proposed 
landscaping scheme and colour of materials and that in the planning balance, given the 
economic and social benefits, that the proposal represents sustainable development." 
 
This is significantly different. The committee accepted that the development would have an 
adverse impact on the landscape but decided that the benefits of the development 
outweighed that harm. 
 
Since the conditions seeking to reduce the adverse landscape impacts of the development 
were not complied with and the Applicant is seeking to retain the development constructed in 
breach of those conditions, it is inconsistent to suggest that the development is compliant 
with the Core Strategy and in particular Policy LD1. 
 
One of the concerns raised by the 2017 officer report was the extent to which the building 
and hard standing extended beyond the existing building (building 87m and hardstanding 
95m). The building extends even further than this, nearly 90m from the old farm building and 
the hardstanding about 100m, but this is not mentioned in the Officer Report. (In fact, the 
measurements at paragraph 1.11 suggest that the building is the approved length. It is 2m 
longer - as well as 1.5m wider). 

1527



Schedule of Committee Updates 

It appears that the current landscape officer has not actually visited the site and so has 
based his conclusions solely on the drawings submitted by the applicant. 
 
You have stated in correspondence that the glossy roof is of a material that is designed to 
fade to matt in time. The applicant has not provided any evidence to the committee - which is 
tasked with making this decision - to demonstrate this and it is frankly implausible. I attach 
photographs of a poultry unit at Uphampton in the north of the County. The building was 
extended and re-roofed in 2010/11 following planning permission ref. N102126/F. The roof 
remains shiny after more than ten years. 
 
8) Conditions 
 
As noted above, condition 5 cannot be implemented because compliance was required 
before the development was brought into use. 
 
There are similar errors in other conditions: 
 
Condition 2 is required to be implemented "prior to commencement of the development 
hereby permitted.” 
 
Condition 3 is required to be implemented "Prior to the first use of the building”. 
 
The landscaping conditions contained in Condition 6 are required to "be carried out in the 
first planting season following completion of the development or first use of the building for 
agricultural purposes (whichever is the sooner).” 
 
I would be grateful if you would revise the Officer Report to address the errors identified 
above and to correctly advise the committee. 
 

 
Email dated 18th October  
 
Further to my email of 14th October, I understand that the site visit will proceed tomorrow 
and the case will go to committee on Wednesday. 
 
I do not understand how the committee can make a decision on this application without a 
much wider consideration of the planning merits of granting a new permission for the 
unauthorised development that is provided for by your officer report. Can I ask that you 
explain this in an update to the officer report with reference to the two attached legal cases: 
Wilkinson v Rossendale Borough Council [2002] and Lawson Builders v SSCLG [2015] 
 
In Wilkinson, the LPA had granted retrospective planning permission for a tarpaulins 
business without a personal planning condition that had been attached to an earlier planning 
permission. In doing so, it had failed to consider the planning merits of allowing the 
continued use of the site. 
 
Sullivan J. said: "The report simply lost sight of this fundamental issue and 
instead concentrated on the question whether condition 2 of the 1976 planning permission 
complied with the advice contained in circular 11/95… 
 
As I understand the submissions made on behalf of the Council, it considered that because 
this application for planning permission was an application to remove condition 2, the 
Council in considering the application was in effect subject to the same constraints as those 
set out in section 73 subsection (2). Thus, whatever it did, it was not allowed to "wholly 
undermine" the 1976 permission.” 
 
He concluded:  

1628



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 
"The underlying approach of the Council to this application for planning permission contains 
so many misconceptions that it is difficult to know where to begin. Perhaps the best starting 
point is that an application for planning permission under section 73A is in all respects, save 
that the development will have been commenced, a conventional planning application. In 
dealing with such an application, the local planning authority must have regard to the 
provisions of the development plan, so far as material, and to any other material 
considerations. (See section 70, subsection (2)). Section 54A of the Act is also applicable. 
 
Absent any provision preventing the local planning authority from considering the planning 
merits of the development proposed in the application, it is bound to consider the planning 
merits of permitting the development to continue… 
 
Thus, far from engaging with the relevant policies in the development plan and advising 
members as to whether or not the proposal was or was not in accordance with policy DC1 
for the purposes of section 54A, the report simply side-stepped all of those highly material 
planning considerations. This was another fatal flaw in the decision-making prose.” 
 
In Lawson Builders, the Court of Appeal responded to the Secretary of State’s argument that 
there was some fluidity between s.73 and s.73A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
Pitchford LJ giving the lead judgement, said: 
 
“Once it is understood that any grant of planning permission consequent upon this 
application had to be retrospective in its effect, it is clear that the power to make the grant 
was derived from section 73A TCPA. Section 73A(1) provides that on “an” application for 
planning permission, the permission granted may “include” permission in respect of 
development that has already been carried out.” 
 
He continued: 
 
"I accept that, theoretically, section 73 enables an application to be made whether the 
development has not yet commenced, or is in progress, or has been completed. If the 
development has not yet commenced, a new grant of permission will take effect 
prospectively. If the development is partially completed the permission may take effect 
prospectively or, upon exercise of the section 73A power, both retrospectively and 
prospectively. However, if the development has been completed in breach of a pre-condition, 
(i) there remains no proposed development in respect of which any permission can be 
given and (ii) since there is no proposed development, any conditions, as varied, could only 
be imposed as a current obligation. The power to make a grant of permission in these 
circumstances is derived from section 73A and section 70 TCPA (see below, paragraph 
27)... 
 
This is a case within the recognised exception: the breach of the 2004 planning permission 
could not be undone.” (my emphasis) 
 
I attach the decisions with relevant paragraphs highlighted for ease of reference. 
 
As with the development in the Lawson Builders case, the poultry unit at Archenfield has 
been built in breach of conditions that can no longer be complied with. The building is not in 
accordance with the approved plans and could not be made to comply without substantial, if 
not complete, reconstruction; Condition 5 controlling the matt finish of the buildings was 
required to be complied with prior to the first use of the buildings and the landscaping plan 
was not carried out in the first planting seasons following completion. 
 

1729



Schedule of Committee Updates 

The landscaping condition was capable of retrospective compliance, the other conditions are 
not. The 2017 planning permission is consequently not, contrary to the claim in your officer 
report, a material consideration. The permission is no longer valid. 
 
 

 
 
Email received 19th October 2021 
 
I have rechecked the plans and see the approved building appears to be the correct width. 
However, the height is 5.5m, not 5m as stated in your report and the feed bins appear to be 
about 0.5m taller than the approved drawing. 
 

I look forward to your clarification on the legal points. 
 

 

OFFICER COMMENTS 
 

The application concerns minor changes between the approved plan and as built 
development. These are carefully set out in the report and were pointed out to members 
during the committee site visit on 19th October 2021 
 
The application seeks to amend the location plan, site plan and elevation drawings to reflect 
the changes. For clarity and to amend the comment at paragraph 1.11 (correct error to ridge 
height) 
 
The building dimensions have been checked (and scaled from the submitted plans and are 
as follows:  
 

 163327 204133 Change 

Width 18900mm 18900mm No change 

Length 105400mm 106960mm +1560mm 

Eaves Height 2950mm 3000mm +50mm 

Ridge Height 5520mm 5500mm -20mm 

Feed Bin Height 7600mm 7500mm -100mm 

 
Materials are detailed on the submitted plans as per extract below:  
 

 
 
I would also draw members attention to the suggested conditions (re-imposed from 163327) 
that seek to control the materials (section 6.15 – 6.16) but to assist with clarity officers would 
suggest the following condition is included in lieu of condition 5 of the recommendation:  
 
Notwithstanding the approved plans and documentation, the external elevations of the main 
building shall be finished as follows:  

1830



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 
Walls – Profile sheeting in Olive Green (BS 12B27 / RAL 100 30 20) matt colour  
Roof – Profile Sheeting in Merlin Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 40 05) matt colour. 
Fan Chimneys – Black Plastic  
Feed Bins - Merlin Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 40 05) matt colour 
Doors –Steel Sheeting - Olive Green (BS 12B27 / RAL 100 30 20) matt colour  
Windows – Brown uPVC 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the landscape, in 
accordance with policies SS6, LD1, RA6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2011-2031. 
 
 
 
This application can be considered under s.73A TCPA 1990 as the works were carried out 
before the application was submitted and the application is therefore retrospective. It is 
considered that the amendments to the development are minor material amendments as a 
matter of planning judgement and therefore fall within the remit of section 73A TCPA 1990. –  
 
This application made under s.73A does not require the planning merits of the whole 
development to be considered again. These have already been considered as part of the 
grant of the original planning permission reference number 163327.  
 
Officers would refer members to the report that considers the impacts of the development 
including amenity, appearance, landscape and drainage have also been considered and 
consultations undertaken with the relevant Council departments on these issues.  
 
Noting the representation above, officers also sought some further clarification on the matter 
of odour.  
 
For reference – the committee report for 163327 stated:  
 

 
 
The Environmental Health Officer reviewed the comments made in the above representation 
and has made the following comments:  
 

I have reviewed the application with reference to odour as requested. The odour 
report supplied with the 1633327 remains relevant with regard to the number of birds 
and the egg laying function.  As far as I can tell there has been no intensification of 
the use of the site nor change in other practices. The application to vary the condition 
relates to the use of 13 roof fans rather than 7. Essentially, with regard to ventilation 

1931



Schedule of Committee Updates 

they will be performing the same function over the year ie to regulate the indoor 
temperature for the birds. Receptors closest to the unit – identified as 1- 4 in the 
odour dispersion modelling provided with 163327 have between 0.44 to 1.27 ouE/m3. 

for the 98th percentile hourly mean odour concentration This is significantly below the 
Environment Agency’s benchmark figure of 3.00ouE/m

3 for moderately offensive 
odours and to a degree reflects the fact that the numbers of birds in the proposals 
sheds are relatively low (<15,000) and that egg laying sheds are emptied and 
thoroughly cleaned once a year unlike broiler units which are 7-8 times a year.  
 
Given this set of circumstances I had no cause to consider that an increase in the 
number of fans would result in significant - indeed if any - increases in odour 
emissions to take the proposal over the 3.00 ouC/m3. 

 

I have interrogated our database and find that we have had one complaint from one 
domestic property regarding odour in summer of 2020 but the complainant declined 
to want to pursue this using our standard Statutory Nuisance procedures so we have 
no information regarding frequency, duration, extent etc. Officers visited the 
complainant but did not witness any odours at the time of the visit. 

 
Officers note the submission of and inclusion of caselaw in the representation and have 
reviewed this submission carefully; however, the report considers the proposed changes in 
the context of the approved plans against the policies of the Development Plan – taking into 
account any material considerations. The report and site visit have ensured that members 
are aware of the retrospective nature of proposals that are included in this request for a 
variation of the approved plans. Members have been made aware of the proposals that were 
approved under application 163327.  
 
The Council considers that the application meets the requirements of s.73A(2)(c) TCPA 
1990 as it seeks to vary the plans attached to condition 2 of the original planning permission 
as the development was carried out without complying with a condition subject to which 
planning permission was granted. 
 
It is mentioned several times in the officer report that the development has been completed. 
It is therefore clear that the application is retrospective and should be determined under 
s.73A TCPA 1990. Section 73 TCPA 1990 allows for the variation of conditions before the 
development to which the condition relates has been completed. Section 73 is referred to in 
the officer report as the difference between these two sections of the act is that s.73A TCPA 
1990 applies to retrospective applications only. All applications have to be considered in 
accordance with the development plan and all other material considerations and the officer 
report considers the application in accordance with these criteria. 
 
HRA  
 
An HRA screening report has been carried out by the Council’s ecologist in respect of this 
application and is included in the Committee report. Any likely significant effect has been 
screened out.  
 

CHANGE TO RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the following condition is included in lieu of condition 5 of the recommendation:  
 
Condition 5 - Notwithstanding the approved plans and documentation, the external 
elevations of the main building shall be finished as follows:  
 

Walls – Profile sheeting in Olive Green (BS 12B27 / RAL 100 30 20) matt colour  
Roof – Profile Sheeting in Merlin Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 40 05) matt colour. 
Fan Chimneys – Black Plastic  

2032



Schedule of Committee Updates 

Feed Bins - Merlin Grey (BS 18B25 / RAL 180 40 05) matt colour 
Doors –Steel Sheeting - Olive Green (BS 12B27 / RAL 100 30 20) matt colour  
Windows – Brown uPVC 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in the landscape, in 
accordance with policies SS6, LD1, RA6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2011-2031. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2133



Schedule of Committee Updates 

 

2234



Schedule of Committee Updates 

SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE UPDATES 
 

 
 

 
 
ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Two addition letters have been received 1 from J Slough and 1 from A Orgill:  

 

 
Dear Mr Gosset, 
 
The residents of Cobhall Common were asked to choose between two unworkable, 
unsustainable drainage plans and they have made it clear that  they do not support 
either system but building work is going ahead anyway. 
 
Either one will result in exacerbated flooding of my property and that of my neighbours 
and infringement of our riparian rights and responsibilities. 
 
As advised by our insurers we hereby put Herefordshire Council on notice that they will 
be held responsible when this happens and we will be seeking recompense from them.  
 
Two photographs within this current proposal show that the intention is to send storm 
water across my property and the field next to it. 
 
I would again point out that foul effluent from the site is polluting my well, the council 
has been aware of this several years and they have now allowed this development to 
cover it up. 
 
I can see no point in attending the Planning Committee meeting on 20 October or 
viewing the site unless it is postponed by 3 months by which time the flooding situation 
will become apparent to council members. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
John Slough 
Armstrong House 
 

 
Dear David Gosset, l wondered whether you might now have time to write to explain 
how things stand with regard to planning ap no 210068 please? 
 

 210068 - APPLICATION FOR VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 
FOLLOWING GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION (174681) - 
TO SEEK APPROVAL FOR AMENDED HOUSING DESIGNS    
AT LAND SOUTH OF COBHALL COMMON LANE, COBHALL 
COMMON, HEREFORD,  
 
For: Mr Griffith per Mr Jim Hicks, Second Floor Offices, 46 
Bridge Street, Hereford, Herefordshire, HR4 9DG 
 
 

23

MINUTE ITEM 39

35



Schedule of Committee Updates 

I had thought there was to be a final Council meeting concerning this application in mid 
October and representations re the viability of this plan would be discussed then. As 
the next door neighbour to this site, l am fully aware that work is going ahead now.  
 
Would you be kind enough to tell me whether the whole scheme has been passed now 
by you personally and if so, are Fairview Homes going ahead with the original 
drainage scheme and design of house which were in doubt or is there still a possibility 
of their own proposal of a different and more efficient drainage scheme and design of 
house, to be decided in a meeting in mid October, at which all parties have an 
opportunity to speak? 
 
I look forward to hearing from you as l am so closely affected by any final decision, 
 
Yours, Alex Orgill 
Elm Tree Cottage 

 

In addition the applicant’s agent has submitted further supporting documents and 
correspondence, some of which were also copied to members of the committee.  
 

 
Resident Concern Approved Planning     174681 Proposed Planning  Variation  

210068 

Size of Development 7 Houses 7 Houses 

Height of houses Ridge height Ridge height reduced on plots  3 & 
5 by 200mm, 2 & 4 –by 75mm 

Flooding Flash flooding 
Soakaways to front of houses to 
cope with 1 in 100 year flood, 
nearest Cobhall Lane so overflow 
into the lane. 
 
Tarmac (non permeable) to road, 
easier to run off. 
 
Hereford stone gravel. 
 
Rainwater harvest on gutters. 
 
Lane Ditch with no culvert, drainage 
ditch to be infilled! 
 
Ground height 600mm above the 
road at lowest point nearest 
Armstrong House, low steady 
gradientback to the road c. 1:50 
gradient. 

Flash Flooding 
Soakaways to rear of houses 
(further away from lane) to cope 
with 1 in 100 year flood + 40% for 
climate change 
 
Tarmac (permeable) –substructure 
permeable 
 
Block paving (permeable) – 
and/gravel substructure 
 
Rainwater harvest on gutters 
 
Lane ditch has a 150mm Culvert to 
the 2 site entrances, to continue 
ditch GIP results show water table 
at 3m and 2m, with good soil 
permeability. 
 
Ground height 575mm above the 
road at lowest point nearest 
Armstrong House, low steady 
gradient back to the road c. 1:50 
gradient. 

2436



Schedule of Committee Updates 

Drainage 7 treatment plants flowing into 
drainage attenuation ditch with 
potential raw sewage spill over if a 
treatment plant fails. 
 
Managed by 3 rd party company, 
checked quarterly. 
 
60m drainage attenuation ditch, 
covering 155m2 , perforated 
pipework from development to 
culvert approx. 400m away 

1 treatment plant ( less noise ) into 
a holding chamber for pumping with 
dual pumps and an alarm system 
for failsafe in case plant failure. 
Managed by 3 rd party company, 
checked quarterly. 
 
Pumping 150m away from 
development into 423m2 of filtration 
field. Oversized by 173% vs 
approved design  
 
Drains fields around due to size of 
filtration field, less water for run off 
into Cobhall Lane. 
 
Improved vs approved scheme 
consultant at Balfour Beatty 

Passing place Pre occupation condition (12 
18 
months before complete), no 
conditions for construction 

Offered to complete within 
26wks of application approved, 
subject to council not delaying 
process. 

Other key points Pre 
commencement conditions 
discharged. 
Work started on site. 

Offered to work with Parish 
Council and highways to drain 
Cobhall Lane to culvert, post 
application. 
This combined with the 
extensive filtration area, would 
significantly reduce the risk of 
surface water flooding in the 
area. 
Steady slope less than 1:50 to 
nearest house on highway from 
top of driveway (Armstrong 
House). 
Improved aesthetics 
house 
design and materials 

 

 
Good Morning David,  
  
Please see the below from the applicant with regard to proposed condition 8. Having 
investigated available options for draining the proposed passing bay the applicants 
understand that BBLP / Highways will not accept a SUDs soak away, and that the only 
viable option is understood to be the installation of a pipe approximately 270m in 
length across third party land to the nearest existing watercourse. 

2537



Schedule of Committee Updates 

  
If such a drain were installed, this would be a significant and costly engineering 
exercise and it would seem sensible for it to serve not only the small passing bay, but 
also the much larger affected area of public highway which has been identified by the 
local member and others.  
  
The applicants do not consider it proportionate or fair that they should be made liable 
for cost of correcting deficient drainage in the existing public highway some distance 
from the application site, though they have expressed that they would be willing to 
make a proportionate contribution based on the area of the proposed passing bay they 
will be creating vs the area of existing public highway to be drained. 
  
As such there is significant concern at the wording of proposed condition 8, which it is 
felt could be interpreted to make the applicants responsible for a much larger 
engineering exercise connected with rectifying an historic highways issue outside of 
the remit of the planning application. There is also concern that negotiating such an 
agreement with the Council could in itself take longer than 6 months. 
  
Could the condition perhaps be revised, to remove reference to drainage of the 
passing bay, or re-worded thus: 
  
Within 6 months of this permission, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority, the proposed passing place shall be constructed and made 
available for use, with provision for connection to an associated highway drainage 
improvement scheme (by the Local Highways Authority), in accordance with technical 
specification and details (including evidence of an agreement under action 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980) to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
  
I hope you can appreciate that the applicants to wish to be constructive and helpful, 
but they are concerned that without such clarification, there is the potential for their 
contribution to be made disproportionate. 
  
Kind Regards, 
  
Jim 

 
Dear David,  
 
The applicants have asked me to send the below response from CTP drainage 
following their investigation into the concern raised regarding highway flooding and 
FFLs. 
 
I trust the below is self explanatory, however please let me know if you have any 
queries or wish to discuss. 
 
Kind Regards 
 
Jim 
… 
Hi Vinnie 
  
is understood the LLFA has raised a concern that the lower plots on site may be 
directly impacted if the public highway becomes flooded as a result of poor 
maintenance of gullies/highways ditches. We have reviewed the overall site area 
levels upon completion of additional topo along the public highway and have the 
following comments/observations: 

2638



Schedule of Committee Updates 

  
• The lowest plot FFLs are the western Plot 1 (100.100) and eastern Plot 7 (100.200) 
• The highway centre line levels along the frontage of the site range from 99.630 to 
99.860 
• The crest level of the highway to the west of the site is 99.80 (south side edge) 
before the highway falls away to the north west. Water levels within the highway will 
reach a maximum level of 170mm before overtopping the 99.80 level to the west. 
• Armstrong House has a FFL of 100.023, 77mm lower than Plot 1 and 177mm lower 
than Plot 7 
• The existing property opposite Plot 3  has a FFL of 100.000, 100mm lower than Plot 
1 and 200mm lower than Plot 7 
• A low level planted bund will be constructed along the northern boundary of the site 
at a top level of 100.300 for further mitigation 
  
  
Kris Tovey BEng MCIHT 
 
An indicative plan has also been submitted to illustrate how the earth bund would be 
created (illustrated in green): 
 

 
 
 

OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
The Officer report has addressed drainage matters at paragraphs 6.27 – 6.39 and concludes 
that the proposed drainage strategies are considered to represent an improvement to the 
approved scheme.  
 
Two conditions require amendment as a result of further correspondence with the applicant, a 
condition was omitted from the Officers report relating to car charging points and a further 
condition is recommended to deal with the earth bund. These are set out below:  
 

2739



Schedule of Committee Updates 

Condition 1:  
 

 Replace plan reference P001 - Site Location Plan - showing proposed passing bay with 
reference E001 - Site Location Plan - showing proposed passing bay this was a 
typographic error on permission 174681 that has been carried over in the Officer’s 
report.  

 
Condition 8:  
 
Omit the following 5 words from the condition: “with an associated drainage arrangement”. This 
was not included on permission 174681 and it is no longer considered reasonable to impose 
given it implies an arrangement for the wider highway drainage issues.  
 
Under a s278 agreement the developer will be required to provide/contribute to a suitable 
drainage arrangement for the new section of hardstanding created by the passing place.  
 
Additional condition: A condition was omitted from the Officers report in regards to the 
provision of car charging points as set out in paragraphs 6.40 – 6.42 it is considered reasonable 
to impose despite the application being made under S73. It is recommended that this be 
appended to any approval as follows: 
 

Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling of the residential development hereby 
permitted a scheme to enable the charging of plug in and other ultra low emission 
vehicles (e.g provision of cabling and outside sockets) to serve the occupants of the 
dwellings hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

 
Reason: To address the requirements policies in relation to climate change SS7 and 
SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy and the guidance contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Additional condition: Through further correspondence with drainage engineers and further 
surveys of the road level as set out in the above correspondence the developer intends to install 
an earth bund at the front of the site. While a plan has been provided with the relevant details it 
has not been possible to seek Drainage comments on the matter and it is recommended that an 
additional condition require the submission of details for review:  
 

Prior to works commencing on the dwellings on Plots 1 and 7, hereby permitted, details 
of flood prevention methods, to address the risks posed by vehicles moving through 
floodwater on the highway, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority 
 
Reason: To protect Plots 1 and 7 from flooding and to comply with Policy SD3 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

CHANGE TO RECOMMENDATION 
 

Amended and additional conditions as above, recommendation for approval remains.  
 

 

2840



 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 17 NOVEMBER 2021 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

210796 - THE PROPOSED REDEVELOPMENT OF LAND AND 
BUILDINGS AT BASTION MEWS TO CREATE A MIXED-USE 
INDEPENDENT QUARTER COMPRISING NEW COMMERCIAL 
FLOOR SPACE AND VISITOR ACCOMMODATION, 
ASSOCIATED DEMOLITION, USE OF EXTERNAL AREAS AS 
EVENTS SPACE AND ASSOCIATED WORKS OF ALTERATION 
TO NO.18 UNION STREET TO ENABLE A SECOND MEANS OF 
ACCESS/EGRESS. AT BASTION MEWS, HEREFORD, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 2BT 
 
For: Mr Manning per Mr Ed Thomas, 13 Langland Drive, 
Hereford, Herefordshire, HR4 0QG 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/det
ails?id=210796&search-term=210796 
 

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee – Redirection 

 
 
Date Received: 25 February 2021 Ward: Central  

 
Grid Ref: 351266,240098 

Expiry Date: 19th November 2021 
Local Member: Cllr Jeremy Milln 

 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 This application relates to the Bastion Mews site which is a predominantly commercial mixed use 

area located in the centre of Hereford. The site lies to the south of Bath Street and east of Union 
Street, with existing access to the site via the latter.  
 

1.2 The site lies within the central conservation area and also abuts the city walls, which are a 
Scheduled Ancient Monument. Bastion Mews is also considered a ‘non-designated heritage 
asset’. The police station lies immediately south east of the site and the Magistrates Court 
opposite. There are listed buildings in the vicinity of the application site.  
 

1.3 Bastion Mews has been acquired by the applicants, who run ‘The Shack Revolution’ from Units 
16 and 17, and the associated courtyard. The venue has been extensively refurbished and the 
use of that premises has expanded to incorporate weddings and functions. At present, there is 
only one means of access and egress to The Shack Revolution via Union Street. As a 
consequence there is a cap on the number of guests to 130.  
 
 
 

41

AGENDA ITEM 6

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210796&search-term=210796
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210796&search-term=210796


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

1.4 There are also a number of other commercial and residential uses which form part of the 
application site including retail/café units fronting Union Street, with residential apartments 
located in the upper floors and also within Bastion House. Further retail units within the site include 
the Bike Shop and Temple Records, both of which are to be demolished as part of the proposals.  
 

1.5 An extract of the site location plan is provided below: 
 

1.6 As part of the proposals, a second access route is provided via no. 18 Union Street which the 
applicant sets out is crucial to the viability of Bastion Mews as a whole.  
 

 
 

 
 

 
1.7 Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of land and buildings at Bastion Mews to 

create a mixed-use independent quarter comprising new commercial floor space and visitor 
accommodation. The scheme has been designed to be flexible and interchangeable to respond 
to changing demand. Additionally, permission is also sought for the use of external areas as an 
events space and for works to No.18 Union Street to enable a second means of access/egress 
to increase the capacity of The Shack Revolution. The documentation accompanying the 
application identifies the provision of the secondary access is crucial in terms of viability of the 
scheme as a whole. Amended plans have been received during the course of the application and 
re-consultation undertaken.  
 
 
 

42



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

1.8 Key elements of the scheme have been set out below, together with extracts of submitted plans. 
Please note the plans below are not to scale and are for illustrative purposes.  
 
 
Extract of submitted Block Plan (drawing no. 1694 200 - Koda Architects) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
1.9 Proposed demolition: Proposed demolition comprises the garage (abutting the City Wall 

Scheduled Ancient Monument), the Bike Shop and the Music Shop.  The applicant has already 
obtained Scheduled Monument Consent for the demolition of the garage.  
 

1.10 Bike Shop: The proposals are for the erection of a structure comprising modular pods for flexible 
commercial uses falling within Class E of the Use Classes Order (Commercial, Business and 
Service).  
 

1.11 At ground floor level, the modular pods are arranged to provide restaurant space with outdoor 
seating and a separate office/retail unit. A pod is proposed to be positioned upright to provide 
accessible WC facilities at ground floor and a staircase to the upper floors. The first floor space 
would be a mix of retail and office space, including the addition of an office above the existing 
office serving The Shack. At second floor, three modular pods are proposed. This is in response 
to the existing flats located to the north west.  
 

1.12 Screening is proposed to prevent overlooking. Solar PV arrays are included on the pods which 
are orientated appropriately. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Extract of proposed bike shop submitted plans (drawing no. 1694 313 – Koda Architects) 

 
 

44



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

1.13 Music Shop: The proposals for the music shop also include the erection of a building comprising 
repurposed modular pods which would also be for flexible commercial uses within Class E of the 
Use Classes Order 2020. This part of the scheme also includes short term visitor or student 
accommodation. The pods would be two storey in scale. Rainwater is to be harvested and held 
in containers for re-use, and PV panels are also located on the pods which are orientated 
appropriately.  

 
Extracts of submitted ‘Music Shop’ Plans (drawing no. 1694 315 - Koda Architects 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Extract of submitted ‘Music Shop’ Plans (drawing no. 1694 315 - Koda Architects) – view from 
north pavement of Bath Street.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
 
Extract of submitted plans showing revised location of bin store 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.14 18 Union Street: This property is a former shop. The proposals comprise the replacement of the 

existing shopfront with a new one to allow the incorporation of a 1.5 metre wide unobstructed 
means of escape. The building will also include a lobby, kitchen and office at ground floor level, 
and a living room, bedroom and shower room at first floor level. The removal of later flat roof 
element to the rear is also proposed.  

 
Extracts of submitted 18 Union Street Plans (drawing no. 1694 402 - Koda Architects) 
 

 
 
         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
 

 
1.15 Extension to Unit 3: A two storey extension is proposed to Unit 3 to provide retail floorspace at 

ground floor and retail/residential above. The extension is located on the site of a former building.  
 
Extracts of submitted plans for proposed extension to unit 3 (drawing no. 1694 601 - Koda 
Architects) 

 
 

 
 

 
1.16 Other works: The applicant also intends to undertake various other works to enhance the Bastion 

Mews area which will include investigating opportunities for utilising the Commercial Street 
elevation of Sensory and Rye for a mural display to incorporate site signage. This will be non-
illuminated and intended to consolidate the existing signage. This does not form part of the current 
application and the applicant will obtain the necessary consent for signage work at a later date. It 
is anticipated design competitions would involve Hereford College of Arts and 
local/schools/colleges.  
 

1.17 The overall intent of the scheme is to provide a vibrant independent quarter, building on the 
success of The Shack Revolution. The scheme is intended to diversify the city centre offer by 
creating flexible commercial space capable of easy reconfiguration which would be used by small 
scale start ups.  

  
2. Policies  
 
2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy (CS) 
 
 SS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 SS4 – Movement and transportation 
 SS5 – Employment provision 
 SS6 – Environmental quality and local distinctiveness 
 SS7 – Addressing climate change 
 MT1 – Traffic management, highway safety and promoting active travel 
 E1 – Employment provision 
 E4 – Tourism 
 E5 – Town centres 
 LD1 – Landscape and townscape 
 LD2 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 LD3 – Green Infrastructure 
 LD4 – Historic environment and heritage assets 
 SD1 – Sustainable design and energy efficiency 

47



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 SD2 – Renewable and low carbon energy 
 SD3 – Sustainable water management 
 SD4 – Waste water treatment and river water quality 
 

The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary 
planning documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy 

 
 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the 

2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review 
of local plans to be undertaken at least every 5 years in order to determine whether the plan 
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated 
as necessary. The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015 and 
a review was required to be completed before 15 October 2020. The decision to review the Core 
Strategy was made on 9 November 2020.  The level of consistency of the policies in the local 
plan with the NPPF will be taken into account by the Council in deciding any application 

 
2.2 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) 
 
 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
 4 – Decision making 
 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy 
 7 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 
 11 – Making effective use of land; 
 12 – Achieving well-designed places; 
 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
2.3 The NPPF, together with all relevant documents and revisions, can be viewed at the following 

link: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
 
2.4  Planning Practice Guidance Planning Practice Guidance, can be accessed through the 

following link:  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 
 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 There have been a number of recent planning applications in respect of the site which are set out 

below.  
 
3.2  160452/F: Change of use of premises to a mixed use A3 and A4 to include the enclosed courtyard 

next to Unit 17 – Approved with conditions 7th April 2016; 
 
3.3  162637/PAA: Proposed licensed café, 37 Commercial Street – Prior Approval not required; 
 
3.4  1920262/F: Add D2 (Assembly and Leisure) to existing A3 and A5 permissions (retrospective), 

16 and 17 Bastion Mews, Hereford. Approved with conditions 31st March 2019; 
 
3.5  202601/K: Removal of T1 and T2 due to ongoing damage to building and light formative pruning 

to T3 – Works can proceed 24th September 2020.  
 
4. Consultation Summary 
 

48

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

4.1 Statutory Consultations – Consultee responses can be viewed in full via the link below: 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/d
etails?id=210796&search-term=210796 

 
4.2  Historic England – Provided initial consultation response dated 19th April 2021 suggesting 

changes made to the scheme. Following amendments and re-consultation, Historic 
England confirm no objection (24th September 2021).  

 
Initial Consultation Response (19th April 2021) 

 
Historic England has concerns on heritage grounds that are limited to the music shop area of the 
proposed development. We assess the proposal as causing less than substantial harm as defined 
by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), but capable of modification to avoid or 
minimise harm.  

 
These concerns relate to the masking of the internal face of the city wall, particularly masonry 
components at low level. Also that the height and design of the development lessens the 
dominance of the city wall in views from Bath Street and impedes views across to St Peters 
Church and the Cathedral.  

 
Modifications that will reduce the harm are set out below, including reducing the height of the 
development and re-siting of components from in front of the internal face of the city wall. There 
are also opportunities that can sustain, enhance and better reveal the heritage assets. 

 
Scheduled Monument Consent (SMC) will be required for some of the proposals adjacent to the 
city wall that are within the scheduled monument area. 
 
We look forward to further consultation on this scheme following amendment and would be willing 
to attend a site meeting to discuss. 

 
Advice 

 
The proposal is for the redevelopment of land and buildings at Bastion Mews to create a mixed-
use independent quarter. The application is supported by well-presented documentation and 
there is much to be commended in its approach in considering heritage assets. In particular the 
limited ground interventions that will be required to achieve the design, reducing the risk of harm 
to below ground archaeological remains. 

 
Our comments are limited to the music shop development proposal area, which is adjacent to 
Hereford city wall, a scheduled monument (National Heritage List for England 1005528). Some 
of the works are within the area of the scheduled monument and will require scheduled monument 
consent (SMC) in addition to planning permission. 

 
Based on the information provided we have no comment to make on other aspects of the 
proposal. We recommend that you seek the advice of your specialist conservation and 
archaeological advisers regarding the whole scheme proposals. 

 
Significance of heritage asset 

 
The section of wall forming the northern boundary of the site is one of the highest surviving 
sections of the Hereford city wall circuit and is included within the 'Hereford city walls, ramparts 
and ditch' scheduled monument along with some land within the yard of the proposed 
development site (https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/listentry/1005528). Hereford's city 
defences are reviewed and described in Herefordshire Council's 'Hereford city defences: a 
conservation management plan' prepared in 2011. This area of the city wall is part of the 12th 
century expansion and reconfiguration of the city defences. It was originally constructed as a 

49

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210796&search-term=210796
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210796&search-term=210796


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

gravel rampart with external ditch that was strengthened with a stone wall frontage in the 13th 
century.  

 
Gravel rampart  

 
Ground investigations within Bastion Mews to the west of Bastion House have confirmed the 
presence of a gravel layer at 0.7m to 2.0m below the current ground surface confirmed as 
surviving evidence of the rampart. These remains and the pre 12th century deposits they will seal 
provide an important understanding of the development of the city defences and the landscape 
they were constructed in. Remains of the rampart contribute to the significance of the scheduled 
monument and should be considered of equivalent significance as set out in the NPPF. They 
should be safeguarded in the design and careful detailing of the scheme. 

 
City wall 

 
This is one of the highest sections of the city wall and is, notwithstanding modification and a 
degree of rebuilding, very important to the appreciation of the scale and dominance in the 
landscape that the city defences would have had. The external face is masonry to full height. The 
internal face is masonry at the base to a height of about 60cm at the north end of the yard to 
about 1.5m at the southern end. The masonry appears to be pointed in lime mortar and therefore 
is likely to represent fabric contemporary with its use as a city wall defence. It will be important to 
maintain access and visibility of this internal face as part of proposals. 

 
The masonry is overlain to the full height of the wall by a single phase of course brick construction. 
The height of this section of wall and the visibility of masonry fabric on both external and internal 
faces enables understanding of the monument and its former scale. It is of national significance 
and is designated as a scheduled monument. 

 
Views across city wall 

 
The view from Bath Street over the city wall includes the spire of St Peters Church and at greater 
distance the Cathedral tower. The low character of the development within this area maintains 
the visual relationship between the city defences and these landmarks of medieval Hereford, 
which would have been evident when the area was largely open ground as depicted on historic 
mapping. This connection with other medieval landmark buildings and open character contribute 
to the significance of the city wall. 

 
Impact on designated heritage assets 

 
Although the scheme is relatively low impact due to its choice of construction units reducing the 
need for substantive foundations and utilises existing drainage connections, the proposals have 
a number of impacts on the designated heritage assets.  

 
Impact on dominance of city defences and relationship between city defences and other medieval 
landmark structures Available views online from the north side of Bath Street (in front of Hereford 
Justice Centre) indicate that 'The Shack' is just visible above the city wall top with both St Peters 
church and the Cathedral visible beyond. The proposal is taller and closer to the city wall than 
'The Shack' and the pitched roof coverings will have fitted solar panels. This additional height and 
nature of roof fittings will be more prominent in views than 'The Shack'. It will compete with the 
city wall reducing its dominance and impede views to the Cathedral and to St Peters church. This 
represents a degree of harm to the designated heritage assets. Reducing the height of the 
proposal below the height of 'The Shack' would remove this impact. 
 
Impact on internal face of city wall 
 

50



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

The city wall has stonework at its lower levels that is contemporary with its use as a defensive 
circuit. The siting of the bin store and the cycle rack in front of this impedes physical and visual 
access to this fabric and therefore represents a degree of harm to the designated heritage assets. 
Resiting of the bin store and cycle rack away from the wall would remove this harm. Retaining 
the area adjacent to the city wall as open and accessible to visitors would be an enhancement. 
 

 
Impact of foundation design, services and re-surfacing works  

 
Although low impact, the foundation design, installation of services and re-surfacing will need 
careful consideration to ensure that the risk of harm to below ground remains of the medieval city 
defences is avoided. You should seek the views of your specialist archaeological adviser 
regarding these aspects of the proposal. Works to, and adjacent to, the city wall will require SMC 
in addition to planning permission. These include the bin store, the cycle rack, the steel mesh 
pergola and re-surfacing works. The applicant should address concerns set out in this letter, 
seeking views from Historic England as necessary including guidance on next steps should 
planning permission be granted. 

 
Overall we assess the proposal as causing less than substantial harm as defined in the NPPF. 

 
Policy 

 
The information in this letter should be used to avoid or minimise any conflict between the 
conservation of the heritage assets and any aspect of the proposal in accordance with NPPF 190. 
Your authority should take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 
of heritage assets (NPPF 192) and the opportunities to enhance or better reveal their significance 
(NPPF 200). As some elements of the proposals will require SMC, your authority should bear in 
mind that the determination of SMC is made in accordance with the Government's 2013 policy 
statement (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/scheduledmonuments-policy 
statement). Paragraphs 18 and 20 of this statement will be relevant to determination of SMC and 
we are able to advise further following adjustments to the scheme whether we would advise the 
Secretary of State to grant 
SMC. 

 
Position 

 
Historic England has some concerns on heritage grounds that are limited to the music shop area 
of the development. We assess the proposal as causing less than substantial harm. These 
concerns and the level of harm can be reduced through modification of the proposal. These 
modifications are sought to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage assets 
conservation and the scheme, and to sustain, enhance and better reveal their significance.  

 
We advise the following modifications:  

 Reduce the height of the music shop development to below that of The Shack to avoid harm 
to the dominance of the city wall and views over the city wall to St Peters and the Cathedral. 

 Remove the bin store and cycle rack elements from in front of the city wall and relocate to 
adjacent to police station or beside The Shack.  

 Retain the area adjacent to the city wall as open and accessible space for visitors 
 

Opportunities to enhance the city wall should be sought through the scheme, in particular the 
careful removal of emulsion paint from the face of the wall. This will require SMC. 

 
You should seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers regarding 
the proposal. The design of foundations, connections for services and drainage provisions should 
be discussed with your archaeological adviser to ensure that harm to below ground archaeological 

51

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/scheduledmonuments-policy


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

remains related to the city wall is minimise, and if necessary is informed by appropriate 
archaeological assessment. 

 
We would be minded to advise the Secretary of State to grant SMC for re-surfacing works subject 
to their detailing to avoid harm to below ground archaeological remains, and likewise for the 
pergola subject to detail of construction and ensuring it does not inhibit access to the wall or 
appreciation of the scale of the wall. 

 
We look forward to further consultation on this scheme following amendment and would be willing 
to attend a site meeting to discuss modifications. 
 

Historic England Re-consultation (20th September 2021) 
 

Thank you for your letter of 20 September 2021 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following advice 
to assist your authority in determining the application. 
 

Advice 
 

The further information is an amendment to the scheme.  Our comments relate to the amendments 
to the music shop site only, whose site is bounded on the north by Hereford City Wall, a scheduled 
monument (National Heritage List for England 1005528).  The scheduled area extends into the site 
and scheduled monument consent will be required for some works. 
 

The amendments to the scheme includes the following changes: 

 removal of the pitched roof elements and a lowering of the height of the structure by 150mm, 
which is to be achieved by a 150mm ground reduction of the current concrete slab.   

 Adjustment or removal of elements adjacent to the city wall, including the cycle store, pergola 
and bin store have been removed or adjusted to leave the city wall visible to the visitor.   

 Removal of paint from face of city wall. 
 

The amendments have addressed our previous concerns, reducing the visual impact of the 
development on the experience of the city wall both from Bath Street and within the development 
site.   The freeing of the elevation of the city wall within the development from elements of the 
proposal and the commitment remove masonry paint from its fabric are enhancements that will 
better present the monument to the public and is welcomed. 

 
On the basis of the revised application we have no objection to the application on heritage 
grounds. 
 
Works within the scheduled monument area will require scheduled monument consent (SMC) in 
addition to planning permission.  These works will include the removal of the paint and any fittings 
from the elevation of the city wall, the siting of the bin store under the external stairs to Bastion 
House and adjustments, replacement or making good the existing ground surface.  An informative 
note should be included with any forthcoming planning permission to instruct the applicant to 
contact Historic England to clarify the extent of works requiring SMC and make an application. 

 
You should seek the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers regarding 
the proposal.  The extent of ground reduction to lower the height of the proposed structure and 
provision of any new underground services will need discussion with your archaeological adviser 
and may need to be informed by limited archaeological assessment if insufficient knowledge of 
existing ground make up is available.  Further advice from Historic England may be required if 
this ground reduction extends into the scheduled monument. 

 
Recommendation 
Historic England has no objection to the application on heritage grounds. 

52



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
Please include in informative note with any forthcoming planning permission to inform the 
applicant that the proposal will require scheduled monument consent in addition to planning 
permission and advise them to contact Historic England to discuss and make an application.  
Application forms and guidance can be viewed at 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/consents/smc. 

 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If 
there are any material changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact 
us. Please advise us of the decision in due course. 

 
4.3  Natural England – No objection – based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers 

that the proposed development will not have adverse significant impacts on designated 
sites and has no objection – Response dated 20th September 2021. 

 
 Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the 

natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future 
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  

 
Internationally and nationally designated sites 
 
The application site is within the catchment of the River Wye which is part of the River Wye 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is a European designated site, and therefore has the 
potential to affect its interest features. European sites are afforded protection under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’. The SAC is notified at a national level as the River Wye Site of Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) Please see the subsequent sections of this letter for our advice relating to SSSI features. 
 
In considering the European site interest, Natural England advises that you, as a competent 
authority under the provisions of the Habitats Regulations, should have regard for any potential 
impacts that a plan or project may have. The Conservation objectives for each European site 1 
Requirements are set out within Regulations 63 and 64 of the Habitats Regulations, where a 
series of steps and tests are followed for plans or projects that could potentially affect a European 
site. The steps and tests set out within Regulations 63 and 64 are commonly referred to as the 
‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ process.  
 
Natural England’s advice on other natural environment issues is set out below. Page 2 of 5 explain 
how the site should be restored and/or maintained and may be helpful in assessing what, if any, 
potential impacts a plan or project may have. European site - River Wye SAC - No objection 
Natural England notes that your authority, as competent authority under the provisions of the 
Habitats Regulations, has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment of the proposal, in accordance 
with Regulation 63 of the Regulations. Natural England is a statutory consultee on the Appropriate 
Assessment stage of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process.  
 
Your appropriate assessment concludes that your authority is able to ascertain that the proposal 
will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any of the sites in question. Having considered 
the assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate for all identified adverse effects that 
could potentially occur as a result of the proposal, Natural England advises that we concur with 
the assessment conclusions, providing that all mitigation measures are appropriately secured in 
any permission given.  
 
It is noted that foul drainage will be dealt with by connecting to the existing local mains sewer 
connection at the Eign Waste Water Treatment Works, discharging into the River Wye and 
surface water will be dealt with via a proposal for SuDS. River Wye SSSI – No objection Based 
on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will not 
damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and has no objection.  

53

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/consents/smc


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
Other advice Further general advice on the consideration of protected species and other natural 
environment issues is provided at Annex A. We would be happy to comment further should the 
need arise but if in the meantime you have any queries please do not hesitate to contact us. For 
any queries regarding this letter, for new consultations, or to provide further information on this 
consultation please send your correspondences to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk 

 
4.4  Welsh Water - No objection dated 22nd April 2021.  
 

We refer to your recent planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide the 
following comments in respect to the proposed development.  
 
We would request that if you are minded to grant Planning Consent for the above development 
that the Conditions and Advisory Notes provided below are included within the consent to ensure 
no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr Cymru Welsh Water’s assets.  
 
 
Sewerage 
 
With regards to foul water we recommend that any existing drainage shall be utilised where 
possible to avoid the need to make any new connections to the 900mm public combined sewer 
in Union Street, as such a connection would need to be made by a Welsh Water framework 
contractor. 
 
We can advise that Eign WwTW has a phosphate permit. This matter will need to be considered 
further by the local planning authority. 
 
Surface Water Drainage 
 
It is unclear how the application proposed to discharge surface water flows, however we advise 
that any drainage strategy should consider utilising a sustainable drainage technique. 
 
In addition, please note that no highway or land drainage run-off will be permitted to discharge 
directly or indirectly into the public sewerage system. No surface water from any increase in the 
roof area of the building /or impermeable surfaces within its curtilage shall be allowed to drain 
directly or indirectly to the public sewerage system. 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
 
Conditions 
No development shall commence until a drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide for the disposal of 
foul water. Thereafter the scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of the development and no further foul water shall be allowed to connect 
directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system. 
 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
 
Advisory Notes 
The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the public 
sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public sewer network 
is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting property boundary) 
or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first 
enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers 
and lateral drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers 

54

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

and Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further 
information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com 
 
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded on 
our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and were transferred into 
public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers) 
Regulations 2011.The presence of such assets may affect the proposal. In order to assist us in 
dealing with the proposal the applicant may contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water. Under the Water 
Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus at all times. 
 
Our response is based on the information provided by your application. Should the proposal alter 
during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are re-consulted and 
reserve the right to make new representation. 

 
4.5 Internal Council Consultations 
 

Archaeological Advisor - No objection dated 23rd April 2021.  
 

Summary of advice. 
 

This proposal, relating to a key location within the historic city, has been made following a long 
period of survey work and pre-application discussions. Entirely within the designated Area of 
Archaeological Importance or AAI, and directly abutting the scheduled city wall, the location is 
inarguably sensitive, and challenging to develop. However, and despite some remaining  
concerns, it is considered on balance that the proposals do have merit and are likely to be 
acceptable in principle, subject to any modifications thought necessary. 

 
Therefore, I have no objection, and would view the proposal as being broadly in compliance with 
policy as regards archaeology. As would be expected with any permission in such a location, the 
exact scope and nature of all ground-disturbing works will need to be agreed, and proper 
archaeological mitigation will need to be put in place in order to record archive and publish any 
finds or remains of significance that may be encountered as a result of site works. 
 
Details of advice. 

 
The application site occupies a prominent but currently rather shabby and under-used location in 
the angle of Union Street and Bath Street. The largely extant and scheduled city wall forms the 
north eastern perimeter of the area proposed for re-development. Whilst the particular alignment 
of the city wall here is somewhat intermittent and has been subject to a number of rebuilds, it is 
nevertheless of considerable importance, and has been explicitly recognised as such in [e.g.] the 
2011 Conservation Management Plan. The whole of the application site is within the designated 
Hereford Area of Archaeological Importance or AAI, and is self-evidently sensitive as regards 
potential risks to below-ground remains. On the whole, the application as made does properly 
describe and reflect this. 
 
As would be the case for any proposed new structures of height here, there are potential risks 
also relating to the setting and appreciation of upstanding heritage assets in the close and further 
urban townscape, and how these might be perceived in relation to the city wall. These include, 
but are not limited to, the Cathedral, St Peters church, and the Town Hall. It is important to 
emphasise however that limited changes to this townscape may not necessarily be harmful ones, 
and that retention of an unsatisfactory status quo (as I consider exists in this instance) may in 
itself do harm. I terms of the long term and ongoing historic environment strategy adopted by 
Herefordshire Council, I am of the view that suitable redevelopment of challenging city centre 
sites should be encouraged, and indeed has been, throughout this millennium. Potential 
opportunity is easily lost; conservation is not fossilisation. 
 

55

http://www.dwrcymru.com/


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

I am aware of the varied concerns that Historic England and others have in relation to (for 
instance)  any additional ‘overtopping’ of the city wall, and the possible compromising of 
significant vistas in and out of Hereford’s iconic medieval core. There may be a particular issue, 
which I would acknowledge, concerning the part loss of some views of and appreciation of the 
structure of St Peter’s tower and other landmarks when seen from the vicinity of the Magistrates 
Court. On the other hand, such loss would I think be quite limited in the round and would likely be 
compensated for by the generally improved environment that would arise. Also, whilst accepting 
that there will be differing opinions about the form of the new structures, the flexible methodology 
adopted does have the dual benefit of both limiting ground disturbance and being readily 
reversible.  
 
On current evidence from documentary surveys and field evaluation, although there is potential 
for the presence of below ground remains of interest across the site, the likelihood of major and 
at - risk remains of significance is only moderate. Nevertheless, if this proposal, or one 
substantially similar, were to be permitted, the Council needs to ensure that a full programme of 
archaeological work takes place. To be clear and for the avoidance of doubt, given the 
appreciable size of the site in its context, it is probable that some quite extensive archaeological 
works will be required with associated costs etc. These works would be needed despite the efforts 
made to lessen the ground impact already referred to. Although it would not in itself represent a 
reason to permit the application, the deposition of an appropriate excavation archive and report 
in due course would be a key public benefit to be sought here. 
 
Conclusions. 

 
1. In the final analysis, it is considered that the proposal would conserve and enhance the 

historic environment locally; it may also be seen as being in accordance with longer term 
imperatives for the historic city. 

 
2. However, if the proposal is to be permitted, appropriate archaeological conditions must be 

imposed, in order to comply with local and national best practice guidance and policy. 
 

3. The first of these conditions would in this case be the standard C50 submission of 
foundation design condition. The broad purpose of this condition would be to secure a 
minimally invasive groundworks specification that will help to protect the archaeological 
resource. 

 
4. The second of these conditions would be the standard C48 archaeological survey and 

recording condition. The broad purpose of this condition would be to secure suitable 
archaeological recording (i.e. archaeological excavation) with its resultant benefits. 

 
5. Given that the site is situated within the AAI, the developer will need to make a separate 

notification [to ourselves] under Section 35 of the 1979 Ancient Monuments and 
Archaeological Areas Act. Standard Informative I01. 

 
6. Given that some (limited) locations of work appear to fall just within the scheduled 

monument, a separate Scheduled Monument Consent is likely to be required. The 
applicant should contact Historic England about this matter. 

 
 
4.6 Ecology – No objection subject to confirmation from Natural England that they raise no 

objection and subject to inclusion of suggested conditions – response dated 31st August 
2021. Natural England has subsequently confirmed no objection is raised.  

 
A relevant Habitats Regulations Assessment is triggered by this application located in the Wye 
SAC catchment. The completed assessment should be subject to formal consultation with Natural 
England PRIOR to any grant of planning consent. 

56



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
Notes in respect of HRA process: 

 

 The development proposes additional residential/holiday accommodation with associated 
increases in foul water flows. 

 The change in business floor space and activities can be considered as nutrient neutral 

 All foul water will be discharged to existing local mains sewer connections. 

 At this location the mains sewer network is managed through the Welsh Water Wastewater 
Treatment Works at Hereford (Eign) that discharges in to the ‘upper lower’ Wye catchment of 
the River Wye SAC. 

 Welsh Water have confirmed that a connection to the local mains sewer is achievable and 
that the local system has sufficient capacity to accommodate additional flows from this 
development. 

 At the current time Natural England have not advised the LPA that the River Wye (upper lower 
catchment) is failing its conservation status. 

 The additional foul water flows can be allocated within the development ‘Phosphate 
Allowance’ currently approved as part of the Core Strategy. 

 Discharge of all foul water to existing mains sewer can be secured by condition on any 
planning consent granted. 

 The applicant has advised that all surface water will be managed through appropriate 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)  

 The SuDS management of all surface water can be secured by condition on any planning 
consent granted 

 Based on all current plans and information there are no other effects from this development 
on the River Wye SAC identified  

 
Suggested Conditions: 

 
Habitat Regulations – foul water management 
All foul water shall discharge to the local Welsh Water mains sewer network managed through 
the Hereford (Eign) Wastewater Treatment Works unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to comply with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as 
amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ 
(the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD2 and SD4. 

 
 

Habitat Regulations – surface water management 
All surface water created by the development shall discharge to on-site Sustainable Drainage 
Systems unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to comply with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as 
amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ 
(the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD2 and SD3 
 
Other ecology comments 
From available information and supplied preliminary ecological appraisal the LPA has no reason 
to consider that there are likely to be any effects on ‘protected species from the proposed 
development. The applicant and their contractors in respect of all demolition, site preparation and 
construction works have their own legal duty of care to wildlife protection as afforded by the 
Wildlife & Countryside Act that lies above any conditions the LPA could include; with any breach 
being investigated by the local Wildlife Crime Officer from West Mercia police. A relevant 
informative is suggested for inclusion on any planning consent granted. 

57



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
Wildlife Protection Informative 
 
The Authority would advise the applicant (and their contractors) that they have a legal Duty of 
Care as regards wildlife protection. The majority of UK wildlife is subject to some level of legal 
protection through the Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 as amended), with enhanced protection 
for special “protected species” such as all Bat species, Great Crested Newts, Badgers and other 
wildlife that are present and widespread across the County. All nesting birds are legally protected 
from disturbance at any time of the year. Care should be taken to plan work and at all times of 
the year undertake the necessary precautionary checks and develop relevant working methods 
prior to work commencing. If in any doubt it advised that further advice from a local professional 
ecology consultant is obtained. 
 
As identified in supporting information and as identified in the NPPF, Council’s Core Strategy 
polices and ethos of the soon to be enacted Environment Bill all development should clearly 
demonstrate how it will deliver/has delivered and secured, net gain in local biodiversity potential 
– this ‘net gain’ should be clearly detailed and secured through condition. 
 
NS based on CKR (modified to brexit) is relevant 
 
Nature Conservation – Biodiversity and Habitat Enhancement 
 
Prior to any new construction work above foundation level commencing a detailed scheme and 
annotated location plan for proposed biodiversity net gain enhancement features including 
provision of ‘fixed’ habitat features such as habitat boxes supporting bird nesting (including 
provision for Swifts), bat roosting features and pollinator homes must be supplied to and approved 
in writing by the local authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and hereafter 
maintained as approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that all protected species are considered and habitats enhanced having 
regard to The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, National Planning Policy Framework, NERC 
Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy (2015) policies SS1, SS6 LD1, LD2 and 
LD3.  
 

4.7 Building Conservation Officer – Initial consultation response dated 1st July 2021. Further 
response received following amendments to drawings and re-consultation dated 30th 
September 2021. Heritage concerns still remain.  

 
 Initial consultation response (1st July 2021) 
 

Recommendation: 
 

Whilst the site does afford positive development opportunities, and there is heritage support for 
its improvement, elements of the proposed scheme attract a heritage objection as they will result 
in harm to the surrounding historic environment. 

 
Concerns relate primarily to the use of the shipping containers as the basis for design proposals, 
and the impact these will have on the character and appearance of the conservation area, the 
setting of adjacent heritage assets, and views from, and between, those assets. 
 
As per Paragraph 193 of the NPPF, the conservation of heritage assets should be given great 
weight regardless of the degree of harm identified, which in this instance would be classed as 
less than substantial;  
 

58



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

Case law has established that the statutory duties outlined in Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 - for decision makers to pay special 
regard and special attention to preserving the setting of listed buildings, and preserving or 
enhancing the character and appearance of conservation areas - equates to a strong presumption 
against granting planning permission where harm is identified; and that a finding of less than 
substantial harm constitutes a substantial objection. (Barnwell v East Northamptonshire DC - 
[2014] EWCA Civ. 137). 
 
In terms of terminology, special regard and special attention are equivalent to great weight. 

 
Preliminary design revisions - following the provision of pre-application advice - were not provided 
for any assessment or heritage comment prior to this submission.  

 
Legislation & Policy: 

 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 
Sections 66(1) & 72(1) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Paragraph 140 – Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take 
the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions. 
 
Paragraph 192 – In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 
the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 193 – When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. 
 
Paragraph 194 – Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification. 
 
Paragraph 196 – Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
Paragraph 197 – Where a development proposal will affect the significance of a non-designated 
a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 
 
Paragraph 200 – Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development 
within Conservation Areas…, and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal 
their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive 
contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably. 

 
Herefordshire Core Strategy 
 

59



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

Policy LD1 –Development proposals should: demonstrate that character of the…townscape has 
positively influenced the design, scale, nature and site selection, protection and enhancement of 
the setting of settlements and designated areas; 
 
Policy LD4 –Development proposals affecting heritage assets and the wider historic environment 
should: Protect, conserve and where possible enhance heritage assets and their settings in a 
manner appropriate to their significance through appropriate management, uses and sympathetic 
design, in particular emphasising the original form and function where possible’.  
 
Where opportunities exist, contribute to the character and local distinctiveness of the townscape 
or wider environment, especially within conservation areas; 

 
Heritage Comments: 

 
Heritage Statement: 

 
The submitted heritage statement satisfied the provision requirement set out in Paragraph 189 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, but failed to accurately describe the significance of the 
relevant heritage assets, their settings, and the positive characteristics within the city centre 
sector of the conservation area; nor did it accurately identify what impact the proposed scheme 
would have on those assets. 
 
The largely superficial differences between schemes demonstrates what little influence it had on 
any meaningful amendments following its production, and that it merely served to justify previous 
designs which were identified as harmful. 
 
As one example, and in relation to Bastion House, it chose to focus on lack of maintenance and 
condition issues rather than identifying its former associations with the City Prison (1842-1878), 
and corresponding architectural merits/value (connections evidenced by documentary 
references, historic mapping, its distinctive orientation in relation to the prison, and the 
containment of architectural features to its eastern elevation). 
 
Modern structures within the site were given a low significance rating, when in reality they have 
no significance, and removal of the music and bike units was considered to be positive, yet 
retention of the other detrimental structures was not assessed.  
 
An erroneous industrial aesthetic interpretation was relied upon to wrongly suggest preservation 
and enhancement of CA character and appearance would be achieved as a result of this 
development.  
 
It would seem that the success of the commercial venture contained within one of the modern 
structures influenced this statement, and the new development scheme, rather than any objective 
understanding of the harm these structures have on surrounding heritage. 

 
Finally, from the conservation area perspective, it relied overly on line of sight interpretations and 
failed to acknowledge that the character of an area exists in many forms within multiple spaces 
which may not be visually connected but which influence how that area is experienced when 
people move through it, or live or work within it.  

 
Architectural Appropriateness: 

 
In terms of satisfying legislative requirements to preserve and/or enhance character and 
appearance of the conservation area, and policy stipulations relating to local character and 
distinctiveness, it has not been sufficiently demonstrated that re-purposed shipping containers 
would be an appropriate, and not alien, architectural choice in this context; particularly as they do 

60



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

not reference any historic architectural vernacular, or indeed historic industrial practices, 
representative in this part of Hereford. 
 
Within this sector of the conservation area the industrial history was primarily associated with land 
to the north-east of the City Wall, which included the structures demolished to make way for the 
wider road, and buildings further along Bath Street (flour and timber mills); the majority of the 
proposed site was associated with the commercial and residential properties fronting Union 
Street, St. Peter’s School to the south, and the former City Prison (now Magistrates Court). 

 
The 1888 OS map extract clearly identifies all structures which were present on the site during 
that era as being of brick or stone construction, with timber employed for a covered passageway 
from Union Street, and for small shed-type structures.  

 
The presence of the modern corrugated steel structures – one of which is the truncated remnants 
of a longer, open-sided, structure introduced to the site in the 20th century – does not represent a 
connection to any former industrial past. 
 
As previously detailed, these were negative, piecemeal, additions to the site whose presence has 
had a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

 
Any connection between this structure type and shipping containers - which have more in 
common with modern storage site facilities, railway sidings or shipping ports - is tenuous at best. 
 
Although there may be commercial incentives for their use, this doesn’t justify their incongruity; 
and whilst the addition of cladding materials and other screening devices alters their appearance 
and presence somewhat (bike shop units), the necessity of these additional treatments just 
highlights their unsuitability in this context. 
 
There is no objection to the principle of good quality contemporary architecture which is informed 
by the positive characteristics within this sector of the conservation area, but the site deserves 
design solutions of greater substance than those proposed. 
 
On the basis of an objective and detailed understanding of the site history previous heritage 
advice advocated this approach, and highlighted the opportunity for negative elements to be 
removed or their impact minimised. 

 
Impact on Views: 

 
Whilst the majority of new development is contained closer to the centre of the site, the 
replacement music shop units are situated in a prominent position next to the City Wall.  
 
In addition to their contextual incongruity previously outlined, their presence will impact on the 
last remaining public views between the scheduled wall and the spire of St. Peter’s Church (Grade 
II*); views which have existed historically, and since the conservation area was designated in 
1969. 
 

61



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
 

 
Other heritage asset related views which will be impacted by the development include a view 
northwards from the Magistrates Court (Grade II) on Gaol Street (and from its upper floor 
windows); and views from the Commercial Street – Bath Street – Union Street junction from 8-9 
Commercial Road (Grade II) and The Kerry public house (Grade II). 
 
Containing development on this portion of the site to single storey height would be the advised 
approach. 

 
Proposed Fire Damage Re-build: 

 
Amendment of the architectural form of the music and bike shop units may influence the design 
approach for this area of re-development; but on the basis of the submitted drawings, the 
proposed scheme reads more as an extension to the shipping container design than a 
contemporary re-instatement/re-interpretation of the former structure lost to fire damage.  
 
The specification of brickwork and large section timber joinery of appropriate tonal varieties would 
be preferable to the corrugated cladding treatment, as, again, it would better reference the 
positive historic structure it is part of rather than a separate modern structure of no particular 
merit. 
 

62



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

The design narrative of the existing terrace is referenced on the proposed drawing, and so this 
amendment would seem logical from a design perspective, and provide a sufficient degree of 
enhancement if executed properly.  
 
Whilst the historic brickwork on the two remaining parts of the terrace has been painted, its 
character still remains evident and compliments the backdrop of Bastion House; removal of this 
paintwork, or re-painting in a uniform colour, would be preferable to the introduction of render as 
this appears to have been a modern remedial intervention elsewhere on the building, and detracts 
from the overall appearance of the terrace range and its street frontage. 

 
Proposed No. 18 Adaptions: 

 
Adaptions to the shopfront of No.18 Union Street are supportable and successfully maintain the 
character of the streetscape.  
 
As no indication of the existing shopfronts age or significance has been provided, retention and 
repair of the pilasters, brackets and facia would be welcomed (and may be intended) if they have 
some heritage value. 
 
Given the building’s historic character, diminutive scale, and uninterrupted roof surface, it would 
be preferable to locate rooflights on the rear roof pitch; the proposed lounge benefits from a 
reasonable size window, and a light well or sun tunnel could be employed to service the shower 
room. 
 
Bin Storage Area: 

 
The proposed Block Plan indicates a new bin storage area situated on the footprint of a former 
brick structure.  
 
Removal of this structure would be seen as a beneficial intervention for the City Wall as it would 
be better presented and enable more of the wall to be experienced; and for Bastion House, it 
would make some contribution to returning its frontage to that of its most significance period. 
 
However, infilling this area with a new, larger, structure which takes no consideration of its position 
would just replace one negative element with another, causing harm to the amenity of Bastion 
House outside its primary elevation, and obscuring a section of wall identified as highly significant. 
 
On a site of this size there should be sufficient space to locate a facility of this nature in a less 
harmful position; space to the north-west of Bastion House would seem a more logical and 
practical proposition. 
 
Further Information Required: 
Design revisions for a scheme which successfully meets heritage legislation and policy 
requirements. 
 
Building Conservation Officer Re-consultation response (30th September 2021) 
 
Recommendation: 

 
Unfortunately the minor amendments to the proposed scheme have not satisfactorily addressed 
key areas of heritage concern. 
 
On this basis the finding of less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area, and setting of heritage assets, remains as a substantial objection. 
 

63



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

In accordance with the statutory duties outlined in Sections 66(1) & 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and policy requirements in Paragraph 199 of the 
NPPF, this objection should be afforded considerable importance and weight in the planning 
balance. 
 
Additional Heritage Comments: 

 
Music Shop Re-development: 

 
The revised 150mm reduction in height is not sufficient to address heritage concerns previously 
highlighted. 
 
It is important to stress that the heritage objection to this aspect of the development relates to 
both the alien character of the architectural scheme proposed (re-purposed shipping containers) 
and the impact that any development above the City Wall might have on the setting of St. 
Peter’s Church. 
 
The introduction of a traditional slate roof line would also be considered a harmful intervention in 
respect of St. Peter’s setting if it impeded established views of the church spire, whereas the 
impact that roof type on the character and appearance of the conservation area would likely be 
considered neutral as it is a roof form commonly represented. 

 
The visual impact from outside the site is not solely related to a static viewpoint on the opposite 
pavement but will be experienced along a stretch of that pavement, and from positions within 
the Magistrates Court building. 
 
The submitted elevations illustrate the extent of the existing music shop structure and the 
increase in scale of the new structure/s; reducing the number of containers at 1st floor level may 
help address the harm to setting from the most readily accessible public viewpoints, but would 
not address the impact of the group as a whole. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

64



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

Fire Damage Re-build: 
 

Previous heritage comments highlighted the disparity in character between the proposed re-
build element and the host terrace. 
 
The change in cladding type, from metal to timber, doesn’t sufficiently improve the new 
structures integration with the historic terrace in any meaningful or positive way. 
 
Specification of a painted brick slip facing in place of the timber or metal cladding would provide 
better cohesion with the existing brickwork, and the large section joinery and glazing elements 
would provide the contemporary balance which would reflect the re-built nature of the structure.  
 

 
 

 
18 Union Street: 

 
Removal of the rooflights from the road-facing roof pitch is welcomed; however, the revised 
layout on the rear roof pitch presents a very disjointed appearance which could be further 
improved to the benefit of the building’s appearance and that of the conservation area. 
 
Does the proposed living room require additional lighting given the presence of an existing 
window and the relatively compact dimensions of the room (c. 2.8m x 3.3m)? 
 
The small shower room could utilise mechanical extraction through the eaves. 
 
A new window inserted into the rear elevation would provide light into the staircase area. 
 
Implementation of these measures would positively improve the appearance of the roof by 
reducing rooflight numbers to a more typical amount given the size of the roof (1-2). 

 
Bin Storage Area: 

 
The following image illustrates the potential for enhancement in this location, as the existing 
brick structure detracts from both the City Wall and Bastion House.  
 

65



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
 
However, its replacement with a commercial bin storage area would merely swap one harmful 
element for another, and would compound that harm by introducing the additional issues of 
noise, smell and increased movement; this is particularly relevant given the residential nature of 
Bastion House. 
 
Siting the bin storage on the northern side of Bastion House would these address issues 
somewhat, as the north-western elevation is a secondary one without any original window/door 
openings; and this would also reduce access distances for refuse/re-cycling collections.   
 

 
 
The amended proposal would still result in harm to CA character and appearance in this 
publically accessible sector. 

 
4.8 Area Engineer (Transportation) – Initial consultation response dated 22nd April 2021 and 

further response received following additional information. No objection  
 
 Initial consultation (22nd April 2021) 
 

Further information is required regarding servicing and deliveries for both the proposed units and 
also The Shack Revolution.  Where would deliveries take place, by what type of vehicle and what 
is the anticipated frequency? 

 
  
 

66



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 Re-consultation on amended plans (25th August 2021): 
 

The local highway authority has no objection subject to the following conditions: 
 

 Delivery vehicles larger than a LWB Transit type van should not enter Bastion Mews, 
deliveries from larger vehicles should take place from the loading bay on Union Street. 

 CB2 - Cycle parking – both residential (should be in a secure store such as a shed, Sheffield 
stands with a hood will not be acceptable) and commercial/visitor (these can be Sheffield 
stands with hood/cover). 

 
4.9  Minerals and Waste – (7th April 2021) – No objection  
 

Thank you for consulting me on the above pre-application. I can confirm that there are no known 
mineral reserves across the site and therefore no safeguarding issues to consider. 

 
In relation to waste, if the proposal is accepted in principle and recommended for approval,  then 
it is suggested that a planning conditions is included with a requirement for a Construction 
Materials and Site Waste Management Plan  to ensure waste management provisions 
compliment the construction activities on site and that all waste emanating from the development 
are dealt with in an appropriate manner and follows the waste hierarchy. 

 
Suggested condition 

 
No phase of development shall commence until a Construction Materials and Site Waste 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The approved plan shall thereafter be adhered to throughout the construction period for that 
phase. The plan shall include, but is not limited to, the following matters: 
• site management arrangements, including on-site storage of materials, plant and machinery; 
contractors compounds and other facilities; on-site parking and turning provision for site 
operatives, visitors and construction vehicles; and provision for the loading/unloading of plant and 
materials within the site; 
• a detailed construction waste management plan that identifies the main waste materials 
expected to be generated by the development during construction, together with measures for 
dealing with such materials so as to minimise waste and to maximise re-use, recycling and 
recovery; 
 
Reason: The treatment and handling of any site waste is a necessary initial requirement before 
any demolition and groundworks are undertaken in the interests of pollution prevention and 
efficient waste minimization and management so as to comply with the Policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy. 
 

4.10 Environmental Health – Contaminated Land (29th April 2021) – No objection  
 
I refer to the above application and would make the following comments in relation to 
contaminated land and human health issues.  
 
Our records indicate that the proposed development is situated on a former garage and 
engineering works.  
 
Given that the proposed development is a new build and is situated on potentially contaminative 
uses, we’d recommend the following condition be appended to any approval.  
 

1. No development shall take place until the following has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority: 

67



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

a) A ‘desk study’ report including previous site and adjacent site uses, potential contaminants 
arising from those uses, possible sources, pathways, and receptors, a conceptual model 
and a risk assessment in accordance with current best practice.  

 
b) If the risk assessment in (a) confirms the possibility of a significant pollutant linkage(s), a 

site investigation should be undertake to characterise fully the nature and extent and 
severity of contamination, incorporating a conceptual of all potential pollutant linkages and 
an assessment of risk to identify receptors 

 
c) If the risk assessment in (b) identifies unacceptable risk(s) a detailed scheme specifying 

remedial works and measures necessary to avoid risk from contaminants/or gases when 
the site is developed shall be submitted in writing. The Remediation Scheme shall include 
consideration of and proposals to deal with situations where, during works on site 
contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified. Any further 
contamination encountered shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme submitted to the local planning authority for written approval.  

 
Reason: In the interests of human health and to comply with policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2. The Remediation Scheme, as approved pursuant to condition no. (1) above shall be fully 

implemented before the development is first occupied. On completion of the remediation 
scheme the developer shall provide a validation report to confirm that all works were 
completed in accordance with the agreed details, which must be submitted and agreed in 
writing before the development is first occupied. Any variation to the scheme including the 
validation report shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority in advance of 
works being undertaken.  
Reason: In the interests of human health and to comply with policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
3. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 

the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained 
written approval from the local planning authority for, an amendment to the Method 
Statement detailing how the unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.  
Reason: In the interests of human health and to comply with policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Technical notes about the condition 
 
1. Assessment is required to be undertaken in accordance with good practice guidance and 

needs to be carried out by a suitably competent person as defined within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

2. All investigations of potentially contaminated sites are required to undertake asbestos 
sampling and analysis as a matter of routine and this should be included with any 
submission.  

3. Where ground gas protection measures are required, they shall be validated in 
accordance with current best practice guidance.  

 
4.11  Environmental Health (Noise and Nuisance) dated 2nd June 2021 – No objection 

 
My comments are from a noise and nuisance perspective. 
 
Our department has no objections to the proposal but recommends the following condition:  
 

68



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

No noise generating plant nor equipment shall be installed to the exterior of the proposal without 
agreement from the local authority in writing. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of occupiers of nearby properties so as to comply with 
Policies SS6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Hereford City Council – No comments received 
  
5.2 No letters of representation have been received from members of the public.  
 

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 
6.1 Policy Context  
 
6.2 This application is considered in line with the statutory requirements of Section 70 (2) of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) which requires that when determining applications, 
the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development, local finance 
considerations (in so far as material to the application) and any other material considerations.  

 

6.3 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows: 
 “if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 

under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise’.  

 
6.4 In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy.  
 
6.5 The application site also lies within a conservation area and abuts a Scheduled Ancient 

Monument. When dealing with conservation areas, Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention be paid to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. Section 66 relates to 
preserving a listed building or its setting. There is no explicit statutory duty in respect of the impact 
of proposals on Scheduled Ancient Monuments, however, the local planning authority are under 
a duty to take account of consultation responses received and have regard for policy. 

 
6.6 The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for England 

and how these should be applied. It is a material consideration in planning decisions. The NPPF 
sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This does not change the statutory 
status of the development plan as a starting point for decision making. Where an application 
conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, permission should not usually be granted as set 
out in Paragraph 11c) of the NPPF, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

6.7  There are a number of considerations which are relevant in terms of assessing the overall 
acceptability of the proposals. Each is discussed under the relevant heading below.  

 
Principle of the proposed development and land use 

 

6.8  The Development Plan for this area is the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy (CS). The 
strategic Policy SS1 sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, reflective of 
the positive presumption enshrined in the NPPF. SS1 confirms that where there are no relevant 
policies or where proposals that accord with the policies of the CS (and, where relevant other 

69

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

Development Plan Documents and Neighbourhood Development Plans) will be approved, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.   

 
6.9  The application site does fall within the defined City Centre (as identified in Figure 4.3 of the Core 

Strategy), where there are more specific policies in terms of city centre proposals. Core Strategy 
Policy HD2 seeks to maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of the city centre, including 
providing new commercial and office space in appropriate city centre locations, as well as 
providing new cultural and tourism attractions. The policy also specifies proposals will be 
approved where they enable the protection, conservation and enhancement of Hereford’s 
heritage assets, their significance and setting, including archaeology, with particular regard to 
historic street patterns and the skyline. The supporting text accompanying Policy HD2 highlights 
the policy promotes living in the city centre, which will contribute to its vitality through broadening 
from mainly daytime shopping and business uses, to creating an inclusive ‘evening’ economy 
beyond working hours.  

 
6.10 Matters of heritage and archaeology will be discussed in more detail later in this report. However, 

in principle, the redevelopment of land and buildings at Bastion Mews to create a mixed-use 
independent quarter comprising new commercial floor space and visitor accommodation is 
supported. Parts of the existing site are somewhat dilapidated and the proposal provides the 
opportunity to regenerate this site through the introduction of new development and by providing 
a diverse range of uses. The proposed uses will build on the success of the existing businesses 
in the site and also provide new opportunities in a sustainable location.  

 
6.11 With regards to the uses proposed, there has been a conscious effort by the applicant to keep 

these flexible to allow the site to respond to changing needs and demands. In 2020, the 
Government introduced significant changes to the Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended) with 
the intention being to reinforce the vitality and viability of town centres in response to a reduction 
in footfall and viability issues. Amongst other things, the changes amalgamated a number of uses 
into a new category known as Class E. Class E is known as Commercial, Business and Service 
and includes those uses formerly classified as A1 (Shops), A2 (Financial and Professional 
Services), A3 (Food and Drink), B1 (Business), together with certain uses which were previously 
classed as D1 (Non-Residential Institutions) and D2 (Assembly and Leisure). In light of the above, 
it is proposed that the uses permitted moving forward are those which fall within the Class E Use 
Class and that flexibility is built in to allow the scheme to adapt as required within that use class. 
The uses proposed are considered to be main town centre uses and in accordance with Policy 
HD2. Furthermore, the uses will not adversely affect the primary function of the town centre as a 
shopping destination in accordance with Core Strategy Policy E5.  

 
6.12 The National Planning Policy Framework emphasis the need to ensure the vitality and viability of 

town centres, which includes taking a positive approach to their growth, management and 
adaptation. At paragraph 81, the Framework advises planning policies and decisions should help 
create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. The Framework 
identifies ‘significant weight’ should be placed on the need to support economic growth. Clearly 
the proposal would achieve those wider objectives as well as those identified in the development 
plan.  

 
Impact of the proposals on historic environment 

 
6.13 The application site lies in a sensitive historic location within a conservation area and adjacent to 

the City Walls Scheduled Ancient Monument. When assessing applications within a conservation 
area, local planning authorities are required to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of that area. No such statutory duty exists 
in respect of proposals affecting a Scheduled Ancient Monument, however the local planning 
authority are under a statutory duty to take account of any consultation responses received and 
have regard for any policy. 

 

70



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

6.14 Core Strategy Policy LD4 is relevant when assessing development proposals affecting heritage 
assets and the wider historic environment. The policy seeks to protect, conserve and where 
possible enhance heritage assets and their settings in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
This is through appropriate management, uses and sympathetic design. Additionally, the policy 
aims to ensure development proposals contribute to character and local distinctiveness of the 
townscape or wider environment, particularly in conservation areas. Proposals should also use 
retention, repair and sustainable re-use of heritage assets to provide a focus for wider 
regeneration schemes.  

 
6.15 The National Planning Policy Framework also contains detailed advice in terms of development 

proposals affecting heritage assets which is set out at Paragraphs 194 to 198.  
 
6.16 Paragraph 194 states that in determining applications, local planning authorities should require 

an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any 
contribution made by their setting. In respect of schemes which involve a site which has the 
potential to affect heritage assets with archaeological interest, appropriate desk based 
assessment is required and in some cases field evaluation.  

 
6.17 At Paragraph 195, it is advised that local planning authorities should identify and assess the 

particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected (including by development within 
its setting) taking account of the available evidence and expertise. This is to avoid or minimise 
any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal. Paragraph 
197 identifies three criteria to take account of when determining applications which includes a) 
the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them 
to viable uses consistent with their conservation; b) the positive contribution that conservation of 
heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and c) the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  

 
6.18 Finally, the Framework then goes onto provide guidance in respect of how potential impacts 

should be considered. Paragraph 199 identifies that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to 
the asset’s conservation. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset 
requires clear and convincing justification, as set out in Paragraph 200. In circumstances where 
a proposal will lead to substantial harm, consent should be refused, unless it can be demonstrated 
the harm is necessary in order to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm 
(Paragraph 201). Paragraph 202 identifies that in such circumstances where a development 
would result in less than substantial harm, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of a proposal, including securing its optimal viable use.  

 
6.19 The Framework is clear that the effect of proposals on a non-designated heritage asset should 

be taken into account and a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 

 
6.20 Finally, Paragraph 206 identifies local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new 

development within Conservation Areas (and World Heritage sites), and within the setting of 
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those 
elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the asset or which better reveal its 
significance should be treated favourably.  

 
6.21 The application is accompanied by a detailed Heritage Statement which has been prepared by 

Koda Architects. This sets out the historic context in respect of the application site and its 
surroundings, including evidence of historic mapping. It also outlines and provides descriptions 
of the heritage assets in the area and provides an assessment in terms of their significance. In 
respect of heritage matters, Historic England, the Council’s Historic Building Officer and the 

71



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

County Archaeologist have been consulted. Councillor Milln has also provided feedback during 
the course of the assessment of the application which has been circulated to the applicants.  

 
Historic England Assessment 

 
6.22 Historic England has commented in detail on both the originally submitted plans (comments dated 

19th April 2021) and on the revised plans submitted by the applicant (dated 24th September 2021). 
Copies of those responses can be viewed in at section 4.2 of this report.  

 
6.23 The initial consultation notes the application is supported by well-presented documentation and 

commends the approach in considering heritage assets. The comments acknowledge the limited 
ground interventions that will be required to achieve the proposed design, which reduce the risk 
of harm to below ground archaeological remains. Advice provided by Historic England is limited 
to the music shop area of the scheme, adjacent to the city wall, which as identified is a Scheduled 
Ancient Monument. Comments have not been made in respect of other aspects of the scheme 
and it has been recommended the advice of the Council’s specialists in Conservation and 
Archaeology is sought in respect of the scheme as a whole. 

 
6.24 In terms of the significance of the city wall, the section of wall forming the northern boundary of 

the site is one of the highest surviving sections of the city wall circuit and is included within the 
‘Hereford city walls, ramparts and ditch’ Scheduled Monument along with some land in the yard. 
There is a conservation management plan document in respect of ‘Hereford City Defences’ which 
reviews and describes the monument. This part of the wall is part of late 12th Century expansion 
and re-configuration of the defences. It was originally constructed as a gravel rampart with 
external ditch which was strengthened in the 13th Century with a stone wall frontage. Ground 
investigations have confirmed evidence of gravel under the surface. These remains and the pre 
12th Century deposits provide an important understanding of the development of the city walls.  

 
6.25 Based on the above and an assessment of the significance of the heritage assets involved, the 

following amendments were recommended by Historic England: 
 

 Reduce the height of the music shop to that of below the shack to avoid harm to the 
dominance of the city all and views over the city wall to St Peters and the Cathedral; 

 Remove bin store and cycle rack elements from in front of the city wall and relocate adjacent 
to the police station or beside The Shack;  

 Retain the area adjacent to the city wall as open and accessible space for visitors; and  

 Opportunities to enhance the city wall should be sought through the scheme, in particular the 
careful removal of emulsion paint face of the wall (requires SMC).  

 
6.26 The applicant submitted a revised set of drawings in respect of the scheme on 26th July 2021 in 

response to concerns raised by both Historic England and the Building Conservation Officer.  
Historic England confirmed in its re-consultation response dated 24th September 2021 that 
previous concerns have been addressed through the revisions and they have no objection to the 
application on heritage grounds. 

 
Historic Building Officer Assessment 

 
6.27 The Council’s Building Conservation Officer has provided two consultation responses. The first 

response was provided on 1st July 2021 and can be viewed in full at section 4.7. A number of 
concerns were raised in respect of elements of the submitted Heritage Statement, the 
appropriateness of repurposed shipping containers in this context, impacts on views to the Grade 
II* listed St Peter’s Church. On this matter, the Building Conservation Officer advised single storey 
development for the ‘bike shop’ element of the scheme.  

 
6.28  In respect of the proposed fire damage re-build, the Building Conservation Officer advised the 

use of brickwork and large section timber joinery as an alternative to the proposed cladding. 

72



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

Adaptions to the shopfront of no.18 were fully supported, however there was a suggestion to 
locate rooflights to the rear of the building. Finally, the location of the proposed bin store was of 
concern. Removal of the structure from the originally proposed location was considered a 
beneficial intervention to the city walls and it was advised to amend this to a less harmful position 
within the site.  

 
6.29 Following initial comments from the Building Conservation Officer and those provided by Historic 

England, the applicant submitted a revised suite of drawings. An accompanying cover letter dated 
26th July 2021, set out all the changes made in light of the feedback received. Changes to the 
scheme include removal of the metal cladding to the proposed fire damaged area of No.3 Bastion 
Mews and removal of the rooflights to the front elevation of No.18. In respect of the music shop 
area, the height of the proposed pods has been reduced to ensure this is less dominant when 
viewed from the north side of Bath Street. The bin store has also been relocated to an alternative 
location below the Bastion Mews staircase.  

 
6.30 The latest comments from the Building Conservation Officer can be summarised as follows: 
 

 The minor amendments to the proposed scheme have not satisfactorily addressed key areas 
of heritage concern;  

 Considers the scheme will result in less than substantial harm to character and appearance 
of the conservation area and setting of heritage assets;  

 The reduction in height of music shop redevelopment is not sufficient to address concerns 
previously identified. Highlights this objection relates both to the alien character of shipping 
containers and the impact that any development above the city wall might have on the setting 
of the church;  

 Proposed fire damage re-build – change in cladding type from metal to timber does not 
sufficiently  improve the new structures integration with the historic terrace in any meaningful 
way;  

 18 Union Street – removal of rooflights welcomed, however revised layout on the rear roof 
presents a disjointed appearance. Suggestion to reduce the rooflights to a more typical 
number of 1 to 2;  

 Bin storage – replacement with communal bin storage would replace one harmful element for 
another and compound the harm by introducing noise, smells and additional movement. 
Suggests siting the bin storage on the northern side of Bastion Mews, although considers this 
would still result in harm to the conservation area.  

 
Summary of impact of proposals on the historic environment 

 
6.31 As discussed, various amendments have been made to the scheme in response to concerns 

raised from a heritage perspective. Members will note Historic England no longer raise any 
concerns in respect of the proposal and its impact on the city walls.  

 
6.32 Despite revisions made by the applicant, the Building Conservation Officer remains of the view 

the scheme would result in less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area and the setting of designated heritage assets. The key remaining concerns 
focus around the use of modular pods, the height of the music shop redevelopment and its impact 
on the city wall and church views, the number of rooflights to no.18, and the bin storage location.  

 
6.33 Whilst the Building Conservation Officer’s comments are noted, officers are of the view the 

applicant has successfully addressed a number of key concerns from a heritage perspective. 
Based on the revised plans, it is considered the proposal would to preserve the setting of nearby 
listed buildings, including St Peter’s Church and the nearby listed buildings along Commercial 
and Union Street. Furthermore, the scheme is considered to preserve and in some respects, 
enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area.  

 

73



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

6.34 Officers do not consider the proposal would fail to preserve the setting of St Peter’s Church or 
unacceptably alter view points between Bath Street and the church. St Peter’s Church is located 
approximately 145 metres from the application site with a number of intervening buildings 
between. It is acknowledged there are viewpoints from Bath Street where the Church spire is 
visible and this will remain the case. The reduction in height of the bike shop area of the scheme 
has ensured the city walls remain the dominant feature and that views over the city wall to St 
Peters and the Cathedral are retained. The height has been reduced to that of the adjacent Shack 
Revolution building. Historic England has acknowledged the improvements made to the scheme 
in respect of those elements, hence an objection is no longer raised. Amendments to the location 
of the bin store are also considered successful in better revealing the city wall and ensure it is 
sited in a discrete location, unlike the suggestion to site it along the western elevation of Bastion 
Mews. Concerns in respect of the positioning of rooflights are not shared by officers.  

 
6.35 A key concern raised by the Building Conservation Officer stems from the use of shipping 

containers in this context. It is acknowledged the use of shipping containers or modular pods 
could be considered an unconventional design approach. However, in this instance officers are 
satisfied the overall scale, massing and external treatment of the proposed pods ensure the 
scheme will integrate successfully with the site and local context. Furthermore, the use of these 
pods has been put forward as part of a well thought out scheme for the whole site which as 
discussed earlier in this report it somewhat dilapidated. The proposals provide the opportunity to 
make a positive contribution to the local character and distinctiveness of the conservation area, 
whilst still respecting the significance of the city walls and limiting archaeological disturbance.  

 
6.36  Core Strategy Policy LD4 seeks to ensure proposals protect, conserve and where possible 

enhance heritage assets. The Building Conservation Officer’s comments assess the harm 
resulting from both the original and revised proposals as ‘less than substantial’. In such 
circumstances, Paragraph 202 of the Framework states that this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of a proposal, including securing its optimal viable use. For the reasons 
discussed above, officers do not share a number of the concerns raised by the Building 
Conservation Officer and consider any degree of harm to be significantly less than has been 
concluded within those comments. Notwithstanding this, when considering the scheme in the 
context of Paragraph 202, there are clearly significant public benefits arising from the proposal. 
This includes the regeneration of this city centre site, the introduction of structures which will 
provide a mix of uses in the area, with the opportunity to adapt to suit market demand. 
Furthermore, the proposals provide further opportunities to existing businesses in the locality and 
are also intended to provide opportunities for start-up businesses.  

 
6.37  Taking all of the above into account, the scheme is considered to meet the requirements of the 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Core Strategy Policy LD4 and 
government policy in terms of the impact on designated and non- designated heritage assets as 
set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Impact on archaeology  

 
6.38 The proposed development relates to a key location within the historic city and is entirely within 

the designated Area of Archaeological Importance. It also directly abuts the city wall. Policy LD4 
of the Core Strategy is also relevant in terms of archaeology which seeks to protect, conserve 
heritage assets and their settings in a manner appropriate to their significance. Furthermore, 
paragraph 194 of the Framework requires appropriate desk based work and in some cases, field 
evaluation, where a proposal has the potential to affect heritage assets with archaeological 
interest. There is also a requirement to ensure that when considering the impact of a proposal on 
the significance of a heritage asset, great weight is given to its conservation.  

 
6.39 The application follows an extensive period of survey work and has involved pre-application 

discussions in respect of archaeological matters. The County’s Archaeology Advisor provides 
detailed comments at section 4.5. Those comments acknowledge the site is challenging to 

74



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

develop as a result of the archaeological constraints, however, it is acknowledged the proposal 
does have merit and no objection is raised to the scheme subject to the inclusion of various 
conditions in respect of archaeology. It should also be noted the nature of the structures proposed 
as part of this scheme limit the ground disturbance which is of significant benefit from an 
archaeological perspective.  

 
6.40 Based on the assessment of the Archaeological Advisor and with the inclusion of those 

conditions, it is considered the requirements of Core Strategy LD4 are met, together with the 
advice contained within the National Planning Policy Framework in respect of archaeology.  

 
 

Design and Sustainability 
 
6.41 Herefordshire Council declared a Climate Emergency in March 2019. This signalled a 

commitment to ensuring that the Council considers tackling Climate Change in its future work and 
decisions taken. There is a county wide aspiration to be zero carbon by 2030. In terms of the 
development plan policy context, at a strategic level, Core Strategy Policy SS7 seeks to ensure 
development proposals include measures which will mitigate their impact on climate change.  

 
6.42 Core Strategy Policy SD1 relates to sustainable design and energy efficiency and requires 

development proposals to create safe, sustainable, well integrated environments for all members 
of the community. The policy stipulates various requirements proposals should incorporate. 
Measures in respect of design include making efficient use of land and designing new buildings 
to maintain local distinctiveness. This can be achieved through incorporating local architectural 
detailing and materials, as well as respecting scale, height, proportions and massing of 
development, while making a positive contribution to the architectural diversity of the area. 

 
6.43 From a sustainability perspective proposals are encouraged to utilise physical sustainability 

measures such as orientation of buildings, water conservation measures and storage for bicycles 
and waste, which includes provision of recycling. Where possible, on site renewable energy 
generation should be incorporated.  

 
6.44 The proposals incorporate various sustainability measures including utilising repurposed shipping 

containers and sustainably sourced materials. The shipping containers or pods are no longer 
required for their original purpose and therefore the proposals provide a new use for these 
structures. Photovoltaic panels are proposed on appropriately orientated structures, together with 
rainwater harvesting and the inclusion of 7 electrical charging points for vehicles. Green 
infrastructure is also proposed to soften up areas of the urban environment.  

 
6.45 Whilst it is acknowledged the use of modular pods for this purpose could be considered an 

unconventional design approach, their overall layout, use, scale and external treatment has been 
carefully considered. In this instance, the scheme is considered to integrate successfully into the 
local environment and create a visually attractive environment where people can live, work and 
visit. The impact on existing and proposed occupiers is also considered acceptable. For these 
reasons, the application complies with Core Strategy SD1 and advice contained within Chapter 
12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Transportation  

 
6.46 Core Strategy Policy MT1 requires development proposals to demonstrate that the strategic and 

local highway networks can absorb the traffic impacts of a development without adversely 
affecting the safe and efficient flow of traffic on the network or that traffic impacts can be managed 
to acceptable levels to reduce or mitigate any adverse impact from development. The policy also 
requires developments should achieve safe entrance and exit and have appropriate manoeuvring 
space.  

 

75



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

6.47 The Local Highway Authority has been consulted on the proposals. In an initial consultation 
response additional information was sought in respect of servicing and deliveries for proposed 
units and also Shack Revolution.  

 
6.48 In response, the applicant’s agent confirmed the following in a letter dated 26th July 2021: 
 

 Majority of deliveries and servicing for all existing units and all proposed units are undertaken 
by van;  

 Deliveries are encouraged where possible before 10am to minimise vehicles in the mews post 
this time – however due to tight delivery schedules, deliveries are accommodated throughout 
the day where reasonable; 

 The loading bay on Union Street is used as a drop and go service when larger delivery 
vehicles arrive (Kegs and drinks for the Shack Revolution); 

 Within Bastion Mews, a space is always made available for delivery vehicles so as to avoid 
restricting the Mews and these are also drop and go deliveries.  

 
6.49 Following the above clarification, the Local Highway Authority has confirmed it raises no objection 

to the proposal subject to conditions being attached in respect of cycle parking and delivery 
arrangements. The application site is located in a sustainable location in the city centre and is 
accessible via a range of transport modes. It is not considered to be a car dependant scheme 
and based on the additional information provided, delivery arrangements are considered 
acceptable.  

 
6.50 The scheme complies with Core Strategy Policy MT1 and advice contained within the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  
  

Ecology and Biodiversity 
 
6.51 The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. Based on this and other 

available information, the Council’s Ecologist has confirmed the Local Planning Authority has no 
reason to consider that there are likely to be any effects on protected species from the proposed 
development. Various conditions have been suggested to ensure this remains the case and also 
informatives to remind the applicant of their duty of care to wildlife as per legislative framework 
outside of the planning remit. Those conditions and informatives have been added.  

 
6.52 The site falls within the Wye Special Area of Conservation catchment area and therefore the 

proposal triggers a Habitat Regulation Assessment. The relevant assessment has been 
undertaken by the Council’s Ecologist and suggests conditions in respect of foul and surface 
water development to ensure no effects on the River Wye SAC as a result of this development. 
Natural England has been consulted on the Habitats Regulation Assessment and confirms it 
raises no objection.  

 
6.53 Overall, officers are satisfied that based on the information provided and with the inclusion of 

various conditions in respect of protected species and drainage, the proposal is acceptable in 
terms of its ecological impact and complies with Core Strategy Policies LD2, SD3 and SD4, 
together with advice contained with the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Environmental Health  

 
Land Contamination  

 
6.54 The application site is situated on a former garage and engineering works and therefore the 

Council’s Land Contamination Officer has been consulted on the proposals. A response has been 
received which can be viewed at section 4.10 of this report. Due to the potential for contamination 
at the site, a standard condition has been suggested requiring in the first instance, a ‘desk based’ 
study to be undertaken and submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to any development 

76



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

taking place. The outcome of the initial investigations would inform whether the applicant is 
required to undertake any further investigations. The wording of the condition is such if further 
information or investigation is required, this must be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to works being able to commence. With the addition of the condition, the proposal meets the 
requirements of SD1.  

 
Noise and Nuisance 

 
6.55 Core Strategy Policy SD1 requires proposals to create safe, sustainable and well integrated 

environments for all members of the community. Various criteria are listed in order to ensure 
proposals achieve this, but this includes ensuring new development does not contribute to, or 
suffer from noise.  

 
6.56 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (Noise and Nuisance) has confirmed no objections 

are raised in respect of the proposals, but recommends a condition is attached requiring no noise 
generating equipment to be installed to the exterior of the proposal without agreement from the 
local authority.  

 
Other Matters  

 
6.57 The Minerals and Waste Officer has confirmed there are no known mineral reserves across the 

site and therefore no safeguarding issues to consider.  
 
6.58 At this stage, matters in respect of drainage relate primarily to foul and surface water in connection 

with Habitat Regulations. This has been discussed in detail earlier in this report. Welsh Water has 
been consulted and has requested further drainage details which can be secured by way of a 
suitably worded condition attached to any permission.  

 
Conclusions 

 
6.59 Applications for planning permission are to be determined in accordance with the development 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan comprises the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy (adopted 2015). The revised National Planning Policy 
Framework is also a significant material consideration.  

 
6.60  In addition to the above, the application site also lies within a conservation area and abuts a 

Scheduled Ancient Monument. Listed buildings are located in the vicinity of the application site. 
When dealing with conservation areas, Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention be paid to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. Furthermore, section 66 relates to 
preserving a listed building or its setting.  

 
6.61 This application seeks planning permission for the redevelopment of land and buildings at Bastion 

Mews which is located in the city centre. The site has been acquired by the owners of The Shack 
Revolution and would create a mixed use independent quarter comprising new commercial 
floorspace and visitor accommodation. The scheme has been designed to be flexible and 
interchangeable and incorporates the introduction of pod structures as a replacement for existing 
dilapidated structures and alterations to existing buildings. The uses within the site would 
comprise a mixture of residential and commercial uses. Flexibility is sought for the commercial 
uses within the Class E of the Use Classes Order.  

 
6.62 The principle of the regeneration of this somewhat dilapidated site within a key location in the city 

centre is welcomed and the proposed uses are acceptable. The proposal will contribute towards 
the vitality and viability of the city centre and provide opportunities for existing businesses in the 
locality.  

 

77



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

6.63 The site does lie in a sensitive location from a heritage perspective and the scheme has been 
revised in response to concerns raised. Historic England and the Council’s Archaeological 
Advisor do not object, however the Building Conservation Officer has raised concerns and 
considers those would amount to ‘less than substantial harm’ to the character and appearance of 
the conservation area and the setting of heritage assets. For the reasons discussed in this report, 
officers do not share some of the concerns raised and consider any degree of harm to be less 
than has been identified. Notwithstanding this, there are a number of public benefits in respect of 
this scheme. Overall, it is considered the scheme meets the requirements of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Core Strategy Policy LD4 and government policy in 
terms of the impact on designated and non-designated heritage assets as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
6.64 Various other relevant considerations have been discussed in detail within this report. The design 

of the proposals is considered to accord with the requirements of SD1 of the Core Strategy and 
also includes various sustainability features. The Local Highway Authority raise no objection and 
therefore the proposal complies with Policy MT1 of the Core Strategy. An Appropriate 
Assessment has been undertaken in respect of Habitat Regulations and confirmation received 
that Natural England raise no objections. Various conditions have been attached to this 
recommendation in respect of ecology, drainage, transportation archaeology, land contamination 
and amenity.  

 
6.65  The recommendation in this instance is that this application is permitted, subject to the various 

conditions and informatives listed below.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other conditions 
considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.  

 
2. The development to the fire damaged area of No.3 Bastion Mews and to No.18 Union Street 

shall be carried out strictly in accordance with drawing numbers 1694 601 Rev B and 1694 
402 Rev C except where otherwise agreed in writing stipulated by conditions attached to 
this permission.  

 
Reason: To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interest of a satisfactory form 
of development and to comply with Policy SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

3. The siting, layout, scale and external finishes of the of the containers shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved plans and the schdeule of materials herein (drawing nos. 
1694 308 E, 1694 309 A and 1694 313) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure adherance to the approved plans and to protect the character, 
apperance and amenities of the area in accordance with the requirements of Policies SD1 
and LD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the advice contained within 
Chapters 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

78



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

4. The containers hereby permitted (drawing nos. 1694 308 E, 1694 309 A and 1694 313) shall 
be permenantly removed from the site at such time as they are no longer required for the 
uses hereby approved and the land restored to its former condition in accordance with 
details to be agreed in writing by the local planning authority beforehand, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: The containers hereby approved have been put forward as part of an overall 
scheme for the site’s redevelopment to provide flexibility for occupiers of the units. If they 
are not required for their original purpose, they shall be removed from the site, in the 
interests of the character of the area and amenity in accordance with Policies SD1 and LD4 
of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the advice contained within Chapters 
12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. The containers hereby permitted shall be used for purposes within Class E of the Use 
Classes Order 1987 (As Ameneded) and for no other purpose unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order to protect the character and amenity of the locality, to maintain the 
amenities of adjoining properties and to comply with Policies HD2 and SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy.  

 
Pre-commencement conditions 

 

6. No development shall take place until the following has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority: 
 
a) A ‘desk study’ report including previous and adjacent site uses, potential contaminants 

arising from those uses, possible sources, pathways, and receptors, a conceptual 
model and a risk assessment in accordance with current best practice.  

b) If the risk assessment in (a) confirms the possibility of significant pollutant linkage (s), 
a site investigation should be undertaken to characterise fully the nature and extent 
and severity of contamination, incorporating a conceptual model of all the potential 
pollutant linkages and an assessment of risk to identified receptors. 

c) If the risk assessment in (b) identifies unacceptable risk(s) a detailed scheme 
specifying remedial works and measures necessary to avoid risk from contaminants/or 
gases when the site is developed shall be submitted in writing. The Remediation 
Scheme shall include consideration of and proposals to deal with situations where, 
during works on site, contamination is encountered which has not previously been 
identified. Any further contamination encountered shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
written approval. 

 
Reason: In the interests of human health and to comply with policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
This information is required prior to the commencement of development as it relates to 
human health issues and the proposal is new build and situated on potentially 
contaminative uses. 

 
 
 

7. No phase of development shall commence until a Construction Materials and Site Waste 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The approved plan shall thereafter be adhered to throughout the construction 
period for that phase. The plan shall include, but is not limited to, the following matters: 

 site management arrangements, including on-site storage of materials, plant and 
machinery contractors compounds and other facilities; on-site parking and turning 

79



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

provision for site operatives, visitors and construction vehicles; and provision for 
the loading/unloading of plant and materials within the site; 

 a detailed construction waste management plan that identifies the main waste 
materials expected to be generated by the development during construction, 
together with measures for dealing with such materials so as to minimise waste 
and to maximise re-use, recycling and recovery 

 
Reason: The treatment and handling of any site waste is a necessary initial requirement 
before any demolition and groundworks are undertaken in the interests of pollution 
prevention and efficient waste minimization and management so as to comply with the 
Policy SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy. 

 
8. No work on site shall take place until a detailed design and method statement for the 

foundation design and all new groundworks has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority.  The development hereby approved shall only take 
place in accordance with the detailed scheme approved pursuant to this condition. 
 
Reason: The development affects a site on which archaeologically significant remains 
survive and a design solution is sought to minimise archaeological disturbance through a 
sympathetic foundation design in order to comply with the requirements of Policy LD4 of 
the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
The commencement of development in advance of such approval could result in 
irreparable harm to any identified heritage asset.   

 
9. No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological survey and recording [to include recording of the standing 
historic fabric and any below ground deposits affected by the works].  This programme 
shall be in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted 
by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority and shall be in accordance 
with a brief prepared by the County Archaeology Service. 
 
Reason: To allow for recording of the building/site during or prior to development and to 
comply with the requirements of Policy LD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy. The brief will inform the scope of the recording action and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. The commencement of development in advance of such approval could 
result in irreparable harm to any identified heritage asset.  
 

10. No development shall commence until a drainage scheme for the site has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide for 
the disposal of foul water. Thereafter the scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the occupation of the development and no further foul water 
shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system.  
 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment. 
 
Other Conditions 
 

11. The Remediation Scheme, as approved pursuant to condition no. (3) shall be fully 
implemented before the development is first occupied. On completion of the remediation 
scheme the developer shall provide a validation report to confirm that all works were 
completed in accordance with the agreed details, which must be submitted and agreed in 
writing before the development is first occupied. Any variation to the scheme including 
the validation reporting shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of works being undertaken.  

80



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

Reason: In the interests of human health and to comply with policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

12. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained 
written approval from the local planning authority for, an amendment to the Method 
Statement detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. 
 
Reason: In the interests of human health and to comply with policy SD1 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

13. Delivery vehicles larger than a LWB Transit type van shall not enter the site. Deliveries 
larger than a LWB Transit type van shall take place from the loading bay on Union Street. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform to the requirements of Policy 
MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 

14. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted full details of a scheme for 
the provision of covered and secure cycle parking facilities for both the residential and 
commercial/visitor elements of the development shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for their written approval. The covered and secure cycle parking facilities shall 
be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details and available for use prior to 
the first use of the development hereby permitted. Thereafter these facilities shall be 
maintained. 
 

Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for secure cycle accommodation 
within the application site, encouraging alternative modes of transport in accordance with 
both local and national planning policy and to conform with the requirements of Policies 
SD1 and MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

15. No noise generating plant nor equipment shall be installed to the exterior of the proposal 
without 
agreement from the local authority in writing. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of occupiers of nearby properties so as to comply 
with Policies SS6 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

16. No surface water from any increase in the roof area of the building /or impermeable 
surfaces shall be allowed to drain directly or indirectly to the public sewerage system.  
 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment. 

 
17. All foul water shall discharge to the local Welsh Water mains sewer network managed 

through the Hereford (Eign) Wastewater Treatment Works unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to comply with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, as amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) 
Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC 
Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD2 and SD4. 

 

81



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

18. All surface water created by the development shall discharge to on-site Sustainable 
Drainage Systems unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to comply with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, as amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) 
Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC 
Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD2 and SD3 
 
 

19. Prior to any new construction work above foundation level commencing a detailed scheme 
and annotated location plan for proposed biodiversity net gain enhancement features 
including provision of ‘fixed’ habitat features such as habitat boxes supporting bird 
nesting (including provision for Swifts), bat roosting features and pollinator homes must 
be supplied to and approved in writing by the local authority. The approved scheme shall 
be implemented in full and hereafter maintained as approved unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that all protected species are considered and habitats enhanced having 
regard to The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as amended by the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the 
‘Habitats Regulations’), Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, National Planning Policy 
Framework, NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy (2015) policies 
SS1, SS6 LD1, LD2 and LD3.  

 
 
INFORMATIVES: 
 

1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other material 
considerations, including any representations, including any representations that have 
been received. It has subsequently determined to grant planning permission in 
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
2. The site is within an Area of Archaeological Importance designated under the Ancient 

Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979.  The effects of this are that notice is 
required of any proposed operations which will disturb the ground.  An Operations Notice 
and accompanying Certificate should be served on Herefordshire Council prior to the 
commencement of such operations. 

 

3. The applicant is advised that the proposed development affects the site of a Scheduled 
Ancient Monument.  Section 2 of the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 
1979 requires the developer to obtain Scheduled Monument Consent from the Secretary 
of State for Culture, Media and Sport before development commences.  The Scheduled 
Monument Consent Branch can be contacted at 2-4 Cockspur Street, London, SW1Y 5DH.  
It is an offence to execute or permit to be execute any works resulting in the demolition or 
destruction of or any damage to a Scheduled Monument. 

 

4. The Authority would advise the applicant (and their contractors) that they have a legal Duty 
of Care as regards wildlife protection. The majority of UK wildlife is subject to some level 
of legal protection through the Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 as amended), with 
enhanced protection for special “protected species” such as all Bat species, Great Crested 
Newts, Badgers and other wildlife that are present and widespread across the County. All 
nesting birds are legally protected from disturbance at any time of the year. Care should 
be taken to plan work and at all times of the year undertake the necessary precautionary 
checks and develop relevant working methods prior to work commencing. If in any doubt 
it advised that further advice from a local professional ecology consultant is obtained. 

82



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
5. The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the 

public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public 
sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting 
property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a 
mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water 
Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also conform to the 
Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains, and conform with 
the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further information can be obtained 
via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com 
 
 

6. The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be 
recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and 
were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for 
Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. The presence of such assets may affect the 
proposal. In order to assist us in dealing with the proposal the applicant may contact Dwr 
Cymru Welsh Water. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights 
of access to its apparatus at all times. 

 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 
  

83



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Chloe Smart on 01432 260139 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  210796   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  BASTION MEWS, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 2BT 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

84



 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 17 November 2021 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

202566 - INSTALLATION OF COMBINED HEAT AND POWER 
UNIT AND GREEN STORAGE CONTAINER. 
RETROSPECTIVE.    AT MUCH FAWLEY FARM, FAWLEY 
CHAPEL ROAD, FAWLEY, HEREFORD, HR1 4SP 
 
For: Mr Green per Mr James Whilding, Addlepool Business 
Centre, Woodbury Road, Clyst St George, Exeter, Devon EX3 
0NR 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202566 

 

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee – Redirection  

 
Date Received: 6 August 2020 Ward: Old Gore  Grid Ref: 358999,229725 
Expiry Date: 19th November 2021   
Local Members: Cllr Barry A Durkin 

 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
 Introduction  
 
1.1 This planning application was submitted on the 2nd September 2020 and is a resubmission 

following the refusal of application 181118. The application seeks retrospective permission for 
the installation of a combined heat and power unit (CHP) and green storage container within the 
main farm complex of Much Fawley Farm. 

 
1.2 For clarification, application 181118 was refused on the 22nd May 2020 for the following reasons: 
 

1. The application site lies within the River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and the 
nature of the proposal triggers the requirement for a Habitat Regulations Assessment to be 
undertaken. Under the Regulations, there is a requirement to establish with certainty, and 
beyond all reasonable scientific doubt, that there will not be any adverse effect on the integrity 
of the River Wye SAC. Insufficient information has been submitted with the application to 
demonstrate that the development would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the 
River Wye SAC. As a result, the proposal cannot undertake a positive Appropriate 
Assessment as required by The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 and 
is hence contrary to Policies LD2 and SD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy, the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and the guidance set out at 
Paragraphs 174-177 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2. Insufficient information has been submitted to determine the impacts of the development with 

regards to noise and nuisance on the nearby receptors. From the information provided the 
noise and nuisance which is generated by the proposal is present 24 hours a day and the 

85

AGENDA ITEM 7

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202566


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

proposal does not provide any appropriate scheme which would allow for acceptable living 
conditions for the nearby residential properties. As such, the proposal is contrary to CS policy 
SD1 and SD2 in that it has not been demonstrated that the development will not have an 
adverse impact on the residential amenity of nearby residential properties. Furthermore no 
evidence has been provided that the chosen design and siting of the CHP unit has been 
chosen to minimise the impact on neighbouring properties.  The application is therefore 
considered to be contrary to polices SD1 and SD2 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. Insufficient information has been provided in relation to the impacts of the development on air 

quality to enable the Local Planning Authority to determine the impacts of the development, 
individually or cumulatively on the surrounding area and nearby receptors. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be contrary to paragraphs 180 and 181 of the Framework which seeks 
to minimise the impact of pollution upon health living conditions and policies SD1 and SD2 of 
the CS which seek to encourage sustainable development which does not contribute to 
adverse impacts arising from air contamination and which promote health and wellbeing, The 
application is therefore contrary to policies SD1 and SD2 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core 
Strategy and the National  Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Site description  

 
1.3 Much Fawley Farm is located within the in the Parish of Brockhampton and Much Fawley in south 

Herefordshire. The farm is located around half way between the small settlements of Kings Cable 
and How Caple, and is within the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). Much 
Fawley is located around 5km north of the centre of the Market Town of Ross on Wye. The farm 
along with several separate residential properties are accessed from the unclassified 70016 
highway which runs south of the C1262 and terminates at the farm. The public footpath BKR1A 
also passes directly along the southern boundary of the site. 

 
1.4 As well as the residential properties, there is also the Grade II* Listed Chapel of St John which is 

located approximately 140m to the south west of the application site. Much Fawley Farmhouse is 
also Grade II Listed. 

  
1.5 The River Wye SAC is located approximately 204m from the boundaries of the farm to the south. 

There is also a small stretch of ancient woodland which runs along the norther banks of the river 
known as Bayton’s Grove which is located 250m to the south west of the site.  

 
1.6. At the centre of the farms operations is an Anaerobic Digester (AD) plant which was granted 

planning permission under application 091387 on the 2nd September 2009. The farm did have a 
dairy herd which extended to around 250 cows which fed into the AD plant. However, the herd 
was recently sold in September 2020 and at the current time the holding appears to consist of 
arable land, where crops are grown to feed into an anaerobic digester (AD) plant. The holding 
also has 3 poultry units located to the north of the farm complex, the manure of which is fed into 
the AD plant. It is noted that the plant is not currently running at full capacity. 

 
1.7 The AD plant is operated under an Environment Permitting Regulations (EPR) waste permit which 

is regulated by the Environment Agency. The EA are currently considering a variation to the 
permit to incorporate the installation of the second CHP which is the subject of this planning 
application. The EA permit application confirms that the CHP, which is the subject of this 
application, will only be used  whilst  the primary CHP, which was permitted as part of the original 
AD application, is shut down for routine maintenance or in the event the primary CHP breaks 
down.  

 
 
 
 

86



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
  

Proposal 
 
1.8 This application seeks retrospective permission for a Combined Heat and Power (CHP) unit  and 

storage container only. There was a CHP unit allowed as part of the original AD permission, and 
as such the one under consideration in this application comprises a second back up CHP for the 
site. For clarification, the AD plant catches the methane gas off the manure and crops which are 
fed into the plant. A CHP unit is then used to generate electricity from the gas simultaneously to 
be used across the farm, with any surplus sent to the national grid. The original CHP is located 
between the biogas digester tanks and will continue to form the primary unit on the site. 

 

 
ATSS – Bund Calculations 01180-00-F dated 8.2.18 

 
1.9 This permission seek retrospective planning permission for the additional CHP unit which has 

been installed on the site. The CHP has been installed within a ‘shipping’ style container 
measuring 2.4m by 3.6m with a height of 2.4m. There is a flue attached to the unit which stands 
3m above that of the unit. The additional storage container which also forms part of the application 
is shown in position B on the plan above. The container is used as general storage in connection 
with the AD plant, with a workbench with vice and general everyday tools. 

 

 

87



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

Green CHP Container – 59211-PL1 date 1.6.2018 
 
1.10 According to the information supplied on the supporting covering letter from Acorus the additional 

CHP was installed to provide a back up to that of the authorised unit. However, the letter states 
that the unit has been used as the primary CHP unit over recent times leading up to the 
submission whilst the original CHP was being fixed. In the summer of 2021 once the original CHP 
was back up running, the CHP under consideration was switched off. The covering letter confirms 
that only one unit runs at any one time. 

 
1.11 This submission has been updated during the course of the application to reflect the queries in 

respect of noise mitigation and a proposed landscape scheme. Further periods of consultation 
have been undertaken.  

 
1.12 For clarification the application was submitted with the following plans and documents:  

 Covering letter dated  5th August 2020 from Acorus 

 Site Plan – Promapv2  

 Green CHP container 59211-PL1 date 01.06.2018 

 Bund Calculations 01180-00-F 2 dated 8.2.2018 

 Assessment on Airborne Emissions. By AS Modelling & data Ltd dated 7th July 2020 

 5 x Photographs of JHP unit installed 

 Noise Impact Assessment E&J dated 29/01/2018 
 
1.13 During the application the following information was submitted: 

 Site Plan with Services 01180-00-F Dated 8.2.18 

 Noise Barrier Construction NO1a – 11th March 2021 

 Landscaping Plan – 050/210 Rev 1 dated 28.9.2021 

 Supporting letter from Thrings Solicitors dated 5.10.21 

 Landscape Plan 050-210 rev B dated 3.10.2021 

 Landscape Maintenance and Management Plan by Steele Landscape Design dated 
November 2021 

 
Planning enforcement at the site 
 

1.14 It is noted that the original application 181181 was the result of Council Enforcement Officers 
investigating complaints of noise. Following the refusal of application 181181 in line with the 
reasons outlined above, an Enforcement Notice was served on the applicant in connection with 
the CHP on the 26/01/21. The matter which appear to constitute the breach of planning control is 
listed on the enforcement notice as ‘without planning permission unauthorised operational 
development to install a combined heat and power unit within a storage building’. From the 
information obtained through a Planning Contravention Notice the CHP was first operated on the 
2/2/2017 and therefore would have become lawful through the passage of time had the 
Enforcement Notice not have been served. This date was also stated on the application form 
relating to this application 

 
1.15 The applicant lodged an appeal on the 25/02/2021 against the Enforcement Notice. The appeal 

was lodged on ground a) that planning permission should be granted for what is alleged on the 
notice. The appeal is due to be heard by public enquiry on the 7th December 2021. The appeal 
was lodged on three grounds:  

 
Ground a) - That planning permission should be granted for what is alleged in the notice 
Ground d)  - That, at the time the enforcement notice was issues, it was too late to take         

enforcement action against the matters stated;  
Ground  g)  - The time given to comply with the notice is too short 

 
The appeal documents can be seen online using the reference numbers 210938 and 210939 (the 
appeals are linked).  

88



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
1.16 The AD plant was granted permission under application DCSE2009/1296/N (091387) on the 28th 

August 2009 and was subject to a number of planning conditions.  The application and associated 
documents can be viewed on the Council website through the link below: 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/d
etails?id=091387&search-term=DCSE0009/1296/N 

 
 
2. Policies  
 
2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy (CS) 2015 

   

 
SS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
SS6 - Environmental quality and local distinctiveness  
SS7 - Addressing climate change 
RA6 - Rural economy  
MT1 - Traffic Management, highway safety and promoting active travel  
LD1 - Landscape and townscape 
LD2 - Biodiversity and geodiversity 
LD4 - Historic environment and heritage assets 
SD1 - Sustainable Design and energy efficiency  
SD2 - Renewable and low carbon energy 
SD3 - Sustainable water management and water resources 
SD4 - Waste water treatment and river water quality  

 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the 
2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review 
of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan 
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated 
as necessary.  The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015 
and a review was required to be completed before 15 October 2020. The decision to review the 
Core Strategy was made on 9th November 2020. The level of consistency of the policies in the 
local plan with the NPPF will be taken into account by the Council in deciding any application. 
 
The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary 
planning documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy 

 
2.2 Brockhampton with Much Fawley Neighbourhood Development Plan (BMNDP) is currently 

being drafted and carries no weight at the current time. 
 
2.3  National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) – Relevant Chapters:  
 

2. Achieving sustainable development  
4. Decision-making  
6. Building a strong, competitive economy 
8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 
9. Promoting sustainable transport 
10. Supporting high quality communities 
11. Making Effective use of land 
12. Achieving well-designed places 
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  

 

89

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

2.4 National Planning PractIce Guidance (NPPG)   
 
Of particular relevance:  
 

 Guidance on options for amending planning permission can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flexible-options-for-planning-permissions 

 
 Guidance on Environmental Impact Assessment can be found at  
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment 
 
 Guidance on Noise can be found at  
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/noise--2 
 
 Guidance on the use of Habitat Regulation Assessment:  
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appropriate-assessment 
 
3. Planning History 
 
3.1 203189 Provision of a digestate store. Refused 28/1/2021 Enforcement notice 

served on the 20/10/2021 
 
3.2 192789 Provision of a digestate store. Withdrawn -28/5/2020 
 
3.3 181118 Retrospective installation of combined heat and power unit and green storage 

container. REFUSED 22/5/2020. Enforcement notice served and appealed against, 
reference 210938 and 210939. These appeals have been linked and are due to be considered at  
Public Inquiry on the 7th December 2021 

 
3.4 DCSE2009/1296/N (091387) Change of use of land and installation of two anaerobic digester 

units and associated process building; extension of existing agricultural building. Approved 
2/9/2009 with conditions discharged on the 10/6/2010 

 
4. Consultation Summary 
 

Statutory Consultations 
 
4.1 Natural England Comments: No objection 
 

 Full comments can be viewed on the Council website through the link below: 
 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_se
arch/details?id=202566&search-term=202566 

 
Summary of comments - Your appropriate assessment concludes that the proposal will not 
result in adverse effects on the integrity of the sites in question. Natural England is agrees 
with the assessment conclusions. 

 
4.2  Environment Agency Comments: No objection 

 
Comments received on the 9th November 2020, summary given below with full comments 
available through the link below: 
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_applications
earch/details?id=202566&search-term=202566 

 
Summary 

90

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flexible-options-for-planning-permissions
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/noise--
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appropriate-assessment
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202566&search-term=202566
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202566&search-term=202566
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_applicationsearch/details?id=202566&search-term=202566
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_applicationsearch/details?id=202566&search-term=202566


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 

 The current site is regulated by us under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (EPR) 
via a ‘Bespoke’ Environmental Permit.  

 It has now been established that a ‘variation’ to the existing Bespoke Permit will be 
necessary for the additional new CHP (emission point) and the applicant will need to 
undertake air quality modelling which will be reviewed by us as part of that permit application 
review process. We would also undertake a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) in our 
role as competent authority at that time. 

 We would encourage the ‘twin tracking’ of the EP, with the aim of encouraging more 
comprehensive submissions and thereby more informed, and speedier decisions i.e. more 
detailed information should be available to enable sufficient consideration of key land use 
issues and so assist in your determination of the planning application. 

 
Internal Council Consultations 

 
4.3 Team Leader Area Engineer (Highways) comments: No objection 

 
It is noted that this application is an amended resubmission of application number 181118. 
The LHA did not object to this application, and consistent with that response there are no 
highways objections to this proposal. 

 
4.4 Principal Natural Environment Officer (Landscape) comments: Qualified comments 
 
4.4.1 Comments received 12th April 2021 

 
The proposed noise walling and screening to resolve a development not well sited, 
designed and coloured is exacerbating the visual harm to a rural landscape setting, located 
in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The development impacts neighbouring 
properties (including a listed building) and users of a public footpath. From a wider visual 
impact, there may be long distance impacts in relation to key receptors in the ANOB. This 
would need to be clarified with a visual impact assessment. 

 
The development and associated infrastructure requires substantial landscape to mitigate 
the visual impact, or for the development to be relocated, or removed to resolve the impact.  

 
The landscape mitigation would need to have an instant impact, with the planting of heavy 
standard trees, and specifications of hedges and planting to be of a considerable size.  

 
The facilities and associated infrastructure (walls and screening etc.), would need to be 
modified and coloured to make them less of obvious (i.e. yellow tends to stand out in the 
landscape).         

 
4.4.2 Comments received 28th October 2021 in response to Landscape Plan 
 

The trees and hedgerow that have been proposed against the existing concrete are aimed to 
mitigate visual harm. In principle this is a reasonable proposal and addresses concerns raised in 
my previous comments. However, what is difficult to ascertain is the actual effectiveness and long 
term sustainability of this proposal. The trees are planted extremely close to the wall and will most 
likely inhibit growth and form, and impact the integrity of the wall foundation. The hedgerow is 
drawn at varying widths, and appears too narrow in places to establish an effective screen. The 
distance from the hedge to the public footpath appears close, and may restrict the use of the path 
if not managed. 

 
Generally, to gain a reasonable density and a depth of hedge to create a convincing screen, there 
will need to be width allowance of 2-2.5m to allow the flourishment of growth, typical of hedges, 

91



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

and to give sufficient depth when there is no leaf coverage. It is also recommended that the 
applicant consider climber plants along the base of the wall to expedite the greening process.  

 
To ensure compliance with Policy LD1 it is recommended that the following condition relating to 
the landscape management, implementation and monitoring is included. 

 
Condition – Landscape Management Implementation and monitoring 
The landscaping scheme as shown on approved Landscape Plan 050-210 shall be completed no 
later than the first planting season following the date of the decision. A planting zone of minimum 
2-2.5m shall be provided, with trees planted at minimum 2.5m from the base of the concrete wall. 
The landscaping shall be maintained for a period of 10 years. During this time, any trees, shrubs 
or other plants which are removed, die or which are seriously damaged shall be replaced during 
the next planting season with others of similar sizes and species unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation.  
 
In addition no later than the 1st April in each of the 5 calendar years following the first planting of 
the hedgerow and trees as shown on plan 050-210, the operator of the AD plant shall submit to 
the Local Planning Authority a written statement detailing: 
a) The number, location and species of plants, shrubs and trees which have been planted, in the 
preceding 12 months; 
a) The number, location and species of plants, shrubs and trees which have died, become 
diseased or seriously damaged in the preceding 12 month; and  
b) Proposals for the replanting and maintenance of any such failures with plants of similar size 
and species within the following 6 months. 
 
Reason: In order to maintain the visual amenities of the area and to confirm with policy LD1 of 
the Herefordshire local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework 

 
 
4.5 Principal Natural Environment Officer (Ecology) comments: No objection 
 

The site is within approx. 200m of the River Wye SAC and a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment process is triggered by this retrospective application. The appropriate 
assessment completed by the LPA must be subject to a ‘no objection’ response from Natural 
England PRIOR to any grant of planning consent. The Natural England response should 
also confirm they have ‘no objection’ in respect of any effects on Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest 
 
HRA completed on the 21/12/2020 with conclusion No adverse effect subject to condition 
securing the use of only one CHP on site at any one time. 
 
The air emissions report also provides modelling that demonstrates there are no emission 
or associated deposition likey to have an adverse effect on the nature conservation status 
of any Site of Special Scientific Interest or recorded area of ancient woodland. 
 
The local wildlife site - Bayton Grove approx. 50m south of the development is not recorded 
for any features that are directly air emission sensitive and the area of this LWS recorded 
as ancient woodland is not  indicated as a receptor for emissions at a level that any adverse 
effect is likely. 
 
Based on the supplied information there are no ecology objections to this application, 
subject to the HRA process and requested condition. 
 
 
 
 

92



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

HRA Screening Report 
 

 
Assessment of ‘Likely Significant Effects’ on: 

☒ River Wye Catchment SAC 

☐ Forest of Dean & Wye Valley Bat SAC (Wigpool Iron Mines SSSI) 

☐ River Clun SAC 

☐ Downton Gorge SAC (SSSI-NNR) 

☐ Other site (SSSI-NNR): 

 
Likely significant effects identified on initial Screening Assessment: 

☐ Foul water 

☐ Surface water 

☒ Emissions 

☐ Construction or Demolition processes 

☐ Other: 

 

Appropriate Assessment information, discussion and proposed mitigation measures: 
 
The following points are noted as part of the HRA process: 

 The applicant has confirmed that the CHP unit subject to this application is to replace the 
existing (fully approved) unit. The original unit will remain on site as a back-up system. This 
can be secured by condition on any planning consent granted. 

 The applicant has confirmed that at no time will both CHP units be operated at the same 
time. 

 The supplied air emissions assessment is therefore purely based on outputs from the CHP 
unit subject to this application. 

 The Air Emissions Assessment by AS Modelling and Data Ltd dated 7th July 2020 refers. 

 It is noted that there are no records of Jelly Lichens within the area of the River Wye subject 
to influence from this application. 

 The emissions assessment indicates that there are no deposition levels in respect of the 
River Wye SAC such that any adverse effect on the River Wye SAC is likely. 

☒ Supporting documents: (this can be viewed at: 

https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=0080c003-ecf4-11ea-a466-0050569f00ad 
 
 

202566 Much 

Fawley Farm CHP air emissions report July 2020.pdf
 

 
Recommended Planning Conditions to secure appropriate mitigation: 
 
River Wye SAC – Habitat Regulations: CHP operations 
At no time shall more than one CHP unit be in operation and discharging any air emissions within 
the Much Fawley Farm holding without the prior written approval of the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), National 
Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies 
SS1, SS6 and LD2. 
 

93

https://myaccount.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents?id=0080c003-ecf4-11ea-a466-0050569f00ad


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

CONCLUSION:  

☒ NO adverse effects on the integrity of the Special Area of Conservation; subject to appropriate 

mitigation being secured. Habitat Regulations 2017, Part 6, section 63(5) 
 
 
Appropriate Assessment completed by: Ecology (J Bisset) 21/12/2020 

Checked and submitted to Natural England: RJ  

Dated: 22/12/2020 

 
4.6 Environmental Health Service Manager (Noise / Nuisance) comments: No objection 

subject to mitigation 
 

26th October 2020 
 
4.6.1 This site is permitted by the Environment Agency and ultimately it is the Agency that regulates 

emissions to air, land and water. Our department has previously requested that the applicant 
supply a noise assessment using the methodology contained in BS4142 which measures the 
impact of industrial noise at the closest sensitive receptors. 

 
We visited the site on 1st October 2020 and witnessed the noise generated by the plant 
associated with the anaerobic digester including pumps and fans from the existing previously 
approved operation. 

  
This proposal is for the installation of a back-up combined heat and power unit (CHP) and green 
storage container. It is not intended that the CHP will run in combination with the main CHP as it 
is a back up. It is the cooling fans on the CHP running at higher temperatures together with the 
gas pumps which generates the noise. An existing concrete block wall at height partially blocks 
out some of the noise but there is a direct line of transmission from the noise generating plant – 
the fans on the back up CHP and gas pumps to the closest houses to the south. The plant 
operating at the farm is a 24 hour operation. 

 
The BS4142 assessment finds that at these 2 closest houses there is a significant excess of the 
noise rating over the background noise levels during the day (table 1) and by deduction also at 
night time. The noise consultant has proposed to extend the existing concrete wall which already 
has steel uprights in place so as to further block out the noise in figure 7 which would bring the 
assessment level below an anticipated background noise level. By deduction there would also be 
a significant benefit at night time. 

 
The consultant concludes that if the concrete wall is extended as shown in Figure 7 to a 3.6m 
height then sufficient noise mitigation will be achieved. However, I have discussed this proposal 
with the applicant and they have raised concerns that the existing uprights may not be strong 
enough to support the weight of concrete in high winds and could pose a safety issue. 

 
In view of the above, please be advised that our department does not object to this proposal so 
long as the following condition is placed on any approval. 

 
The applicant shall erect a noise barrier which raises the height of the existing wall to a minimum 
of 3.6 meters as shown in Figure 7 of the Matrix noise impact statement dated 18th August 2020. 
The details of the noise barrier shall be submitted to the local authority in writing for approval. The 
objective of the barrier is to achieve a minimum sound reduction of at least 15dB. 

 
4.6.2 Comments received on the 18th May 2021 
 

94



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

Further to our comments of 29th October the applicant has submitted an alternative proposal for 
a noise barrier at Much Fawley Farm. This is accompanied by a technical note dated 11th March 
2021.  

 
The proposed barrier is in the same location as that proposed in figure 2 of the noise report of 
18th August 2020 which blocks out a direct line of sight to the two dwellings most impacted by 
noise from the CHP gas pumps and cooling system, save that it is proposed that the built noise 
barrier be built up with 22mm timber panels. Our department would have no objections to this 
proposal for noise mitigation with different construction material although we would have concerns 
that the proposed timber fencing would require regular checking and maintenance to ensure its 
effectiveness. 

 
However I understand that there are objections to the proposed barrier extensions on landscaping 
grounds and that the existing concrete barrier already in place does not have planning permission. 
The existing and proposed noise barrier are necessary in the absence of any other proposal for 
noise mitigation to avoid adverse impacts on neighbours. 

 
I refer to the Matrix Acoustics report of 18th August 2020 regarding the noise survey undertaken 
on 11th and 12th August in this regard. The noise survey was undertaken with the back-up CHP 
proposal in operation with cooling fans running which the surveyor identified as being clearly 
audible above the general noise environment at the closest residential dwellings.  

 
The noise consultant identified that the existing 3.6m high concrete wall provided significant 
shielding of noise from the CHP unit at monitoring point position C approximately 140o  south 
east of the site effectively acting as an existing barrier between the CHP and Selbourne’s and 
Selbourne’s holiday cottages.. The report advising that the existing noise barrier acted as 
significant shielding attenuation.  

 
The noise report measured noise levels at position 1 up the lane leading to Fawley beyond 
Leybournes house in approximately 190o north west and also at position 2 on the lane between 
the bottom of the garden at Tremelza and in front of The Lodge. At position 1 some distance from 
Much Fawley Farm and the CHP the consultant identified the location to be very quiet with plant 
noise just audible on occasion. (They were not able to confirm that it was the CHP.) 

 
Background noise measurements (LA90) at position 2 were considerably higher than those taken 
further away from the farm at positions 1 and 3. These measurements would have included all 
the farm noise plus the CHP, being around 50dB LAeq. Spot noise measurements were taken in 
front of the Lodge of the CHP with the cooling fans in operation of LAeq 46dB and 42dB LAeq 
without. When the CHP was not functioning and the majority of the plant at the farm was not 
operating at the end of the day, background noise levels at position 2 dropped to 35 LA90.  

 
To undertake the BS4142 assessment the noise consultant used the 35dB LA90 as background 
day time noise and used a night time 30dB LA90 background noise levels. Without the proposed 
attenuation of the extension of the barrier shielding the CHP the assessment levels (ie the 
different between the rating level and background noise level) without the cooling fans on was 
between 6 and 9dB and with the cooling fans on between 15 and 18dB.  

 
The noise consultant identified in table 1 that the noise assessment therefore indicated an 
adverse impact for the CHP in operation and a significant adverse impact with the cooling fans 
on. The proposed fencing mitigation would have sufficiently changed the noise assessment at 
position 2 to very low.  

 
The lack of a noise barrier as recommended in the noise report leaves receptors at Tremelza and 
The Lodge at the risk of severe adverse impacts from the cooling fans from the CHP and adverse 
impacts when the fans are not running. The removal of the existing has not been discussed in the 
report but will no doubt have some impact at Seabournes.  

95



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
Should the proposal for the extended noise barrier not be deemed acceptable for landscaping 
reasons and the applicant not be able to propose alternative forms of noise mitigation, our 
department will withdraw our no objection comment and is likely to object to the CHP remaining 
in situ where it is without alternative attenuation.  

 
4.7 Environmental Health Service Manager (Air Quality) comments: No objection 
 

I note that the site is not within/ adjacent to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). 
 

I refer to the Air Quality Report conducted by AS Modelling & Data Ltd dated July 2020 for the 
site Much Fawley Farm (planning application 202566). 

 
I note that a dispersion modelling was undertaken to assess the impact of air borne emissions 
from the combined heat and power unit. 

 
As concluded in the Air Quality Report, the results indicated that the Air Quality Objectives will 
not be exceeded at any sensitive receptor locations. As such on the basis of the supplied 
information I have no adverse comments to make in relation to air quality. 

 
4.8 Public Rights of Way Manager Comments: No objection 
 
4.9 Land Drainage comments: No objection 
  

Surface Water Flood Risk 
Review of the EA’s Risk of Flooding from Surface Water map indicates that the site is not at risk 
of surface water flooding. 

 
Other Considerations and Sources of Flood Risk 
Review of the EA’s Groundwater map indicates that the site is not located within a designated 
Source Protection Zone or Principal Aquifer. 

 
Representations from local residents indicate that there is a significant nuisance caused by 
drainage being pumped over the banks of the Wye. 

 
Surface Water Drainage 
The applicant proposes the installation of a CHP unit and a green storage container on the site. 
The photographs provided show that the units have been positioned on areas within the yard, 
comprised of existing hardstanding. The applicant has also provided a document titled “existing 
drainage provisions” which appears to show that the hardstanding is drained via a small area of 
French drain along the northern side of the yard but indicates no specific surface water drainage 
features for the proposed containers and hardstanding on which they are positioned. 

 
It is important to note that the site levels fall away from the French drain, so the area of hard 
standing on which the new units are to be positioned does not appear to have any surface water 
drainage in place. 

 
Given the small area that the containers cover (<15m2), and their position on an existing area of 
hard standing, it is deemed unlikely that there will be a resulting increase in surface water at the 
site. 

 
Foul Water Drainage 
The proposed building has no foul drainage and so no foul drainage strategy is required. 

 
Overall Comment 
In principle, we have no objections to the proposed plans 

96



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Brockhampton and Much Fawley Group Parish Council: Awaiting comments 
 
5.2 Letters of objections have been received from: 
 

 Marches Planning (on behalf of local residents) 
o 23rd March 2021 
o 17th September 2021 

 Mrs P Yardley – The Lodge, Fawley, Hereford (2nd February 2021) 

 Ms F Baker – Seabourns, Fawley, Hereford HR1 4SP (21st February 2021) 

 Mr R Palgrave – Caple Lee, How Caple, Hereford, HR1 47E (3rd March 2021) 
 

The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 
link:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/d
etails?id=202566&search-term=202566 

 
5.3 These letters raised the following matters: 
 

 Concerns regarding pollution to the River Wye from excessively pumped water into the river, 
which is not only causing water pollution but damage to trees and wildlife 

 Site is not currently being run properly or efficiently and is detrimental to the amenity of the 
surrounding residents and environment 

 Current site is extremely noisy especially at night time 

 Offensive smells and odours is an ongoing occurrence at the site making local residents fell 
nauseous and is distressing 

 Increasing traffic along Much Fawley lane 

 Application lacks information or justification for the development especailly now dairy herd 
has been sold 

 Reports and submissions do not reflect what is experienced on site 

 Concerns over the impact the development has on near by residents health 

 Windows cannot be opened due to the odour form the site 

 No thought as to the positon of the CHP with regards to residents 

 The site continues to be detrimental to the banks of the River Wye 

 The development has changed significantly over the years and is no longer compliant with 
how it was originally permitted 

 Dairy operations have ceased and concerns that slurry is being brought from off site which 
is not in accordance with the Method Statement which was approved under the original 
application 

 No longer a justification for AD plant given that the Dairy herd is no longer there 

 Project falls within schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 

 The site is within an impact risk zone for the River Wye SAC, and as such an assessment is 
required for air quality impacts, for any liquid discharges and for any large development 
requiring its own water supply 

 Concerns with regards to the management of surface water from the site and potential 
contaminations with digestate and silage effluent 

 Proposal should not be treated in isolation from the wider development as a whole which 
has severe impacts on the environment and the amenity of neighbours. 

 

 
Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

97

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202566&search-term=202566
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202566&search-term=202566
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 
6.1  This planning application was submitted on the 2nd September 2020 and is a resubmission of 

application 181118. The application seeks retrospective planning permission for the installation 
of a combined heat and power unit (CHP) and green storage container with in the main farm 
complex of Much Fawley Farm only. 

 
  Planning background  
 
6.2  As noted above and within the representations received, there has been ongoing enforcement 

investigation at the site in recent years in connection with the AD plant and the original application. 
The AD plant was granted permission under application DCSE2009/1296/N (091387) on the 28th 
August 2009 and was subject to a number of planning conditions.  The application and associated 
documents can be viewed on the Council website through the link below: 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/d
etails?id=091387&search-term=DCSE0009/1296/N 

 
6.3  Officers can confirm that under application DCSE2009/1296/N all pre-commencement conditions 

were approved in writing by the LPA on the 10th June 2010. The Applicant has confirmed and 
provided evidence that the AD plant became operational on the 8th March 2011. The ERP waste 
permit however did not get approval from the EA until January 2012. There were a number of 
changes and additions which were required under the permit, most notably the addition of a 3m 
high silage pit wall along the site perimeter which was constructed in August 2014 and relocation 
of the underground gas holder. These matter was brought to the Councils attention in recent 
representations submitted as part of the application.  
 

6.4  A breach of planning control becomes “immune” from planning enforcement action if no such 
action has been taken within certain time limits. A breach of planning control which has obtained 
immunity by the passage of time also becomes lawful for planning purposes. In this instance 
officers are of the opinion that these elements are now immune from planning enforcement due 
to the passage of time.  

 
6.5  Representation received have also questioned if the AD plant was installed as approved. Officers 

have not been provided or found any evidence that the original permission was not installed and 
operated as approved prior to the EA permit application approval in January 2012. The permission 
was clearly commenced within 5 years as required by condition 1 and from the information 
submitted to the LPA the installation of the two AD units and associated process building, as 
described in the description of the development has been built and operated since the 8th March 
2011. Whilst officers have carefully considered the arguments contained within the 
representations on this matter, officers are unable to conclude that the AD plant is not lawfully 
implemented and therefore unlawful development for which enforcement action could be taken.  
Therefore for the purposes of this application, officers are satisfied that there is a lawful use of 
the site as an AD plant. This application must therefore be considered in this context.  

 
  Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
6.6  The original proposal for the AD plant was screened by the Local Planning Authority on the 21st 

April 2009 under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 1999. The development did not fall within Schedule 1 of the Regulations, 
but within Schedule 2. The conclusion of the screening opinion was that despite the site being 
within the Wye Valley AONB, the proposal did not require an Environmental Statement due to its 
size and capacity. 

 
6.7  Under the current Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 

2017 Anaerobic Digesters fall under Schedule 2 3 (a) Industrial installations for the production of 

98

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=091387&search-term=DCSE0009/1296/N
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=091387&search-term=DCSE0009/1296/N


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

electricity, steam and hot water (unless included in Schedule 1); and 11 (b) Installations for the 
disposal of waste (unless included in Schedule 1). However, this proposal is not for the AD plant, 
only the CHP unit. The CHP unit is considered an ancillary and associated development to that 
of the established and lawful AD plant and the requirement of the CHP is down to that of the AD 
plant. The CHP is located 8 metres from the digesters, and shares the same hardstanding and 
infrastructure as that of the existing digesters. The CHP unit is considered to be an integral part 
of the AD plant which has been operational for since the 8th March 2011. The need for the second 
back up CHP has arisen from changes in the requirements from the EA, and the need to prevent 
failure of the wider plant. 

 
6.8  As a standalone development, the CHP is not considered to represent EIA development under 

Schedule 2 of the Regulations. This application confirms the proposed CHP unit will act as a 
backup unit only and therefore will not increase electricity or capacity from the site above that 
which has been approved and as such any increase risk to the environment above that of the 
original plant is considered to be low. The CHP development is situated within the permitted 
planning site and that of the EA permit boundary. 

 
  Whilst it is recognised that the site is within the Wye Valley AONB and in close proximity to the 

River Wye Site of Special Scientific Interest, both of which are identified as ‘sensitive areas’ within 
the EIA Regulations, given the scale and nature of the proposal as a back up unit, with no increase 
in operations, it is considered that the proposed development would not have a significant adverse 
effect on the environment and would not require an EIA to be undertaken. In coming to this 
decision regard has been had to the Governments Planning Practice Guidance note on ‘Indicative 
screening thresholds’.  

 
Policy context and Principle of Development  

 
6.9  Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:  

 
“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.” 

 
6.10 In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 

2011-2031 (CS). The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a significant material 
consideration. The NPPF stresses that when determining planning applications, Local Planning 
Authorities (LPA) should not require applicants for energy developments to demonstrate the 
overall need for renewable or low carbon energy and recognise that even small-scale projects 
make a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions. The NPPF also in Paragraph 
158 states that LPA should approve applications if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 

 
6.11 In addition to the NPPF, the Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) recognises that the increasing 

amount of energy from renewable and low carbon technologies will help to ensure the UK has a 
secure energy supply, reduce greenhouse gas emissions to slow down climate change and 
stimulate investment in new jobs and businesses. Planning has an important role in the delivery 
of new renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure in locations where the local environmental 
impact is acceptable. 

 
6.12 As identified above, the CHP which this application seeks retrospective permission for is in 

connection with the operational AD plant on the farm. Anaerobic digestion produces a renewable 
source of energy by breaking down biodegradable materials. As such, this application is 
considered to fall against Policy SD2 with the adopted Development Plan (Herefordshire Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2011- 2031). The policy supports proposals which do have any adverse 
impact upon any national or designated sites, do not adversely affect residential amenity, and 
which do not result in any significant detrimental impact upon the character of the landscape and 

99



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

built environment. The fourth criteria of policy SD2 relates to the connection to existing national 
grid infrastructure, which the existing plant already does. 

 
6.13 The additional CHP unit had been installed to provide a back up to that of the authorised unit 

whilst the original unit had broken down and was being fixed. Recent visits to the site have 
revealed that the original unit is now back up and running. The applicant wishes to retain the 
second unit as a backup unit to allow for regular maintenance of the original unit and in case it 
should break down again. The supporting information confirms that only one of the units will run 
at any given time and this can be controlled through a planning condition.  

 
6.14 The CHP provides an energy source on site for the farm and buildings, including the poultry units, 

with any surplus sold to the grid.  The CHP generates electricity and captures heat which would 
otherwise by wasted. In terms of renewable and low carbon energy, the NPPF is supportive of a 
transition to a low carbon future and encourages the use of renewable resources. It provides 
support for such small scale projects which provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse 
gas emissions. 

 
6.15 The site has a relatively complex planning history, as detailed in section 3 above, however the 

principle of the AD plant is now established within the unit and is operated under an EA ERP 
waste permit. The CHP unit under consideration represents an additional component of the plant 
above that originally approved. The additional CHP does not increase capacity or output of 
electricity.  

 
6.16 The principle of the AD plant is not for consideration, only that of the additional CHP unit. There 

are policies within the adopted Development Plan (Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011- 
2031) in addition to that of policy SD2 (Renewable and low carbon energy generation) that 
support the continued support of the more traditional employment sectors such as farming and 
food manufacture (Policy S5) and which  support the diversification of existing agricultural 
businesses (Policy RA6). Given the plant is established, the principle and need for an additional 
CHP unit is considered acceptable, however the proposal needs to satisfy all of the criteria laid 
out in Policy SD2 of the CS for the proposal to be supported.  

 
6.17 As outlined at the beginning of this report, application 181118 was refused on 3 grounds relating 

to issues in connection with ecological, noise and air quality impacts and the overall criteria of 
policy SD2 as outlined above. As this application represents a resubmission of application 
181118, this report will now assess the 3 grounds of refusal against this submission. 

 
Habitat Regulation Assessment and impact on the surrounding area and SAC 

 
6.18 The first of the criteria in policy SD2 requires all proposals to demonstrate that they do not 

adversely impact upon international or national designated natural and heritage asset. Policy LD2 
in the adopted CS is the specific policy which deals with biodiversity and geodiversity and requires 
all proposals to conserve, restore and enhance the biodiversity assets in the County by protecting 
the nature conservation sites and habitats. The policy does not permit proposals which would 
harm sites and species of European Important or Sits of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
6.19 The site in this instance is within 250m of the River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

which is a national designated assets and a Site of Scientific Interest (SSSI. The River Wye SAC 
is an internationally important conservation site which has been designated for its special features 
of ecological and biodiversity value. Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, Herefordshire Council has a legal duty to assess the potential impact of new developments 
in this area by undertaking an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ (AA) which must be able to determine 
with scientific certainty that there would be no ‘likely significant effects’ upon the designated site. 
The obligations are embodied with CS policies LD2, as well as the guidance of the NPPF. 

 

100



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

6.20 A plan or project that is likely to have a significant effect on a European site (either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects) is required to be subject to an AA before any permission 
is granted. In the absence of mitigation measures, and adopting a precautionary approach, 
discharges associated with the development may affect nutrient levels in nearby watercourses 
and create unfavourable condition in relation to water quality, and therefore present a risk of a 
significant effect on the SAC. 

 
6.21 Previously, there was insufficient information submitted with the application for the LPA to 

conclude that there would not be a Likely Significant Effect from the combustion process and 
associated emissions. This submission has been supported with an Air Emission Assessment 
which identifies that there are no records of Jelly Lichens within the area of the River Wye subject 
to influence this application and that there are no deposition levels in respect of the River Wye 
SAC such that any adverse effect on the River is likely. As such the planning ecologist has 
advised that subject to conditions securing the use of only one CHP at any given time that the 
LPA can conclude no adverse effects on the integrity of the River Wye SAC will be caused. 
Natural England have concurred with the LPA appropriate assessment and no further conflict with 
policy LD2 has been identified.  

 
6.22 In relation to surface water runoff, the CHP which is subject to this application has been located 

on existing hardstanding and therefore will not increase surface water run off above that which 
existed before. The CHP will also not increase capacity at the site or generate any increase in 
digestate, and as such the Ecologist has confirmed surface water does not require assessment 
under the HRA. 

 
Impact on residential amenity - noise and nuisance    

 
6.23 The second criteria of policy SD2 requires all development not to adversely affect residential 

amenity. Policy SD1 is the principle policy within the CS which deals with sustainable design and 
energy efficient and requires all development proposals, amongst other things, to ensure new 
development does not contribute to, or suffer from, adverse impacts arising from noise, light or 
air contamination. 

 
6.24 The nearest dwellings to the site are found immediately to the west of the farm complex, with the 

distance between the residential houses and the CHP around 50m from the dwellings. However, 
the curtilage boundary of the residential property Tremezla is at a distance of around 20m. The 
issue of noise and nuisance has been identified as an ongoing issue at the site, with many 
complaints from neighbouring properties to the Council and the EA in recent years. The previous 
noise assessment was considered inadequate and insufficient for an assessment on the impact 
of noise from the development on the surrounding area to be considered, and as such the second 
ground of refusal of application 181118 was on residential amenity. 

 
6.25 This new submission has been supported with a BS4141 acoustic assessment which identifies 

that at the 2 closest sensitive receptors (residential properties) there would be a significant excess 
of noise rating over the background noise levels during the day and by deduction also at night 
time from the additional CHP unit without any mitigation. As such the noise consultant proposed 
to extend the existing concrete wall which already has steel uprights in place so as to further block 
out the noise to bring the assessment level below an anticipated background noise level. This is 
shown by Figure 7 within the Acoustic Report and is included below for reference. 

 

101



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
Figure 7 within Noise Impact Assessment Acoustics Report 2020/R01 dated 18th August 202 

 
6.26 The original mitigation which was advised by the noise consultant and which is outlined in figure 

7 above was to extend the concrete wall to a height of 3.6m to wrap around the CHP unit to 
achieve sufficient noise mitigation. However, it soon became apparent on site following 
discussions with the applicant there was concern the  existing uprights were not strong enough 
to support the weight of concrete in high winds and could pose a safety issue. As such the 
proposal was amended to use timber boarding instead. This is outlined in Figure 1 of the Acoustic 
Note N01a dated 11th March 2021 and is inserted below for reference. 

 

 
 
 
6.27 The Councils Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has considered the changes to the proposed 

noise mitigation and has recognised that the proposed mitigation continues to block out a direct 
line of sight to the two dwellings most impacted by noise from the CHP gas pumps and cooling 
system. The EHO has confirmed that they have no objections to the proposed noise mitigation, 
although would suggest that conditions are included to ensure that the proposed timber fencing 
is regulary checked and maintained to ensure its effectiveness. 

 
6.28 In light of comments within the representations and ongoing investigations in relation to breaches 

of planning control, the EHO has confirmed that the existing concrete wall, in addtion to the 
proposed noise barrier are considered necessary in the absence of any other proposal for noise 

102



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

mitigation to avoid adverse impacts on neighbours from the proposed CHP unit, all be it the 
application is only for a backup CHP. 

 
6.29 The noise survey which was undertaken on the 11th and 12th August 2020,  with the back-up 

CHP proposal in operation with cooling fans running which the surveyor identified as being clearly 
audible above the general noise environment at the closest residential dwellings. The noise 
consultant within the Acoustic Report identified that the existing 3.6m high concrete wall provided 
significant shielding of noise from the CHP unit at monitoring points to the south east of the site. 
The report advises that the existing noise barrier acted as significant shielding attenuation.  

 
6.30 The EHO confirms that without a noise barrier as recommended in the noise report, receptors at 

Tremelza and The Lodge would be at risk of severe adverse impacts from the cooling fans from 
the CHP and adverse impacts when the fans are not running. Although the removal of the existing 
concrete wall is not discussed within the Acoustic Report, the EHO confirms that if it was removed 
the development would undoubtedly impact upon the nearby residents. It is unclear if the concrete 
wall was constructed as a noise barrier or a precautionary pollution bund around the site. The 
agent has confirmed that the wall was constructed following the issue of the EA permit in 2014. 
Aerial photographs confirm this and as such Officers consider that the wall is lawful through the 
passage of time. 

 
6.31 Taking all the above into consideration, this application is considered to have overcome the 

second reason for refusal on application 181118 by providing sufficient details to determine the 
impacts of the development with regards to noise and nuisance on the nearby receptors. From 
the information provided the noise and nuisance which is generated by the proposal can be 
satisfactorily mitigated through the proposed noise barrier. As such, the proposal now complies 
with adopted CS policy SD1 and SD2 in that it has been demonstrated that the impacts of the 
development can be satisfactorily mitigated to avoid any adverse impact on the residential 
amenity of nearby residential properties.  

 
 Air Quality 
 
6.32 The third reason of refusal related to air quality. From the information previously submitted the 

LPA were not able to determine the impacts of the development, individually or cumulatively on 
the surrounding area and nearby receptors. This submission has been supported with an Air 
Quality Report conducted by AS Modelling & Data Ltd dated July 2020 for the site. As part of the 
report dispersion modelling was undertaken to assess the impact of air borne emissions from the 
CHP unit which it’s the subject of this application. The Air Quality Report concludes that the results 
indicated that the Air Quality Objectives will not be exceeded at any sensitive receptor locations. 
The Councils EHO has confirmed that they concur with the finding of the report and have no 
adverse comments to make in relation to air quality. As such no further conflict with policies SD1 
or SD2 in relation to air quality have been identified. 

 
Landscape Impact 

 
6.33 The third criteria of policy SD2 deals with the character of the landscape and the built or historic 

environment.  It should be noted that a core planning principle of the NPPF is that planning should 
take account of the ‘different roles and character of different areas…recognizing the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving rural communities within it.’ Policy 
LD1 of the CS requires that development proposals should demonstrate that character of the 
landscape has positively influenced the design, scale, nature and site selection, with incorporation 
of landscaping schemes to ensure development integrates appropriately into its surroundings.  
Policy LD4 deals with the impact upon heritage assets and the wider historic environment and 
requires all proposal where possible to enhance heritage assets and their surroundings. 

 
6.34 The application site is within the Wye Valley AONB and in close proximity to the PRoW BKR1A. 

The proposed CHP is located adjacent to the existing AD plant will be seen and read as ancillary 

103



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

to the main plant and farm buildings. However, it has recently been brought to the attention of 
Council Officers that under the original AD application a landscaping scheme was proposed to 
be planted around the perimeter of the site to ensure that the site integrated into its surrounding 
and to help screen the development from the adjoining footpath and views to the south. The plan 
below is from the Discharge of Condition submission under application 091387 (condition 7 –plan 
01180 – 02-B sheet 2 dated15.03.10) which shows the area of hardstanding and the landscaping 
which was proposed. 

 

 
ATTS – site plan with services – plan 01180-02-b sheet 2 dated 15.03.2010 

 
6.35 As noted above the concrete wall is not part of this application. It was installed as a requirement 

from the EA permit but is operational development which should of required planning permission. 
The wall has been constructed in excess of 4 years and is therefore immune from enforcement 
action. Although not its intended purpose, the wall assists in mitigating noise from the proposed 
CHP unit when in operation and from the existing wider site. As part of this application and in 
response to concerns raised by objectors in relation to the wider visual impact upon the AONB, 
and in recognition of the previously approved landscaping scheme, the following Landscape Site 
Plan has been submitted. The plan identifies a native hedgerow to be planted around the southern 
perimeter of the installed concrete wall with plant 2-2.5m high. There are also a number of trees 
to be planted. In addition a wildlife buffer of rough ground native grass seeds are to be planted 
along the eastern boundary. Officers acknowledge that this landscaping is more aimed at the 
wider site than that of the proposed CHP unit. 

 
6.36 In terms of landscape impact, consideration has to be to that which is being applied for, which in 

this case is that of the CHP and the proposed noise mitigation. However, the application has 
presented an opportunity to consider the wider management and operations of the site and 
opportunity to enhance the existing landscape character. The proposed landscaping as outlined 
on the plan 050-210 will assist in mitigating the visual harm of the concrete wall , as well as the 
CHP and wider development from user of the PROW ,as well as within the wider landscape 
context. The Landscape Officer has raised concerns with the long term management of the 
planting. The Applicant has submitted a  Landscape Maintenance and Mangment Plan which has 
outlined 10 years of monitoring and mainantance of the proposed landscaping. A condition 

104



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

controlling not only the implementation of the scheme, but the distance the plants are planted to 
the wall, along with the long term management and maintenance of the planting,  as outlined 
within the submitted plan will help ensure the proposed planting will enhance the existing visual 
amenity of the area and confirm to policy LD1 of the CS. 

 
Landscaping Plan – 050-210 

  
 
6.37 In considering the proposed CHP unit and the required noise mitigation, the overall visual impact 

upon the surrounding area is considered to be minimal in terms of the broader wider established 
AD site. However the landscaping proposed would assist in the mitigation of the wider 
development as well as that of the CHP and will integrate the wider development appropriately 
into its surroundings.  

 
6.38 Having regard for policies LD1 and SD2 of the CS, Officers are content that, the visual impacts 

of the proposed CHP unit and noise mitigation, when assessed against the established AD plant  
would not represent a significant visual impact on the character of the landscape hereabouts 
that would not warrant a refusal of the application. Conditions relating to landscaping 
implementation and monitoring are recommended. 

 
  
Heritage Impact 
 
6.39 Policy LD4 of the CS seeks to ensure that development proposals affecting heritage assets and 

the wider historic environment should protect, conserve, and where possible enhance heritage 
assets and their setting in a manner appropriate to their significance. There are two listed 
buildings in close proximity to the proposed CHP unit: 

 Chapel of St Johns – Grade II* listed - 127m to the south 

 Much Fawley Farmhouse – Grade II listed – 147m to the south. 
 
6.40 There are no visual lines of site between either heritage asset or that of the proposed CHP unit 

due to other built development, topography of land and existing dense vegetation.  Given the 
scale, and nature of the CHP unit, no conflict with policy LD4 has been detected. 

105



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 
Other matters 

 
6.41 The CHP which is the subject of this application will not give rise to any matters related to 

highways and Councils Area Engineer (Highways) has raised no objection to the proposal. 
 
 
6.42 Consideration has been given to drainage and surface water. The proposed CHP and green 

storage container has been installed on the existing hardstanding within the farm yard. The 
submitted information shows that the hardstanding is drained via a small area of french drain 
along the northern side of the yard. The Councils Drainage consultant has confirmed that given 
the small area that the containers cover (<15m2), and their position on an existing area of hard 
standing, it is deemed unlikely that there will be a resulting increase in surface water at the site. 
No conflict with policy SD3 of the CS has been detected.  

 
Conclusion  

 
6.43 The LPA recognise that in 2009, there was limited knowledge of the impacts of AD development 

because there were few such installations in the country and the technology itself was developing. 
As permitted AD plants within the County have developed and operated, knowledge and 
understanding of the impacts of the plants on local environments particularly that on amenity of 
residents have increased. Planning permissions cannot be reversed, however complaints in 
relation to nuisance are investigated by both the LPA and the EA, as are breaches of any planning 
permission or Environmental Permit. 

 
6.44 Whilst acknowledging the frustration with local residents in relation to noise, the starting point for 

the determination of this application for the retention of the additional CHP unit  and storage 
container is the adopted development plan. The proposal is considered to accord with Polices 
SS7 and SD2 of the CS, which support development which seek to deliver renewable and low 
carbon energy, subject to satisfactory environmental protection and mitigation. The proposal is 
associated with the existing established AD plant on site and will ensure the continued 
uninterrupted operation of the AD plant.  EHO Officers are satisfied that the noise mitigation which 
has been put forward and assessed will ensure that the amenity of local resident in the  
surrounding area is safeguarded. 

 
6.45 Officers acknowledge the significant concern about the impacts of the wider development on the 

River Wye SAC and on other designated conservation sites (SSSI) and sensitive priority habitats 
and Local Wildlife Sites. Officer have assessed the emission from the development and impacts 
of these on the River Wye SAC. The emissions assessment indicates that there are no 
deposition levels in respect of the River Wye SAC such that any adverse effect on the River Wye 
SAC is likely. Officers have completed the necessary HRA assessment and concluded NO likely 
potential adverse effects on the integrity of River Wye SAC or any other locally designated wildlife 
site from the development.  

 
6.46 The proposal has now included sufficient information in the form of air quality assessment and 

noise report for Officers to conclude that subject to mitigation, the development would not give 
rise to any unacceptable impacts on air quality and residential amenity arising from noise. Subject 
to the inclusion of conditions as detailed below, the proposal has satisfied policies SD1 and SD2 
of the CS.  

 
6.47 Taking into account the requirements of CS policies SS6 and LD1, the Officers have carefully 

considered the proposals as detailed above and conclude that the resulting development would 
not cause any demonstrable cumulative harm to the character of the countryside or surrounding 

106



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

landscape in the context of the existing permitted scheme. In addition the proposal has offered 
up additional detailed landscape mitigation around the perimeter to ensure the wider development 
integrates into the surrounding environment. Officers therefore conclude that the proposals 
comply with the requirements of policy LD1 of the CS and with the guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
6.48 Overall Officers are content that the development based on the information which has been 

provided and submitted as part of this application is sustainable development. The development 
is considered to be acceptable subject to the inclusion of the recommended conditions listed 
below.  The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the conditions outlined 
below 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other further 
conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers: 
 
 
1. Development in accordance with approved plans.  

 
 

2. At no time shall more than one CHP unit be in operation and discharging any air 
emissions within the Much Fawley Farm holding without the prior written approval of 
the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
(2017), National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire 
Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6 and LD2. 
 
 

3. Should the Anaerobic Digester Plant on site cease to be permanently in operation, 
the CHP unit and storage container hereby permitted shall be removed permanently 
from the site. 
 
Reason: The nature of the development is such that it is only considered acceptable 
in this location having regard to the authorised Anaerobic Digester Plant on site and 
Policies SD1 and SD2 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. The CHP hereby approved shall not be used until the timber panel barrier which forms 
the noise mitigation has been installed in accordance with the details outlined within 
the Acoustic Note NO1a dated 11th March 2021. Photographic evidence with 
confirmation of the date if installation shall be submitted and confirmed in writing by 
to the Local Planning Authority. The approved timber panel barrier and concrete wall 
as detailed on plan NO1a dated 11th March 2021 shall be retained and maintained for 
the duration of the authorised use of the CHP. 
 
Reason: To development requires the retention on the timber panel barrier and 
concrete wall to ensure that the amenity of the area with regards to noise is 
safeguarded and to comply with Policy SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5 
 
 
 

The landscaping scheme as shown on approved Landscape Plan 050-210 rev B shall 
be completed no later than the first planting season following the date of the decision. 
A planting zone of minimum 2-2.5m shall be provided, with trees planted at minimum 
2.5m from the base of the concrete wall. The landscaping shall be maintained for a 

107



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 
 
 

period of 10 years in accordance with the details outlined within the Landscape 
Maintenance and Management Plan by Steele Landscape Design dated November 
2021. During this time, any trees, shrubs or other plants which are  

 
INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other material 
considerations. Negotiations in respect of matters of concern with the application (as 
originally submitted) have resulted in amendments to the proposal.  As a result, the 
Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an 
acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

 
 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 
  

 removed, die or which are seriously damaged shall be replaced during the next 
planting season with others of similar sizes and species unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation.  
 
In addition no later than the 1st April in each of the 5 calendar years following the 
first planting of the hedgerow and trees as shown on plan 050-210 rev B, the operator 
of the AD plant shall submit to the Local Planning Authority a written statement 
detailing: 
 
a) The number, location and species of plants, shrubs and trees which have been 
planted, in the preceding 12 months; 
b) The number, location and species of plants, shrubs and trees which have died, 
become diseased or seriously damaged in the preceding 12 month; and  
c) Proposals for the replanting and maintenance of any such failures with plants of 
similar size and species within the following 6 months. 
 
Reason: In order to maintain the visual amenities of the area and to confirm with 
policy LD1 of the Herefordshire local Plan – Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework 
 

108



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Rebecca Jenman on 01432 261961 

PF2 
 

 

 
 
 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  202566   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  MUCH FAWLEY FARM, FAWLEY CHAPEL ROAD, FAWLEY, HEREFORD, 
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 4SP 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

109





 

 

 

 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 

MEETING: PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 17 NOVEMBER 2021 

TITLE OF 
REPORT: 

201962 - PROPOSED ERECTION OF THREE SUSTAINABLE 
HOLIDAY LODGES  AT HOPEFIELD COTTAGE, HAYNALL, 
LITTLE HEREFORD, LUDLOW, SY8 4BG 
 
For: Mrs Fletcher per Mr Jim Hicks, Second Floor Offices, 46 
Bridge Street, Hereford, Herefordshire, HR4 9DG 
 

WEBSITE 
LINK: 

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/det
ails?id=201962&search-term=201962  

 

Reason Application submitted to Committee - Redirection 

 
 
Date Received: 23 June 2020 Ward: Leominster 

North & Rural  
Grid Ref: 354344,267493 

Expiry Date: 11 January 2021 
Local Members: Cllr John Stone 

 
1. Site Description and Proposal 
 
1.1 The application site contains a small, rectangular parcel of land located to the immediate north of 

Hopefield Cottage and accessed via a field gate off the C1051, known as Haynall Lane; 
connecting the A456 with the small hamlet of Haynall and Leysters beyond. The A456 connects 
the site to surrounding services and villages, such as the market town of Tenbury Wells, located 
approximately 2 miles away. Ludlow is also accessible via the A456 and A49, located 
approximately 6 miles away.  
 

1.2 The site is found within open-countryside although Haynall Lane is characterised by a scattering 
of modest sized, wayside dwellings and farmsteads. The site is essentially level but with some 
increased elevation, allows for views northwards across the Teme Valley towards Clee Hill. To 
the north and western roadside, the site is bound by mature hedgerows and to the east, the site 
is delineated from the adjacent field by way of a post and wire fence and gateway with a mature 
tree also located here. The residential curtilage of Hopefield Cottage extends along the entirety 
of the southern boundary, separated by the wooden fence; although the land to the south of the 
site sits above and overlooks the field. Public Right of Way BF13 runs along the southern 
boundary of the site, close to Hopefield Cottage. 
 

1.3 The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of the three holiday units. Identical in 
their appearance but sited in an ad-hoc arrangement within the site, the units would be 
rectangular in footprint, clad in horizontal timber boarding with a dual-pitched sedum roof. They 
would benefit from living and kitchen space with two bedrooms each and a covered addition for 
cycle storage. The proposal would include a new access taken from the C1051 with parking to 
the front and access via footways to the units. The scheme also includes the provision of 
additional landscaping throughout the site. Foul water from the units would be dealt with by way 

111

AGENDA ITEM 8

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=201962&search-term=201962
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=201962&search-term=201962


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

of package treatment plants with outfall to a single drainage mound to the north-eastern portion 
of the site.  A copy of the amended site plan, floor plan and elevations of the units are shown 
below: 
 
Site Plan 
 

 
  
 
Floor Plan and Elevations 

 
 
 
 
 

112



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
2. Policies  
 
2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy (CS) 
 

SS1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SS4 Movement and transportation 
SS6 Environmental quality and local distinctiveness 
RA3 Herefordshire’s countryside 
RA6 Rural economy 
MT1 Traffic management, highway safety and active travel 
E4 Tourism 
LD1 Landscape and townscape 
LD2 Biodiversity and geodiversity 
LD3 Green infrastructure  
SD1 Sustainable design and energy efficiency 
SD3 Sustainable water management and water resources 
SD4 Waste water treatment and river water quality 

 
2.2 Brimfield and Little Hereford Neighbourhood Development Plan (BLHNDP) 
 

BLH8 Building design principles 
BLH9 Landscape design principles 
BLH12 Water management 
BLH13 Criteria for assessing the suitability of future potential development sites 
BLH15 Design for flood resilience and resistance 
BLH16 Design to reduce surface water run off 
BLH18 Developments supporting rural enterprise 

 
 
2.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

Chapter 2 Achieving sustainable development 
Chapter 4 Decision-making 
Chapter 6 Building a strong competitive economy 
Chapter 11 Making effective use of land 
Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places 
Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
 
2.4 The Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary planning documentation 

can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:- 
 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy 

 
2.5 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the 

2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review 
of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan 
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated 
as necessary.  The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015 
and a review was required to be completed before 15 October 2020. The decision to review the 
Core Strategy was made on the 9th November 2020. The level of consistency of the policies in 
the local plan with the NPPF will be taken into account by the Council in deciding any application. 

 
 
 
 

113

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

3. Planning History 
 
3.1 The following planning history is considered to be of relevance to this application: 
 

061397/O New workshop for packaging and light assembly Refused - 2006 
060430/O Site for new workshop for packaging and light assembly Refused - 2006 
930357/F Erection of new house Refused - 1993 

 
4. Consultation Summary 
 
 Statutory Consultations 
 
4.1 Severn Trent Water 
 

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I can advise we have no 
objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be applied. 
 

4.2 Welsh Water 
 

We note from the application that the proposed development does not intend to connect to the 
public sewer network. As the sewerage undertaker we have no further comments to make. 
However, we recommend that a drainage strategy for the site be appropriately conditioned, 
implemented in full and retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 

4.3 Natural England 
 
No comment 

 
 
 Internal Council Consultations 
 
4.4 Transportation Manager 

 
16 July 2020 - The proposal submitted includes an access to serve multiple dwellings. The 
following observations are a summary of the highways impacts of the development: 

 
Any amendments required to form the access will require separate permission from the local 
highway authority. This is likely to be in the form of a Section 184 Licence. 

 
The access proposed meets the visibility requirements and the associated rationale is acceptable 
in demonstrating the access amendments will not result in an unacceptable impact on road safety. 
The access meets the highway in a perpendicular fashion. This maximises visibility and ensures 
that turning movements can happen efficiently. The details of the way in which the access drains 
is not included in the proposal. It is not acceptable for water to shed from accesses onto the public 
highway as a result condition CAE should be attached to any permission granted to ensure that 
this is addressed prior to construction.  

 
The proposed access specification is not shown. As with all other details of the access 
arrangements it is recommended that condition CAE is applied to ensure that the correct 
specification is included.  

 
The vehicle turning area is adequate for the scale of the dwelling. The length of the shared private 
drive is short enough for the minimum width of 3.7m to be appropriate and the dimension of the 
access meets this requirement. 

 

114



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

The parking provided equals or exceeds one 2.4m x 4.8m space per bedroom to a maximum of 
3 spaces. This element of the proposal is acceptable. It is unclear from the submission if cycle 
parking is to be included. This is a requirement for all new developments and would enable guests 
to make travel decisions when visiting the site. Condition CB2 should be applied to ensure its 
delivery.   
 
There are no highways objections to the proposals, subject to the recommended conditions being 
included with any permission granted. 
 
 
24 November 2020 - The amended drawings set out alterations to the layout of the site. This has 
not altered the access arrangements and the layout remains capable of accommodating all the 
vehicle considerations associated to a development of this nature. The conditions on the previous 
highways response remain appropriate in the event that permission is granted. 
 

4.5 Ecology 
 
The site is within 1km of the River Teme SSSI and is within an identified Impact Risk Zone in 
relation to ‘discharges of water and liquids’. The LPA has a duty of care to consider this trigger 
aspect within the planning process. Natural England should be a statutory consultee on this 
application and return a ‘no objection’ response prior to any grant of planning consent. 
 
The following are noted by the LPA (and raised for Natural England to review) as part of the 
required SSSI considerations. 
 

 The drainage report by Spring Design dated June 2020 is noted. 

 A ‘shared’ private package treatment plant (PTP) is proposed to serve the three holiday 
lodges. 

 Percolation results have indicated a traditional soakaway outfall cannot be achieved. 

 In line with best practice and Core Strategy SD4 a ‘mound’ soakaway system can be 
achieved on land under the applicants control to manage all outfall from the PTP. 

 No phosphate or nutrient pathways in to the River Teme SSSI hydrological catchment are 
identified. 

 A Sustainable Drainage Scheme (Rain Gardens) are proposed to manage all additional 
surface water created by the development. 

 No discharge of any foul water outfall or additional surface water in to any local 
watercourse or culvert is proposed 

 The agreed drainage scheme (foul and surface water) can be secured by condition on any 
planning consent granted. 

 
Based on the proposed scheme being secured the LPA is satisfied that all ‘Likely Significant 
Effects’ on the River Teme SSSI from the proposed development can be considered as fully 
mitigated. 
 
Suggested condition: 
 
River Teme SSSI – Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
As detailed in the drainage report and plans by Spring Design dated June 2020 all foul water from 
the development shall discharge to a private foul water treatment system with final outfall to a 
mound soakaway drainage field on land under the applicant’s control; and all surface water will 
be managed through an appropriate onsite Sustainable Drainage Scheme; unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to comply with Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), NERC Act (2006), and Herefordshire Core Strategy 
(2015) policies SS6, LD2, SD3 and SD4 

115



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
Additional ecology comments: 
 
The ecology report by Star Ecology dated June 2020 is noted and appears relevant and 
appropriate. The recommendations in the report including ecological working methods, risk 
avoidance measures, and detailed biodiversity net gain enhancements should be secured for 
implementation in full through a condition on any planning consent granted. 
 
Nature Conservation – Ecology Protection, Mitigation and Biodiversity Net Gain 
The ecological protection, mitigation, compensation and working methods scheme including the 
Biodiversity net gain enhancements, as recommended in the ecology report by Star Ecology 
dated June 2020 shall be implemented and hereafter maintained in full as stated unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. No external lighting should illuminate any 
boundary feature, adjacent habitat or area around the approved mitigation or any biodiversity net 
gain enhancement features. 
 
 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having regard to the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), Policy LD2 of the Herefordshire Core Strategy, National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) and NERC Act 2006 
 

4.6 Tree Officer 
 
Having now read the tree report and visited the site I am satisfied that the proposed erection of 
three holiday lodges does not pose significant constraints to retained trees.  
 
At the rear of the site is a mature Oak tree where all three units and associated infrastructure 
have little impact. 
 
The access requires the removal of trees but I am satisfied that these losses can be mitigated for 
with new planting. I would recommend that the new trees included field maple as these are the 
prominent species lost to the access.  
 
The current landscape plan doesn’t provide enough detail. We need to know what species going 
to be used, what nursery size they’ll be and how they shall be protected and managed.  
 
An amendment to the landscape scheme can be submitted via pre commencement condition.  
 
 

4.7 Land Drainage Engineer 
 
 
Fluvial Flood Risk 
 
Review of the Environment Agency’s Flood Map for Planning (Figure 1) indicates that the site is 
located within the low risk Flood Zone 1. As the proposed development is less than 1ha and is 
located within Flood Zone 1, in accordance with Environment Agency standing advice, the 
planning application does not need to be supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  
 
Surface Water Flood Risk 
 
Review of the EA’s Risk of Flooding from Surface Water map indicates that the site is not at risk 
of surface water flooding. 
 
Other Considerations and Sources of Flood Risk 

116



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
Local residents and the Parish Council have provided comments in line with the drainage report 
produced with the pre-app and also submitted with this application that the site is not suitable to 
accept infiltration techniques to remove surface water as the ground is often extremely boggy. 
 
Review of the EA’s Groundwater map indicates that the site is not located within a designated 
Source Protection Zone or Principal Aquifer. 
 
Surface Water Drainage 
 
The Applicant’s proposed surface water drainage strategy shows surface water being managed 
by rainwater harvesting, green roof installations and by way of rain gardens with any exceedance 
during storm events being allowed to naturally evaporate or run overland to the far western corner 
of the plot and beyond to the agricultural fields outside of the plot. 
 
Foul Water Drainage 
 
The Applicant proposes the use of a pumped wastewater treatment plant and drainage mound 
serving the three holiday lodges. 
 
The applicant provides the results of percolation testing undertaken at ground level indicating a 
Vp rate of 52.1s/mm. Taken alongside the deeper percolation tests detailed in the first iteration of 
the Drainage Strategy Note, this indicates that there is a layer of available topsoil into which the 
soaking effluent from the drainage mound could percolate. 
 
The drainage strategy states that the pumps rely on a holding capacity of 6hrs, this is not 
compliant with the guidelines in the Building Regulations, Part H Drainage and Waste Disposal 
(in case of pump failure 24hrs storage capacity is needed). This comment was made in the first 
iteration of the drainage strategy and has not been addressed. 
 
Overall Comment 
 
In principle we do not object to the proposals, however we recommend that the following 
information provided within suitably worded planning conditions: 
 
• A detailed foul water drainage strategy showing how foul water from the development will be 
disposed of, including final drainage mound and pump design 
 

4.8 Public Rights of Way Officer 
 
Public footpath BF8 would not appear to be obstructed by the lodges. No objection. If work Is 
likely to endanger footpath users a temporary closure must be applied for. 

 
 
5. Representations 
 
5.1 Brimfield and Little Hereford Parish Council 
 
 4 August 2020 -The Parish Council strongly object to this application for the following reason;  
 

Drainage – we have concerns regarding the drainage of surface and foul water given that this 
field is extremely boggy, the application actually states that holes tested for drainage did not drain 
away and ditches run level with water. We understand that previous application have been 
refused due to drainage issues, nothing has changed. 

 

117



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 The application does not accord with policy E4 of the Core Strategy which discourages lodges 
where local infrastructure does not sustain it. 

 
It does not accord with BLH18 of the Neighbourhood Plan as it will have a detrimental affect on 
the rural landscape and neighbouring properties, privacy will be affected. The local road network 
will  be affected with more using Haynall Lane on a regular basis as holidaymakers changeover. 

 
Despite the traffic survey done, which is not representative of the times and speeds local traffic 
use the lane, it is used as a ‘rat run’ and in the past we have highlighted the dangerous junction 
at Brimfield Cross. 

 
The proposed lodges are not in keeping with the surroundings, they are larger than the adjacent 
property and do not use traditional or reclaimed materials that minimise the impact on general 
amenity, as such they are no aesthetically pleasing. As such, it does not accord with policy BLH8. 
We consider that the application due to its controversial nature should be heard/determined by 
the Planning Committee and not by delegated powers.  
 
15 December 2020 - The Parish Council still strongly object to this application, our previous 
comments stand. Additionally regarding drainage, we have concerns that correct tests should 
have been carried out as previous applications have been refused on this site for drainage 
reasons. This piece of land is extremely boggy and unsuitable for development. We also have 
concerns about additional sewerage and the disposal of filtered water through the site increasing 
the drainage and potential environmental issues. There are also two neighbour rights of access 
issues which will need to be resolved should the application be approved and these should form 
a condition of planning. We note the lodges have been repositioned, the new positions impact 
more on neighbours privacy extending to the whole length of their property. The car parking area 
is directly outside their property, further raising concerns of noise and light pollution. Furthermore, 
the lodges have not been changed and remain out of keeping with the surrounding properties. 
Haynall Lane is a local rat run as previously advised, the additional traffic of potentially 12 vehicles 
a week and changeovers of holidaymakers will increase this dangerous local road and junction 
with the A456. For the reasons previously submitted and in addition to those above this application 
should be rejected, it does not conform to policy E4 of the Core Strategy and Policies BLH8 and 
BLH18 of the neighbourhood plan. We further request that this application is determined by 
Committee. 

 
5.2 Herefordshire Ramblers 
 

I note that the site includes public right of way footpath BF8. This does not appear to be affected 
by the proposal and provided the right of way is respected during and after construction of the 
lodges, and not obstructed or redirected without permission, Herefordshire Ramblers has no 
objection to this planning proposal. 

 
5.3 Eleven letters of objection have been received from six neighbouring properties. The 

comments can be summarised as follows; -  
 

 There would be a reliance on the private car to access local services  

 Ditch is not within the control of the applicant and access should not be obstructed  

 Unsure as how the site would be drained given that the site has previously failed to 
demonstrate a solution.  

 Impact on water supply 

 Noise impact 

 Increased traffic  

 Poor design of buildings  

 Impact on privacy – overlooking  

 Impact on wider ecology and protected species 
 

118



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following 
link:- 

 https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=201962&search-term=201962 
 

 
Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:- 
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage 

 
6. Officer’s Appraisal 
 
Policy context and Principle of Development  
 
6.1  Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:  
 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.”  

 
6.2 In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy 

(CS) and the ‘made’ Brimfield and Little Hereford Neighbourhood Development Plan (BLHNDP).  
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a significant material consideration. 

 
6.3 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the 

2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review 
of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan 
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated 
as necessary.  The CS was adopted on 15 October 2015 and a review was required to be 
completed before 15 October 2020. The decision to review the CS was made on 9th November 
2020.  The level of consistency of the policies in the local plan with the NPPF will be taken into 
account by the Council in deciding any application. In this case, the relevant policies to the 
determination of this planning application are considered consistent with the NPPF and therefore 
can be attributed significant weight. 

 
6.4 Policy RA6 of the CS states that employment generating development proposals which help 

diversify the rural economy such as business diversification projects will be supported in cases 
where they; 

 
 Support and strengthen local food and drink production 
 Support and/or protect the vitality and viability of commercial facilities of an appropriate type and 

scale 
 Involve the small scale extension of existing businesses 
 Promote sustainable tourism proposals where in accordance with CS Policy E4 
 Support the retention and/or diversification of existing agricultural businesses 

 
6.5 With reference to diversification schemes, the policy proceeds to state that such development 

proposals can be supported where they; 
  

 Ensure that development is of a scale which is commensurate with its location and setting; 
 Do not cause unacceptable adverse impacts to the amenity of neighbouring residents (i.e – noise, 

dust, lighting smell etc) 
 Does not generate traffic movements which the local highway network cannot accommodate 
 Does not undermine the achievement of water quality targets as set out in CS Policy SD3/SS4 

 
6.6 Following the above policy commentary, CS Policy E4 provides the framework as to the criterion 

for the support of development proposals which relate to tourism in Herefordshire. It is stated that 
the county will be promoted as a destination for sustainable tourism. Development proposals 
would be supported where; 

 

119

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=201962&search-term=201962
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage


 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 It is ensured that there is no detrimental impact on the county’s varied natural and heritage assets 
and the overall character and quality of the environment 

 there would be new accommodation and attractions throughout Herefordshire which would 
diversify the tourist provision and extend the tourist season and increase the number of visitors 
staying overnight. 

 Regards are had to the visual amenity of public/cycling routes such as Public Rights of Way 
(PRoW). 

 
6.7 At the local level, policy BLH18 of the BLHNDP sets out a presumption in favour of supporting 

rural enterprise, securing opportunities for local employment. It proceeds to state that proposal 
will be supported where they meet a number of criteria. One such criteria is that it would benefit 
the local economy through the provision of local employment and opportunities for the 
improvement of local service provision. Further, it states that where feasible, development should 
involve the re-use of existing buildings or would be part of a farm-diversification.  

 
6.8 Notwithstanding the above policy requirements and objectives, the CS policies collectively seek, 

amongst other things, to ensure that development is suitably sited in accordance with the 
settlement strategy for Herefordshire. The NPPF similarly seek to ensure residential development 
in the countryside locations, including tourism development which may support the rural economy, 
are appropriately located to support settlements and are of a scale and design which respect the 
sensitive landscape character and setting of the surrounding area.  

 
6.9 The application site is found off Haynall Lane; a minor road running southeast from the A456 to 

its junction with Lynch Lane which together, are characterised by sporadic dwellings and small 
farmsteads which form Haynall, a small, un-serviced hamlet. It is not a settlement identified by 
CS Policy RA2 as a sustainable settlement appropriate for proportionate residential development, 
nor is it defined with a settlement boundary by the BLHNDP.  With this in mind the site occupies 
a location within open-countryside. It is observed that the site is located 1 mile to the south of 
Little Hereford; the nearest identified settlement within the CS identified by Policy RA2, and 
approximately 1.5 miles from Brimfield. The site does not benefit from safe pedestrian access 
and therefore, it would be unreasonable to expect future occupiers to walk to reach facilities in 
either village.  They are both within reasonable cycling distance. Tenbury and Ludlow are the 
nearest service centres and realistically offer the range of services required for day-to-day living.  
Both necessitate a reliance on the private-car. The site can therefore not be considered 
sustainable in a locational sense.  However, with the provision of holiday accommodation of this 
nature comes a certain expectation of rural living, and it has been widely accepted through the 
granting of numerous permissions across the county that applications for tourist accommodation 
will not necessarily be in the same sustainable locations as one might expect for permanent 
domestic dwellings. 

 
6.10 Officers are mindful of potential benefits of UK residents holidaying at home, instead of flying to 

continental Europe or further on account of the ongoing health-crisis and uncertainty over post 
Brexit travel and people being more conscious to avoid unnecessary flights and personal CO2 
emissions. The provision of three units would deliver some economic benefits to local services 
and amenities.  

 
 
6.11 On the basis of the above it is considered that the proposals are broadly compliant with the 

development plan, particularly CS policies E4 and RA6 and  policy BLH18 of the BLHNDP.  
 
Design and appearance  
 
6.12 CS policy SD1 requires that new buildings should be designed to maintain local distinctiveness 

through incorporating local architectural detailing and materials and respecting scale, height, 
proportions and massing of surrounding development, while making a positive contribution to the 
architectural diversity and character of the area including, where appropriate, through innovative 

120



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

design. At the local level, policy BLH8 of the BLHNDP states that all new development proposals 
will be required to demonstrate how they have taken account of an extensive list of criteria.  

 
6.13 The chalets would be of a simple rectangular form with a steep-pitch corrugate roof, clad in vertical 

timber boarding stained grey. The units would also benefit from a flat, sedum-roof cycle cover. 
The design is contemporary and generally responds to the mix of buildings found within the local 
area, noting there is not one prevailing architectural lead. Whilst larger than the typical chalet as 
a result of the prominent ridge-lines, the scale and overall massing of the units would not be 
considered such that they would be read as out-of-scale in context of surrounding development. 
Furthermore, they would be orientated as to benefit from the use of solar-panels and passive 
solar gain by virtue of the inclusion of a south-facing aspect, generally according with the 
objectives of CS policy SS7 in this regard and representing an environmental benefit when 
assessing the development as a whole in terms of its sustainable credentials. 

 
6.14 On balance, the individual design of the units is considered acceptable, according with the 

requirements of policy SD1 and SS7 of the CS and policy BLH8 of the BLHNDP.  
 
 
Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties  
 
6.15 Policy BLH8 of the BLHNDP states that proposals should minimise the impact on amenity of 

neighbours. Likewise, policy SD1 and RA6 of the CS looks to ensure that development proposals 
are commensurate with their setting and would not cause any undue harms. Although it is 
accepted that the right to a private view does not form a material planning consideration; 
Hopefield Cottage abuts the southern boundary of the site with its north elevation overlooking the 
site and served by two ground floor windows. The proposed planting would likely hinder any direct 
overlooking however, there are some concerns relating to the general disturbance which would 
likely emanate from the use of the site, together with the direct alignment of car headlights which 
would align with the ground floor openings of Hopefield Cottage. However, whilst the proposed 
planting in front of Hopefield Cottage would restrict outlook somewhat, it would limit the impact of 
headlights on the ground floor windows.  The changes to the existing residential relationship that 
Hopefield Cottage would be notable however, not so adverse to the extent which any harm could 
not be mitigated. 

 
 
Impact on wider landscape 
 
6.16 In landscape terms, policy LD1 of the CS sets out that development proposals need to 

demonstrate that features such as scale and site selection have been positively influenced by the 
character of the landscape and townscape, and that regard has also been had to the protection 
and enhancement of the setting of settlements. Development proposals should also conserve 
and enhance the natural, historic and scenic beauty of important landscapes and features, 
including locally designated parks and gardens; and should incorporate new landscape schemes 
and their management to ensure development integrates appropriately into its surroundings. 
Policy BLH18 of the BLHNDP states that proposal for small scale local rural enterprise should not 
have a detrimental effect on the distinct character of the rural landscape and settlements. 

 
6.17 The site is readily visible from public vantage points, namely from the C1051 Haynall Lane when 

travelling in either direction. Public Right of Way BF8 also passes through the southern portion of 
the site on an east/west axis. The site sits at slight elevation relative to the land to the north. The 
site forms an undeveloped parcel of pasture which is presently in an unkempt state, given its 
apparent absence of an active agricultural use. Nonetheless, it contributes to the principal settled 
farmlands landscape character of mixed farming land uses and field sizes which are inter-woven 
with mature species hedgerows and scattered dwelling and farmsteads. 

 

121



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

6.18 The proposal would introduce three holiday chalets of a contemporary design, served by a single 
centrally positioned access taken off Haynall Lane. The layout is an improvement on the originally 
submitted linear layout, which would have appeared suburban in its form by virtue of the siting of 
the units around the hardstanding parking and turning area. The revised proposal will undoubtedly 
change the appearance of the site, but in the context of the existing sporadic development along 
Haynall Lane this is not considered to be so significant to fundamentally alter the established 
landscape character.  It is therefore concluded that the development is acceptable with regard to 
CS policies LD1 and SD1, policies BLH8, 9 and 18 of the BLHNDP and landscape aims and 
objectives of the NPPF. 

 
 
Impact on trees 
 
6.19 Notwithstanding the above, policy LD1 also sets out that development proposals should maintain 

and extend tree cover by either planting new trees or through their retention, especially those that 
are considered important. Further to this, Policy LD3 states that development proposals should 
retain valued landscapes including trees, hedgerows and woodlands. At the local level, policy 
BLH9 of the BLHNDP at criteria 4 sets out that mature and established trees must be protected 
and incorporated into landscaping schemes wherever possible. At the rear of the site is a mature 
Oak tree and the application has been supported by a Tree Report undertaken by Star Ecology. 
The Council’s Tree Officer has reviewed the submission and is satisfied that the proposal would 
not undermine the integrity of the tree. Furthermore, whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal 
would necessitate the removal of the roadside trees and hedgerows for the insertion of the new 
access, a full landscaping scheme would be conditioned to any approval, demonstrating how any 
loss would be suitably replaced and mitigated for. 

 
 
Impact on highway safety  
 
6.20 Policy BLH18 of the BLHNDP sets out that new development supporting rural enterprise within 

Brimfield and Little Hereford should not adversely affect the surrounding infrastructure – 
particularly local road networks. Policy MT1 of the CS and NPPF policies require development 
proposals to give genuine choice as regards movement. NPPF paragraph 103 requires local 
planning authorities to facilitate the use of sustainable modes of transport and paragraph 108 
refers to the need to ensure developments generating significant amounts of movement should 
take account of whether safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people and 
whether improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 
the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where ‘the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe’(NPPF para. 
109). 

 
6.21 The existing gated field access off Haynall Lane and immediately opposite Hopefield Cottage 

would be blocked up and replaced by hedgerow planting. A new, centrally positioned point of 
access would be formed, serving all three units and providing commensurate on-site parking and 
turning facilities; together with secure bicycle storage.  

 
6.22 The new access would be taken perpendicular to the highway and noting its central position, the 

requisite visibility splays can be met. The vehicular uplift which would likely arise from the three 
units is considered to not be such which would fail to be accommodate within the local highway 
network, despite local concerns over traffic along this route and its use as a rat-run.  

 
6.23 Subject to safeguarding conditions, it is considered that the proposal would accord with the 

relevant policies as contained within the CS and the BLHNDP, together with the overarching 
principles embodied within the NPPF at Chapter 9.  

 
Drainage 

122



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
6.24 The site is not located within a flood zone and therefore there is no known or recorded risk of any 

form of flooding at the site. Policy BLH16 of the BLHNDP echoes the tenets of policy SD3 of the 
CS by setting out that new development should be designed to maximise the retention of surface 
water on the development site and therefore, minimising run off. It goes on to state that water 
attenuation features such as lagoons, ponds and swales should be provided within the 
development site, wherever possible. The application looks to deal with surface water by way of 
rainwater harvesting, green-roof installations and rain gardens. The Council’s Land Drainage 
Engineer has reviewed these details as part of the submitted surface water drainage strategy and 
considers them to be acceptable. As such, the application demonstrates that there is a 
sustainable solution for dealing with surface water and there would not be an increased risk of 
flooding elsewhere, according with the requirements of policy SD3 of the CS and policy BLH16 
of the BLHNDP. 

 
6.25 In terms of foul water, in accordance with the hierarchy for dealing with foul water as set out at 

policy SD4 of the CS, the proposal seeks to connect to utilise a private treatment method noting 
there is no mains connection available. The application proposes the installation of a private 
package treatment plant discharging to a single drainage mound to the north-eastern portion of 
the site. The applicant has undertaken percolation testing which demonstrates there to be a layer 
of topsoil required for soaking effluent from the drainage mound to percolate. Subject to a 
condition requiring details of the final drainage mound design and pump design, the proposed 
foul drainage strategy is accepted in principle, according with policy SD4 of the CS.  

 
Ecology  
 
6.26 In terms of ecology, Policy LD2 is of direct pertinence. This generally requires that proposals 

protect, conserve and enhance the county’s biodiversity assets and make adequate provision for 
protected species. At the local level, Policy BLH9 sets out that local habitats and wildlife must be 
preserved and enhanced. The application is accompanied by an Ecology Report and the Planning 
Ecologist considers that the recommendations contained within are appropriate for securing 
through conditions appended to any approval.  

 
6.27 The site is located within 1 km of the River Teme SSSI and therefore foul and surface water 

strategies are recommended to be secured by condition to ensure mitigation to the identified likely 
significant effect from additional foul water flows generated. Natural England have been consulted 
and do not raise any explicit objection to the application. The proposal, subject to conditions is 
therefore considered acceptable, according with policy LD2, SD4 and SS6 of the CS and the 
relevant policies contained within the BLHNDP. 

 
Other matters 
 
6.28 It is noted that a letter of objection disputes the land ownership extent and thus, argues that part 

of the site, the ditch, is outside the control of the application. From the information supplied by the 
applicant and available to the Local Planning Authority at the time of writing, it is considered that 
there is sufficient demonstration that the application site falls within the title of the applicant.  

 
Conclusion  
 
6.29 The application proposes a rural tourism development in an open-countryside location.  Whilst 

this might not be considered to be sustainable in a purely locational sense, it must be accepted 
that the rural character and nature of the area is the draw for tourists and consequently rural 
tourism development will be located is such areas.  This is reflected by CS Policy E4.  When 
assessing the proposal against the three themes of sustainability it is considered that the proposal 
would result in some modest economic benefits through increased local expenditure and job 
creation through the servicing of the units.  Social benefits are considered to be neutral, and any 
harms in an environmental sense; most notably through the creation of a new access, can be 

123



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

mitigated through the implementation of a landscaping scheme.  The land currently has limited 
biodiversity value and it is considered that the development of the site does represent an 
opportunity to enhance this.   

 
6.30 Matters raised with respect to highway safety, drainage and the impact that the development may 

have on trees can either be addressed through the imposition of conditions, or have been through 
revisions to the scheme throughout the application process.  It therefore concluded that the 
proposal accords with the principal determining criteria of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core 
Strategy and the Brimfield and Little Hereford Neighbourhood Development Plan together with 
the overarching principles of the National Planning Policy Framework, and the application is 
therefore recommended for approval. 

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other further 
conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers: 
 
1. C01 

 
2. C06 

 
3. CAB - Visibility Splay Required (2.4m x 56m to the Southeast and 59m to the 

Northwest) 
 

4 CAE - Access Construction Specification 
 

5. As detailed in the drainage report and plans by Spring Design dated June 2020 all 
foul water from the development shall discharge to a private foul water treatment 
system with final outfall to a mound soakaway drainage field on land under the 
applicant’s control; and all surface water will be managed through an appropriate on 
site Sustainable Drainage Scheme; unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Full details of the foul and surface water drainage scheme shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before the 
development hereby approved is first brought into use.  The approved scheme shall 
be implemented before the first occupation of any of the units hereby permitted. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory drainage arrangements are provided and 
to comply with Policies SD3 and SD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan – Core Strategy, 
BLH12 and BLH16 of the Brimfield and Little Hereford Neighbourhood Development 
Plan  and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

6. The ecological protection, mitigation, compensation and working methods scheme 
including the Biodiversity net gain enhancements, as recommended in the ecology 
report by Star Ecology dated June 2020 shall be implemented and hereafter 
maintained in full as stated unless otherwise approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. No external lighting should illuminate any boundary feature, 
adjacent habitat or area around the approved mitigation or any biodiversity net gain 
enhancement features. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced having 
regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended), Policy LD2 of the Herefordshire Core Strategy, 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and NERC Act 2006 

124



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 

7. At no time shall any external lighting except in relation to safe use of the approved 
development be installed or operated in association with the approved development 
and no permanently illuminated external lighting shall be operated at any time, 
without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. All lighting installed 
shall demonstrate compliance with latest best practice guidance relating to lighting 
and protected species-wildlife available from the Institution of Lighting 
Professionals. 
 
Reason: To ensure that all species and local intrinsically dark landscape are 
protected having regard to The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, as amended by the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU 
Exit) Regulations 2019’ (the ‘Habitats Regulations’), Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 
amended); National Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire 
Local Plan - Core Strategy policies SS1, SS6, LD1-3 
 

8. The development hereby permitted shall only be used for holiday purposes by 
tourists. No person or group of persons shall occupy the accommodation for more 
than 28 days consecutive days at a time and no same person or group of persons 
shall occupy the accommodation for more than 156 days in any one calendar year. 
The owners/operators of the site shall maintain an up-to-date register of the names 
of all occupiers of the accommodation and of their main home address (i.e. place of 
residence) and shall make this information available at all reasonable times to the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is used for the specific 
use applied for and to prevent the proliferation of uncontrolled residential uses in the 
open countryside in accordance with polices SS4, SS7, RA6, E4 and RA3 of the 
Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy, polices ……Neighbourhood Development 
Plan and the principles set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

9. CA1 – Landscape Scheme 
 

10. CA3 – Landscape Monitoring 
 

 
INFORMATIVES: 
 
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other material 
considerations, including any representations that have been received. It has 
subsequently determined to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework.   
 

2. I11 - Mud on Highway  
 

3. The Authority would advise the applicant (and their contractors) that they have a legal 
Duty of Care as regards wildlife protection. The majority of UK wildlife is subject to 
some level of legal protection through the Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981 as 
amended), with enhanced protection for special “protected species” such as all Bat 
species, Great Crested Newts, Badgers and other wildlife that are present and 
widespread across the County. All nesting birds are legally protected from 
disturbance at any time of the year. Care should be taken to plan work and at all times 
of the year undertake the necessary precautionary checks and develop relevant 

125



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

working methods prior to work commencing. If in any doubt it advised that further 
advice from a local professional ecology consultant is obtained. 
 

4. I18 – Rights of Way 
 

 
 
Decision:  ..............................................................................................................................................  
 
Notes:  ..................................................................................................................................................  
 
 ..............................................................................................................................................................  
 
Background Papers 
 
Internal departmental consultation replies. 
  

126



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr A Banks on 01432 383085 

PF2 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made. 

  

APPLICATION NO:  201962   
 
SITE ADDRESS :  HOPEFIELD COTTAGE, HAYNALL, LITTLE HEREFORD, LUDLOW, HEREFORD, SY8 
4BG 
 
Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.   Unauthorised 
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Herefordshire Council.  Licence No: 100024168/2005 

 

127




	Agenda
	 PUBLIC INFORMATION
	 GUIDE TO THE COMMITTEE
	 NOLAN PRINCIPLES
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes
	38 204133 - WHITE HOUSE FARM, WATERY LANE, HAY-ON-WYE, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR3 5TB
	39 210068 - LAND SOUTH OF COBHALL COMMON LANE, COBHALL COMMON, HEREFORD

	6 210796 - BASTION MEWS, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 2BT
	7 202566 - MUCH FAWLEY FARM, FAWLEY CHAPEL ROAD, FAWLEY, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR1 4SP
	8 201962 - HOPEFIELD COTTAGE, HAYNALL, LITTLE HEREFORD, LUDLOW, HEREFORD, SY8 4BG

